## Matrix metalloproteinase-9-mediated Syndecan-4 shedding correlates with Osteoarthritis severity

#### Dissertation

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades

#### doctor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat.)

genehmigt durch die Fakultät für Naturwissenschaften der Otto-von-Guericke-Universität Magdeburg

von M.Sc. Miriam Bollmann

geb. am 09.04.1990 in Lübbecke

Gutachter: Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Jessica Bertrand Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Susanne Grässel

eingereicht am: 23.06.2020 verteidigt am: 15.10.2020 *Ce qui embellit le désert, c'est qu'il cache un puits quelque part.* 

What makes the desert beautiful, is that somewhere it hides a well.

-Antoine de Saint-Exupéry

## Contents

1	Intr	Introduction				
	1.1	Osteoarthritis				
		1.1.1 Risk factors and prevalence				
		1.1.2 Changes in synovial tissues during knee OA 1				
		Articular cartilage				
		Synovial membrane				
		Synovial fluid				
		1.1.3 Interleukin-1 signaling in OA				
		1.1.4 OA diagnostics				
		Biomarkers for OA				
	1.2	Syndecans				
		1.2.1 Syndecan-4				
		1.2.2 Syndecan-4 in OA				
		1.2.3 Syndecan-4 and Interleukin-1				
	1.3	Syndecan-4 shedding				
		1.3.1 Shed Syndecan-4 as biomarker				
	1.4	Matrix Metalloproteinases				
		1.4.1 The gelatinases - MMP-2 and MMP-9 - in OA				
	1.5	Aim of the thesis				
2	Mat	terials and Methods				
	2.1	Materials				
		2.1.1 Reagents				
		2.1.2 Consumables				
		2.1.3 Equipment				
		2.1.4 Buffers and solutions				
		2.1.5 Primers				
		2.1.6 Antibodies				
		2.1.7 Recombinant Proteins    27				
		2.1.8 Cell lines				
2.2 Molecular biological methods		Molecular biological methods    28				
		2.2.1 RNA isolation from soft tissue and cells				
		2.2.2 RNA isolation from articular cartilage specimen				
		2.2.3 Synthesis of cDNA and Real-Time RT-PCR 29				
		2.2.4 Semiquantitative PCR 31				
		2.2.5 Agarose gel electrophoresis				
	2.3	Cell culture methods				

#### CONTENTS

		2.3.1	Cultivation of primary and C28 chondrocytes	32
		2.3.2	Isolation of human primary chondrocytes	32
		2.3.3	Cryopreservation and recovery of cells	32
		2.3.4	Cell treatment with recombinant Sdc4 protein and IL-1 $\beta$	33
		2.3.5	Chondrocyte experiments with inhibitors for MMP-2 and -9	33
		2.3.6	Knock down of MMP-9 with siRNA	34
	2.4	Protei	in biochemical methods	35
		2.4.1	Cell lysis and protein extraction	35
		2.4.2	Quantitative determination of protein concentration	35
		2.4.3	SDS-PAGE and Western blot analysis	35
		2.4.4	Stripping of membranes	37
		2.4.5	Sdc4, MMP-2 and -9 Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay	37
		2.4.6	Gelatin zymography analysis	37
	2.5	Histol	logical methods	39
		2.5.1	Paraffin sections	39
		2.5.2	Safranin-Orange/Fast Green staining	39
	2.6	Statist	tical analysis	40
2	Post	ulte		
3	<b>Res</b>	Shod (	SdcA as notential marker for $OA$ severity	41
	5.1	311	Shed Sdc4 is present in synovial fluid	41 //2
		312	Shed Sdc4 levels correlate with OA severity independently of the gender	43
		313	The level of shed Sdc4 is a possible marker for OA severity in synovial fluid	10
		0.1.0	hut not in serum	46
	3.2	MMP	-9 - a possible sheddase for Sdc4 in OA	48
	0.2	3.2.1	MMP-9, but not MMP-2, increased in synovial fluid	49
		3.2.2	Increased MMP-9 mRNA expression in OA synovial membrane	52
	3.3	MMP	-9-mediated Sdc4 shedding regulates IL-1 signaling	54
		3.3.1	Inhibitor for MMP-9, but not MMP-2, reduces Sdc4 shedding	54
		3.3.2	MMP-9 knockdown by siRNA decreases IL-1 $\beta$ induced Sdc4 shedding .	57
		3.3.3	Decreased IL-1 signaling through Sdc4 ectodomain shedding	59
4	Disc	cussion	1	
	4.1	There	is no gender specific difference in Sdc4 shedding in OA	61
	4.2	Assess	sing the state of OA progression by levels of shed Sdc4	62
	4.3	Increa	ased Sdc4 shedding by MMP-9, derived from the synovial membrane	65
	4.4	Decre	ased IL-1 signaling via MMP-9-mediated Sdc4 shedding	69
5	Con	clusio	n and outlook	
	5.1	Concl	usion and Outlook	73
A	Abb	reviati	ons	
B	List	of Figu	ires	
С	List	of Tabi	les	
5		51 140		

D Bibliography

- E Publikationen
- F Ehrenerklärung

#### Abstract

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a degenerative joint disease, characterized by the extracellular matrix (ECM) breakdown of articular cartilage, as well as by changes in the synovial membrane, subchondral bone and synovial fluid composition. The heparan sulphate proteoglycan Syndecan-4 (Sdc4) has been shown to play a crucial role in the progression of OA. In an animal model of OA, based on the destabilization of the medial meniscus (DMM), Sdc4 deficiency and antibody-mediated blocking of Sdc4 ameliorated clinical signs of OA. Interleukin-1 (IL-1) signaling is repeatedly correlated with OA pathology. It was shown that IL-1 $\beta$ , binds directly to Sdc4 and that Sdc4 regulates the IL-1 receptor type I (IL-1R1) presentation at the membrane surface and thereby modulates IL-1 signaling. Moreover Sdc4 is a target for extracellular domain shedding. Several studies show that Sdc4 shedding is crucial in physiological, as well as pathophysiological, processes. Thus, I investigated the involvement of Sdc4 shedding in the development and progression of OA.

Shed Sdc4 levels were analyzed in knee synovial fluid of OA patients using a specific ELISA. The severity of OA in the individual patients was assessed by the radiographic Kellgren-Lawrence score (KL 1-4). The levels of shed Sdc4 correlated with the KL score, and the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve presented shed Sdc4 as a suitable biomarker for discriminating early (KL 1-2) and late (KL 3-4) OA. Levels of the matrix metalloproteinases (MMP)-2 and -9 as potential sheddases, analyzed by specific ELISAs, showed an increase depending on the KL score for MMP-9, whereas levels of MMP-2 did not change. However, assessment with the ROC curve showed that MMP-9 was less suitable to discriminate between early and late OA. Further, levels of MMP-9 significantly correlated with levels of shed Sdc4, suggesting MMP-9 to be a potential sheddase for Sdc4 in OA. MMP-2 levels did not correlate with shed Sdc4 levels. Expression levels of Sdc4 and MMP-2 mRNA in articular cartilage and synovial membrane did not change depending on the KL score, whereas MMP-9 mRNA levels were upregulated with increasing KL score in the synovial membrane. MMP-9 mRNA expression in cartilage, however, did not change in context of OA severity. To elucidate the role of Sdc4 shedding in OA, Sdc4 shedding was induced in chondrocytes by 4-Aminophenylmercuric acetate (APMA), an organomercurial activator of MMPs, and IL-1 $\beta$  stimulation. The addition of an MMP-9 inhibitor reduced basal, as well as APMA- and IL-1 $\beta$ -induced, Sdc4 shedding. An inhibitor for MMP-2 did not influence Sdc4 shedding, whether basal or induced. In IL-1 $\beta$ -induced Sdc4 shedding the inhibition of MMP-9

had more prominent effects with higher concentrations of IL-1 $\beta$ . The same was apparent when MMP-9 was knocked down by siRNA. APMA-induced increase of Sdc4 shedding attenuated IL-1 signaling. The addition of the soluble ectodomain of Sdc4 had no effect on IL-1 signaling. Thereby, the possibility of shed Sdc4 being a decoy receptor for IL-1 was ruled out.

In conclusion, this study presents shed Sdc4 as a possible biomarker for knee OA severity for the first time, while MMP-9 was shown to be a sheddases in Sdc4 shedding in OA. Moreover, it is shown that IL-1 signaling can be modulated by Sdc4 shedding, displaying a possible role for the increased shedding in OA.

### Introduction

#### 1.1 Osteoarthritis

Osteoarthritis (OA) is the most common form of arthritis. It is a degenerative joint disease, whose main feature is the progressive degradation of the articular cartilage, which is also accompanied by structural changes in the synovium, synovial fluid, and subchondral bone. As all these structures are affected during OA, it is considered a "whole joint" disease. According to the World Health Organization [1], it is one of the "chronic rheumatic conditions" with the most significant impact on society and one of the most disabling diseases in developed countries.

#### 1.1.1 Risk factors and prevalence

In principle, all joints can develop OA, but most commonly the knee, hip, hands, and feet are affected. Patients suffering from OA mostly report of functional disability and pain of the affected joint. Multiple risk factors are known for OA, with the main risk factors being age, obesity, female gender, genetics joint injury, repetitive use of the joint, and traumatic injuries [2]. A study showed that the global prevalence of radiographically confirmed symptomatic knee OA was estimated to be 3.8 % in 2010. With that, the knee joint is one of the joints most commonly affected by OA [3].

#### 1.1.2 Changes in synovial tissues during knee OA

As mentioned earlier, OA pathological changes involve the whole joint. Therefore, different joint tissues contribute differently to the overall "OA knee". Fig. 1.1 schematically displays the differences between a healthy joint and its OA changes. Strongly simplified, the knee joint consists of two opposing bones, the femur and the tibia, which are covered with articular cartilage. The joint is held in place by several ligaments as with, for example, the anterior and posterior cruciate ligaments. The meniscus can be found medial as well as lateral between the articulating surfaces. In the joint space, synovial fluid works as a lubricating fluid. The joint is lined by the synovial membrane, and by the capsule. Figure 1.1 shows the main structural changes that occur during OA: bone remodeling and sclerosis, cartilage break down, meniscal damage, synovial hypertrophy, and the formation of osteophytes [4].



#### Figure 1.1: Changes in the OA knee joint

A schematically representation the different synovial joint tissues: Subchondral bone, ligaments, cartilage, synovium (synovial membrane), joint fluid (synovial fluid), capsule, meniscus (left panel). And it displays most characteristic changes of the OA knee: bone remodelling and sclerosis, cartilage breakdown, meniscal damage, synovial membrane hypertrophy, osteophytes (right panel), adapted from [4].

#### Articular cartilage

Articular cartilage is a key component of the synovial joint and extremely important for its physiological function. By building smooth and low friction surfaces it facilitates the unrestrained sliding of opposing articular surfaces.Healthy articular cartilage is 2 to 4mm thick and does not contain blood vessels, nerves or lymphatics [5]. The dense extracellular matrix (ECM) is composed mainly of collagens and proteoglycans and smaller amounts of non-collagenous proteins and glycoproteins. The high amount of proteoglycans contributes to the resilience towards mechanical loads of the cartilage. They bind water via their negatively charged glycosaminoglycans (GAG) chains, which leads to the hydration of the cartilage with elevated tissue osmolarity and generation of swelling pressure [6]. The ratio between proteoglycans and collagens in healthy cartilage is 2:1. The collagen deposition varies between the different zones in the cartilage and comprises large fibril forming and fibril-associated collagens. Collagen type II (Coll2) comprises around 90 % of all collagen in the cartilage, while type IX and XI make up 1 % and 3 % respectively [7, 8].

Chondrocytes, the only cell type in articular cartilage, are highly specialized and metabolically active. They differentiate from mesenchymal stem cells, make up around 2 % of the articular cartilage and are needed in the development, maintenance, and repair of the cartilage ECM [9]. The shape, size, and number of chondrocytes varies dependent on their location within the cartilage. Chondrocytes create their specific microenvironment, which is important for the turnover of the ECM. The adjacent pericellular matrix and the chondrocyte together form the so called chondron. Chondrocytes react to stimuli such as growth factors, mechanical loads, piezoelectric forces, and hydrostatic pressure. Due to a low replication rate they are highly limited in their capability to heal injuries in the tissue. Chondrocytes need well-balanced chemical and mechanical conditions for their survival [9, 10].

OA pathology is characterized by the progressive breakdown of the articular cartilage. In early OA, altered chondrocyte metabolism leads to an expression of ECM degrading enzymes including collagenases and aggrecanases. The breakdown of Coll2 and the proteoglycan aggrecan are thereby hallmarks in OA progression. Coll2 is mainly degraded by the collagenases Matrix Metalloproteinase (MMP)-1 and MMP-13, whereas aggrecan is a key target for members of the aggrecanases of the ADAMTS (a disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs) family and especially ADAMTS-4 and -5. The loss of aggrecan from the cartilage leads to a decreased osmotic swelling pressure and thereby to a decreased ability of the cartilage to withstand compression and mechanical loads [11, 12, 13]. Fibrillation and erosion of the cartilage surface leads to the release of ECM breakdown products such as proteoglycan and collagen fragments into the synovial fluid [14]. The impact of these fragments on the synovial tissue will be described in the following section about the synovial membrane. During the progression of OA chondrocytes undergo a phenotypic shift towards hypertrophy. The chondrocytes get hypertrophic, similar to chondrocytes in the growth plate during endochondral bone formation, which facilitate bone mineral deposition. Chondrocyte hypertrophy is one of the hallmarks of OA. Increased expression of type X collagen and MMP-13 are the main markers of chondrocyte hypertrophy [15, 16, 17]. The final step in the hypertrophic differentiation results in chondrocyte cell death. Apoptotic chondrocytes have been associated with OA and cartilage degradation [18]. Beside the described changes in articular cartilage during OA, changes in the synovial membrane also contribute to the OA pathogenesis.

#### Synovial membrane

The synovial membrane is a specialized, connective tissue that encloses diarthrodial joints. It surrounds tendons and forms a barrier between bursae and fat pads, which separates the synovial cavity and the synovial fluid from its surroundings. Further, it contributes to the composition of the synovial fluid, mainly by the production of lubricin and hyaluronic acid [19, 20]. The healthy synovial membrane consists of two layers; the outer layer (subintima) and the inner layer (intima). Under OA conditions the synovial membrane changes and is characterized by synovial lining hyperplasia, sublining fibrosis and stromal vascularization [21]. Further, an invasion of leucocytes as a reaction to the secretion of cytokines and cell adhesion molecules can be seen, as well as recruitment of immune cells such as macrophages and T cells. Mast cells, B cells, and plasma cells can be found to a lesser extent in the synovial membrane during OA [20, 22, 23, 24].

Even though OA is not considered an inflammatory disease, a high prevalence of macroscopic inflammation has been reported, suggesting that synovitis is actively involved in the pathology of OA. Further, synovitis was associated with pain and structural progression of cartilage degradation [19]. Molecules from the degraded articular cartilage, such as aggrecan fragments, are released into the synovial cavity and initiate synovial inflammation. Further, it was suggested that in early knee OA, tissue debris from a damaged meniscus as well as molecules from the subchondral bone work similarly, resulting in the activation of synoviocytes to produce pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, which attract immune cells, trigger angiogenesis and the above described phenotypic shift [25]. As these pro-inflammatory mediators cause the chondrocytes to initiate further cartilage damage, this leads to a positive feed-back loop which, in turn, initiates synovial inflammation [26]. For example, the aggrecan fragment (32-mer) is a

ligand for the Toll-like receptor 2 (TLR-2) and thereby accelerates cartilage destruction [27]. This shows that the synovial fluid is an important mediator in OA progression.

#### Synovial fluid

Synovial fluid is of clear straw color, has a viscous consistency and can be found in the joint cavity. It holds biomechanical, metabolic, and regulatory properties in the joint cavity. Biomechanically it works as a lubricant that enables a smooth movement of the joint with low friction and low wear articulation. Further, it supplies other structures in the joint, like cartilage, meniscus, and labrum with nutrients, which were e.g. secreted from the synovium into the synovial fluid [20, 28].

Synovial fluid is composed of blood plasma dialysate, so synovial fluid shares a similar protein composition with blood plasma. However, due to the permeability property of the synovium, high molecular plasma proteins are hindered to enter the joint cavity. Further, cells from the synovium as well as chondrocytes produce proteins that are secreted into the synovial fluid [20]. The primary lubricant proteins in synovial fluid are hyaluronic acid (HA) and lubricin (proteoglycan 4). HA is a non-sulfated glycosaminoglycan that can be present at different molecular weights, depending on the amount of repeated disaccharide units, but is mostly present at a high molecular weight. Lubricin is a glycoprotein that is secreted by synovial floroblasts and superficial zone chondrocytes [29, 30, 31].

Changes in composition or volume of synovial fluid can occur due to trauma, inflammation, and bacterial, fungal, or viral penetrance. Also, during joint inflammation the total protein concentration of synovial fluid is elevated as the synovium loses its ability to selectively filter and retain proteins. At the same time, HA and lubricin levels are decreased, which reduces the lubrication property of synovial fluid [32, 33]. Synovial fluid reflects changes in cartilage and synovium metabolism, as different factors are secreted from cartilage and synovial membrane. This is interesting because it gives the opportunity to investigate cartilage metabolic processes in this fluid. Therefore, several studies have investigated the composition of synovial fluid aiming to determine biomarkers that either predict OA progression or cartilage regenerative capacity [14, 34, 35]. Cartilage metabolism, for example, can be monitored by the amount of pro-collagen type II C-terminal pro-peptide (PIIICP). During maturation of Coll2 this pro-peptide needs to get cleaved off and therefore reflects Coll2 synthesis [35]. On the contrary, during cartilage breakdown the C-telopeptide fragment of collagen type-II (CTX-II)

is created, which was shown to be upregulated in OA synovial fluid [14]. Similarly, synovial fluid also reflects changes in aggrecan synthesis and degradation, as well as increased levels of proteolytic enzymes, such as MMPs [36]. Changes in the metabolism of the synovium are for example represented by the amount of the glycoprotein YKL-40 (Chitinase-3-like protein 1), which increases proteoglycan synthesis. Levels of YKL-40 was positively correlated with OA severity [37]. Taken together these publications demonstrate that the synovial fluid is a good indicator for changes in the OA joint and therefore is well suited to establish biomarkers for OA. However, until now, no biomarker has been validated to be really specific for OA progression or cartilage regeneration in large clinical trials. Therefore there is a great need to establish one or more biomarkers to detect the therapeutic value of novel drugs, or identify fast progressing OA patients [38].

#### 1.1.3 Interleukin-1 signaling in OA

Interleukin(IL)-1 is synthesized in the joint by chondrocytes, osteoblasts, synoviocytes, and mononuclear cells [22, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43]. It has been shown that different pro-inflammatory cytokines are upregulated in OA such as the tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ), IL-6, IL-15, IL-17 and IL-18 and in particular IL-1 $\beta$  [44]. Further, it has been reported that the Interleukin-1 receptor type I (IL-1R1) is upregulated in chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes during OA [45, 46]. The loss of the articular cartilage is one of the most prominent features in OA and IL-1 $\beta$  has been implicated to be a key player in this process. IL-1 $\beta$  has been shown to hamper chondrocytes in producing important ECM proteins such as Coll2 and aggrecan [47, 48]. On the other hand IL-1 $\beta$  induced the upregulation of MMPs namely MMP-1, MMP-3 and MMP-13, which are well known to be involved in cartilage degradation [49, 50, 51]. Further, IL-1 $\beta$ induced ADAMTSs (esp. ADAMTS-4 and -5) which induced cartilage degradation in a human OA model [52]. Moreover, chondrocytes stimulated with IL-1 $\beta$  seem to age faster and undergo apoptosis earlier [53, 54, 55]. IL-1 $\beta$  can induce its own expression and its secretion in an autocrine manner to initiate the production of other pro-inflammatory cytokines like TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-8, and Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 5 (CCL5) [56, 57, 58, 59]. The IL-1 signaling pathway has been proposed as a main factor in the development of OA. But the therapeutic potential of targeting IL-1 is still widely discussed. In animal studies the inhibition of IL-1 signaling had positive effects on cartilage homeostasis [60, 61, 62, 63] and reduced surgically induced OA-like structural changes in the joint. However, clinical trials with IL-1R1 antagonists

[64, 65], or inhibiting IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  with antibodies [66], failed to improve OA symptoms compared to the placebo group. Therefore, further investigation of how IL-1 signaling is regulated in OA might help to determine which subset of OA patient might benefit from this treatment.

#### 1.1.4 OA diagnostics

Multiple factors need to be taken into account in the diagnosis of OA. Movement-induced pain and functional limitations of the affected joint, as well as crepitus, bony enlargement and fixed flexion deformity, were all shown to be associated with OA. Meeting one or more risk factors, such as age over 60 years, female gender, a high body mass index or previous joint injury also increases the likelihood of developing knee OA. Imaging techniques are normally used to confirm the diagnosis based on described symptoms of the patient [67]. Radiography is the most common imaging technique in context with OA diagnosis. It can detect features such as marginal osteophytes, joint space narrowing, subchondral sclerosis, and cysts. Those are also the feature that are taken into account when scoring OA according to the Kellgren-Lawrence score. This score ranks the severity of OA from 0-4, as demonstrated in figure 1.2 where 0 (None) means the definite absence of structural changes in the joint; 1 (doubtful) refers to possible formation of osteophytes and doubtful joint space narrowing (JSN); 2 (minimal) shows definite osteophytes and possible JSN; 3 (moderate) multiple osteophytes, definite JSN, and subchondral sclerosis; 4 (severe) large osteophytes, marked JSN and severe bone sclerosis [68]. In Fig. 1.2 this scale is represented [69].



#### Figure 1.2: The Kellgren-Lawrence classification scale

(**A**)KL 1 (doubtful) refers to possible formation of osteophytes and doubtful joint space narrowing (JSN) (medial joint margins (large arrows)); (**B**) KL 2 (minimal) shows definite osteophytes and possible JSN (marginal osteophyte (arrow)); (**C**) KL 3 (moderate) multiple osteophytes, definite JSN, and subchondral sclerosis (joint space narrowing (black arrows) and marginal osteophytes (white arrows)); (**D**) KL 4 (severe) large osteophytes, marked JSN and severe bone sclerosis (bone-to-bone contact and complete obliteration of the joint space (black arrows), definite marginal osteophytes in addition (white arrows)); adapted from [69].

Recently, it has become evident that different phenotypes of OA exist [70]. Mobasheri et al. divided these phenotypes into four groups: intra-articular, extra-articular, secondary, and age-related and systemic phenotypes (see Fig. 1.3).

Even though all phenotypes share similarities in terms of cartilage degradation, differences regarding the involvement of inflammation are evident. Secondary phenotypes like the post-traumatic and crystal disease phenotype are particularly connected with inflammation [71, 72, 73]. After a traumatic injury, such as anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) or meniscal tear, inflammatory markers and biomarkers for cartilage degeneration were reported to be upregulated [74]; total MMP levels were also increased [75]. Higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines were also found in the inflammatory phenotype (IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-8, cyclooxygenase-2 (Cox-2)). Higher inflammatory markers are correlated with worse pain and decreased physical function [76]. Depending on the phenotype, different treatment options might be useful. The inflammation driven phenotype might be well treatable with anti-inflammatory medication; subtypes that belong to the extra-articular phenotype might show better responses to physiotherapy or orthotics. Therefore, different biomarkers are important to generate a better profile of the OA disease and to improve treatment.



Figure 1.3: Classification of different phenotypes in OA

Classification of different phenotypes into: secondary, intra-articular, extra-articular, and age-related and systemic phenotypes; adapted from [70].

#### **Biomarkers for OA**

Biomarkers are an important tool in medicine to diagnose patients and to make the correct treatment decisions. They can be subgrouped into diagnostic, predictive, and prognostic biomarkers. A diagnostic biomarker detects the presence of a disease or condition or identifies a subtype of a disease. A predictive biomarker, on the contrary, provides information about the possible effect of a specific treatment on the patient, while a prognostic biomarker predicts the disease progression for the specific patient, regardless of the therapy [77].

Several biomarkers for OA have been proposed in recent years. Most studies have focused on knee OA. In particular they focused on systemic inflammation and tissue related inflammation and cartilage degradation markers [71, 78]. Examples of biomarkers currently in use to evaluate efficacy of novel treatment approaches are Coll2-1 (the peptide Coll2-1 (<sup>108</sup>HRGYPGLDG<sup>116</sup>), Coll2-1NO2 (nitrated form of Coll2-1), CTX-II (C-terminal cross-linked telopeptide of type II collagen), CS-846 (chondroitin sulfate 846 epitope), COMP (cartilage oligomeric matrix protein), MMP-3, and IL-6, which are measured in serum and urine [79].

Coll2-1 and Coll2-1NO2 are markers for collagenous ECM turnover. The specific Coll2-1 epitope of Coll2 is only detectable after its degradation. Coll-2-NO2 is the nitrated form of Coll2-1 and is associated with oxidative-related Coll2 degradation. Both have been shown to be relevant biomarkers in animal models of OA and to be predictive for the progression of OA. The Coll2-1 fragment is proposed to be a robust marker for the efficacy of therapeutic interventions, but also Coll2-1 could be a potential therapeutic target [80]. CTX-II is the cross-linked C-terminal telopeptide of Coll2, which is a byproduct of the breakdown of Coll2. CTX-II has been suggested to be a urinary biomarker and has been shown to elevate in patients with knee OA compared to healthy people. While differences in the levels of CTX-II in urine were found between early OA (KL 2) and late OA (KL 3 and 4), these changes were not statistically significant [81, 82].

Moreover, the cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP) has been shown to be elevated in synovial fluid as well as serum from OA patients in comparison to the healthy control group [83], but further validation has yet to be done. In a post-traumatic model of OA in rats, COMP in combination with CS846, a CS synthetic marker and byproduct of proteoglycan metabolism, has been reported as a suitable biomarker for knee OA [84]. Both markers were upregulated 10 weeks after surgery and also correlated with observed OARSI score, which is a histological score for cartilage degradation [85].

Most proposed biomarkers in the literature represent the destruction of cartilage, which might be a good marker for the cartilage OA phenotype, but may be less sensitive for other phenotypes. In order to identify new potential biomarkers the pathogenesis of OA needs to be fully understood. For example, Syndecan-4 was shown to be crucial in the development of OA [86]. Therefore, in the next chapter I will focus on the involvement of this proteoglycan in OA progression.

#### 1.2 Syndecans

Syndecans (Sdcs) were first described in the 1980s. Particularly close attention was paid to this protein family by the lab of Merton Bernfield. Sdcs were initially described as heparan sulfate-rich proteoglycans, which they found on the surface of mouse mammary epithelial cells. It was seen that these proteoglycans can bind to collagen I, and thereby link the cell to the ECM [87]. Sdcs owe their name to this early observation. As it was believed that linking the cytoskeleton of the cells to the ECM was the primary function of this proteoglycan, it was named after the Greek word 'syndein', which means 'to bind together' [88]. Nowadays it is know that Sdcs are a family of type I transmembrane heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs), which include four members in mammals (Sdc1, Sdc2, Sdc3 and Sdc4) (see Fig. 1.4). In general proteoglycans are made of a core protein to which glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) are covalently bound. These GAGs are linear chains of repeating disaccharides. Proteoglycans can be sub-grouped by the predominant type of GAG chains bound to the core protein, as with chondroitin sulfate, keratan sulfate, dermatan sulfate or, as mentioned in the case of syndecans, heparan sulfate. In addition to the heparan sulfate chains, Sdc1 and Sdc3 also exhibit chondroitin sulfate chains proximal to the cell membrane [89, 90]. The four Sdcs have a homology of 60-70% in the amino acid sequence. However, in contrast to the rest of the protein the ectodomain has only little resemblance among the four family members [91]. The transmembrane domain includes a GXXXG motif, which is believed to be responsible for the capability of the syndecans to form strong SDS-resistant dimers [92]. The cytoplasmic domain is highly preserved and consists of two conserved regions (C1 and C2), which flank a variable region (V). C1 is located proximal to the membrane and presents a 90% homology among all Sdcs, while C2 is even higher conserved (100% homology). As the name suggests, the V region has only a small homology (15%) among the Sdcs, while the V region of Sdc1 and Sdc3 as well as Sdc2 and Sdc4 exhibit more resemblance respectively, which, in addition to the similarities in GAG chains, leads to the assumption that Sdc1 and Sdc3 as well as Sdc2 and Sdc4 are more closely related [91, 93]. Although Sdcs have different tissue-specific and developmentally regulated expression patterns [94], it has been seen that Sdcs can compensate for each other to a certain amount, but to what extent and how this functions is still not very well understood [95, 96].



#### Figure 1.4: The members and structure of the Syndecan family

Representing the four members of the Syndecan familiy (Sdc1, Sdc2, Sdc3, and Sdc4). The extracellular domain is displayed in green, to which HS and CS chains are connected. In blue the juxtamembranous shedding region is depicted. The yellow oval displays the transmembrane region, embedded in the cell membrane. The intracellular domain is separated in the two conserved regions (C1 and C2) that flank the variable region; adapted and modified from [89].

#### 1.2.1 Syndecan-4

Sdc4 signaling is involved in many processes. It is known that Sdc4 is involved in various physiological processes such as angiogenesis [97], blood pressure regulation [98], and wound healing [99]. Sdc4 mediates these different processes by various interactions. On the one hand, Sdc4 can interact with different extracellular factors by binding them to the heparan sulfate (HS)-side chains. Through the binding of growth factors or other ECM molecules to the heparan sulfate chains, Sdc4 can generate variable spatial distributions of these factors [100]. Upon ligand binding (e.g. growth factors), Sdc4 forms dimers or even higher oligomers [101, 102]. The dimerization was shown to be essential for Sdc4 dependent signal transduction [103, 104]. Further, Sdc4 contributes to the stabilization of the interaction between growth factors and their cell receptors [105]. It also forms a direct link between the ECM and intra-

cellular proteins, such as fibronectin and the actin-associated protein  $\alpha$ -actin [106]. On the other hand, Sdc4 itself can initiate intracellular signaling cascades or recruit proteins like the dyoplamsic signaling protein syndesmos or PKC $\alpha$  (Protein kinase C  $\alpha$ ) to the site of focal adhesion [107, 108]. These proteins can in turn initiate further intracellular signaling. Another important function of Sdc4 is the mediation of receptor recycling, such as integrin. The direct phosphorylation of Sdc4 by the c-Scr functions as a molecular switch, which regulated in further steps, depending on RhoG (Ras homology Growth-related) and caveolin, whether  $\alpha$ 5beta1 or  $\alpha$ 5 $\beta$ 3 integrins are recycled to the membrane [109, 110]. Similarly the recycling of IL-1R1 was also shown to be dependent of Sdc4 [111]. Since IL-1 $\beta$  is a key cytokine in OA, the connection between Sdc4 and OA is highly interesting.

#### 1.2.2 Syndecan-4 in OA

The expression of Sdc4 was repeatedly correlated with OA pathology. It was shown that the amount of Sdc4 positive cells increased in humans with OA severity, as well as in exercised induced OA in rats and surgically induced OA in mice [86]. The group of Risbud studied the connection of IL-1 and Sdc4 in the intervertebral disc. They could show in nucleus pulposus cells that IL-1 $\beta$  induced Sdc4 expression in a NF- $\kappa$ B dependent manner. They confirmed that Sdc4 is required for ADAMTS-5 activation [112]. Further they showed that, again in nucleus pulpous cells, IL-1 $\beta$  induces MMP-3 via the Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) extracellular kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2) and NF- $\kappa$ B pathways, and that the IL-1 $\beta$  induced MMP-3 expression requires Sdc4 [113]. It was shown that the Sdc4 promotor in cardiomyocytes and cardiac fibroblasts contains a functional NF- $\kappa$ B site and consequently IL-1 $\beta$  induced Sdc4 transcription [114]. A study by Bertrand et al. showed Sdc4 promoter activity at all stages of chondrocytes differentiation, while the deficiency of Sdc4 reduced chondrocyte proliferation [96]. Damaged OA cartilage exhibited more Sdc4 on mRNA level than normal looking cartilage [115]. Also Sdc4 mRNA was increased in hypertrophic chondrocytes compared to non-hypertrophic ones. Interestingly, this was only seen in chondrocytes obtained from the knee, but not in chondrocytes originating from the hip, indicating that the role of Sdc4 in OA might be joint specific. Besides the expression and protein content of Sdc4 being upregulated in knee OA [116], Sdc4 was shown to be involved in several pathways that are involved in OA development. One of these pathways is Wnt signaling, which has been correlated with OA progression [117]. Sdc4 was shown to regulate IL-1 $\beta$  induced phosphorylation of ERK1/2 in reaction to Wnt-3a

stimulation [118]. The prominent study that proves the involvement of Sdc4 in OA onset was conducted by Echtermeyer et al. Sdc4-deficient mice were protected from the proteoglycan loss in cartilage associated with surgically induced OA and showed decrease levels aggrecan neoepitopes. Similar effects were obtained when using a specific antibody to block Sdc4 in mice with surgically induced OA. Further, Sdc4 deficient mice showed less MMP-3 expression on mRNA levels as well as protein level and reduces IL-1 signaling and aggrecanase activity after IL-1 $\beta$  stimulation. Additionally, Sdc4 was shown to regulate the activation of ADAMTS5 through MMP-3 expression [86]. Therefore studying the interaction of Sdc4 and IL-1 in OA is of high interest.

#### 1.2.3 Syndecan-4 and Interleukin-1

Sdc4 has frequently been shown to be upregulated in different cell types upon IL-1 $\beta$  stimulation in a dose dependent manner [114, 119, 120]. In a TNF-overexpresssing RA mice model, it was shown that deficiency of IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  resulted in less proteoglycan loss in those mice compared to WT mice. The same results were obtained in Sdc4 deficient mice, indicating a correlation between IL-1 and Sdc4, especially in cartilage destruction [121]. However, Sdc4 has not only been shown to be upregulated by pro-inflammatory cytokines, but has been proposed to be actively involved in IL-1 $\beta$  signaling. Godmann et al. showed that IL-1 $\beta$  can directly bind to the heparan sulfate chains of Sdc4, which induced the dimerization of Sdc4 independently of the presence of the IL-1R1. Upon dimerization Sdc4 regulates sensitivity towards IL-1 $\beta$ by regulating the caveolin vesicle-mediated trafficking of the IL-1R1. Upon binding of IL-1 $\beta$ to its receptor IL-1R1, ERK1/2 is activated, which is characterized by the phosphorylation of ERK. The studies by Echtermeyer et al. and Godmann et al. showed that Sdc4 deficiency leads to a reduced phosphorylation of ERK (p-ERK) and thereby less IL-1 signaling [86, 111]. As reduced responsiveness towards IL-1 signaling is obtained by the deficiency of Sdc4, as well the blocking of Sdc4 dimerization through specific antibodies [111], the question emerged whether the shedding of Sdc4 has a similar effect. Further, stimulation with IL-1 $\beta$  was reported to lead to an increased amount of Sdc4 shedding [120].

#### 1.3 Syndecan-4 shedding

The shedding of Sdcs occurs constitutively to a small degree, but increases especially under pathological conditions such as inflammation [94, 122]. There are different functions proposed for this mechanism. It has been shown that the soluble form of the syndecan ectodomain is still intact and therefore able of binding growth factors, chemokines and cytokines [123, 124]. Thus, it was proposed that soluble syndecans might work as paracrine or autocrine effectors [100]. Further, it was also described that shed Sdcs work as an agonist [125] or create a morphogen gradient [126]. The shedding of Sdcs is a protease-dependent cleavage by socalled sheddases, which cleave syndecans at a sheddase-specific shedding site. Sdc4 shedding was shown to be induced by different stimuli such as mechanical strain [126, 127] as well as insulin [128] or inflammatory cytokines [120, 129]. In a cell free experimental setup, where a Sdc4 fusion protein was incubated with different MMPs, shedding sites were identified for MMP-2 (K105, Y37, R36, D31), MMP-9 (K105), and MMP-14 (N139, S130, D31), as well as plasmin (K128) and thrombin (K114, R36) [130], represented in Fig. 1.5. A study by Schmidt et al. also found shedding sites for plasmin (K114, K129) and thrombin (K114) [131]. Shedding of Sdc4 has been shown in various diseases and cell types. For example, shed Sdc4 has been proposed to be involved in promoting immune cell recruitment, ECM remodeling and reducing cardiac dysfunction triggered in mice, which were challenged with LPS [132]. This study suggested MMP-9, ADAMTS1, and ADAMTS4 to be possible sheddases as they were upregulated in parallel with Sdc4 shedding, whereas MMP-2 expression was downregulated. In an experimental setup, where Sdc4 shedding was induced by processed eggshell membrane powder (PEP), MMP-2 has been suggested as possible sheddase, as its activity and expression after PEP incubation was in increased, while MMP-9 and MMP-14 were less regulated. PEP is used in wound healing products and possesses anti-inflammatory capacities, which suggests Sdc4 shedding to be important in wound healing [133]. This is in line with the findings that Sdc4 -/- mice have impaired wound healing [99].



#### Figure 1.5: Reported shedding sites in Sdc4

Shedding sites in the extracellular domain of Sdc4 for MMP-2 (K105, Y37, R36, D31), MMP-9 (K105), MMP-14 (N139, S130, D31), plasmin (K128), and thrombin (K104) have been established in an *in vitro* experimental setup [130]. Adapted and modified from [91]

Moreover, Sdc4 shedding from glomerular endothelial cells was suggested to be responsible for glycocalyx dysfunction in diabetes. In this study Sdc4 shedding was attenuated with an MMP inhibitor specific for MMP-2 and MMP-9. Even though MMP-14 was shown to be increased on an mRNA level similar to MMP-2 and MMP-9, its influence on Sdc4 shedding was not further investigated [134]. Interestingly, these sheddases were also reported to be involved in OA pathology and are discussed later on in the study. In airway smooth muscle cells of asthma patients, Sdc4 shedding was shown to be increased through cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF $\alpha$ . Even though Sdc4 has been studied in the context of OA and has been proven to be important in OA development, the shedding of Sdc4 has been hardly looked at. One very recent study by Sanchez et al. showed that shedding in hypertrophic chondrocytes *in vitro* was increased Sdc4 expression. Further, this increase in Sdc4 expression was only observed in OA knee chondrocytes, but not for chondrocytes obtained from hip or shoulder OA cartilage [116].

#### 1.3.1 Shed Syndecan-4 as biomarker

As Sdc shedding has been shown to be upregulated under certain pathological conditions, as for example inflammation or cancer, soluble forms of the Sdcs have been detected in different fluids and tissues such as blood (plasma and serum), bronchoalveolar lavage fluids, subrenital fluid, vitreous fluid, and pleural effusions. [91]. Shed Sdc4 so far has only been reported as a biomarker in serum and urine samples. Especially in the context of pneumonia, shed Sdc4 was proposed as a biomarker. In acute bacterial pneumonia an upregulation with disease progression was seen [135], while in idiopathic intestinal pneumonia, patients with higher baseline levels of shed Sdc4 had a worse prognosis [136]. In severe community acquired pneumonia serum, Sdc4 levels below 6.68 ng/mL prognosticated a higher mortality [137]. Moreover, shed Sdc4 was connected to heart failure and adverse left ventricular remodeling. In patients with hypertension serum, Sdc4 levels above 2.3 ng/mL was a predictor for heart failure [138]. Patients with cardiomyopathy showed a positive correlation between Sdc4 levels and adverse left ventricular remodeling [139, 140]. In atopic dermatitis shed Sdc4 levels were increased compared to the control group and also correlated with disease severity [141]. Serum Sdc4 levels in patients undergoing haemodialisis correlated with echocardiographic parameters that predict cardiovascular mortality [142]. Another study showed that, amongst others, post-transplant levels of Sdc4 in urine might be a possible biomarker for ubulointerstitial inflammation and interstitial fibrosis/tubular atrophy (IFTA) in kidney allografts [143]. These studies showed that shed Sdc4 can serve as a disease-specific serum marker in patients with different diseases. Chondrocytes were shown to shed Sdc4 and hypertrophic chondrocytes displayed increased Sdc4 expression on mRNA and protein level [116, 144]. Therefore, shed Sdc4 in synovial fluid might also be a possible biomarker for OA.

#### **1.4 Matrix Metalloproteinases**

MMPs comprise a family of 23 zinc-dependent endoproteases. They belong to the metzincis superfamiliy of proteases. MMPs are normally involved in physiological processes such as cell apotosis, embryogenesis, immune response, morphogenesis, tissue remodeling, tooth enamel formation, reproduction and menstruation, wound healing, angiogenesis, and axonal growth [145]. Many diseases are based on the dysregulation of these processes such as arthritis, nephritis, cancer, encephalomyelitis, chronic ulcers, and fibrosis. [146, 147, 148]. They are synthesized as pre-proenzymes and during translation the signal peptide is removed, resulting in an inactive MMP form. These inactive proMMPs are further activated by cleaving of the properide by tissue and plasma proteinases [149]. It has also been shown that MMPs can be activated by different chemical compounds such as mercurial compounds, SH-reagents include sulfanyl group, and chaotropic agents. 4-Aminophenylmercuric acetate (APMA) is an organomercurial activator of MMPs. It chemically disrupts the bond of a conserved cysteine residues in the propeptide with the zinc atom located at the active site of the catalytic domain. Moreover, it was reported to interact with the protein and additionally disrupts salt bridges within the protein [150]. APMA can activate several MMPs, which also includes MMP-2 and -9 [149, 151]. MMPs can be divided into subgroups base on their favored substrate; collganesases, gelatinases, stromelysins, matrilysin, membrane-type-MMPs, and other non-classified MMPs. In healthy articular cartilage MMP-1, -2, -3, -8, -9, -13, -14 are expressed. Of those, the collagenases (MMP-1, -8, and -13) degrade the interstitial collagens (type I, II and III). MMP-13 is described as a major catabolic factor in OA, as it effectively cleaves collagen type II, the main collagen in healthy cartilage. Stromelysins (MMP-3) target non-collagen matrix proteins. High levels of MMP-3 were reported in OA, therefore MMP-3 has previously been proposed as a marker for OA [152]. MMP-3 can degrade a broad range of matrix molecules, such as collagens type II, III, IV, IX and X, as well as fibronectin, laminin, elastin, and several proteoglycans [153]. Further, MMP-3 was shown to be involved in the activation of ADAMTS-5, a major enzyme in aggrecan degradation [86, 154]. MMP-14 is bound to the membrane by a transmembrane domain [155] and has been shown to be able to degrade aggrecan. Further, MMP14 is upregulated in OA [156, 157] and has been shown to activate, MMP-2 [158] and MMP-9 [159, 160], for example.

#### 1.4.1 The gelatinases - MMP-2 and MMP-9 - in OA

Both gelatinases have been associated with OA. MMP-2 has a variety of substrates such as collagen type I, IV, V, VII, and X, laminin, elastin, fibronectin, and proteoglycans. It has been reported that normal phenotype chondrocytes produce MMP-2 constitutively, leading to the assumption, that MMP-2 is responsible for normal cartilage homeostasis [161, 162, 163, 164]. MMP-9, is hardly expressed by normal phenotype chondrocytes, giving reason to the presumption that MMP-9 is not necessary for normal cartilage turnover [165]. The expression of MMP-9 can be stimulated by growth factors, chemokines, and other signals [166]. Native collagen type IV, V, VII, and X, elastin and fragments of collagen type I, II, and III have been reported to be substrates of MMP-9 [167]. Further, Kimm et al. showed that MMP-9 is involved in the activation of MMP-13, which is a major collagenase in OA [168]. A study by Dreier et al. presented pro-MMP-9 as a specific macrophage product, that is activated by OA chondrocytes through MMP-3 or a MMP-14/MMP-13 cascade [159]. Even though MMP-2 and -9 are both in general connected to OA pathology, previous published research showed very contradictory results in for the regulation of their expression. MMP-9 was reported to be upregulated in the plasma, serum and on mRNA level in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of OA patients, in comparison the healthy individuals [126, 169], while other serum samples for MMP-9 showed no differences between OA patients and healthy individuals. MMPimmunostaining for MMP-2 and MMP-9 showed higher frequency and distribution of positive chondrocytes in OA cartilage compared to normal cartilage [144]. MMP-9 was reported to be not present in OA effusions, while MMP-2 was shown to be mainly present in an inactive form in OA effusions [170, 171]. In synovial fluid of OA patients MMP-9 was seen to be increased in comparison to healthy controls (patients with non-inflammatory, nonhemorrhagic traumatic sports related injuries) [172], while Rübenhagen et al. saw no upregulation of MMP-9 in OA patients compared the control group (cruciate ligament, meniscal reconstructive surgery patients without OA-like changes). They also saw no difference between synovial fluid from patients with OA KL1-2 vs. 3-4 [173]. Furthermore, MMP-9 was also shown to be decreased in synovial fluid of OA patients with KL 4 in comparison to KL 2 and KL 3. MMP-2 levels did not change in serum. MMP-2 in synovial fluid was, however, reported to be increased in OA patients compared to normal (traffic casualties) synovial fluid. Another study showed no differences in synovial fluid of OA patients to a control group (cruciate ligament, meniscal

reconstructive surgery patients without OA-like changes) and also no changes between OA patients with KL 1-2 vs. KL 3-4. [173]. These contradictory results could be explained by the different detection techniques (e.g. zympograhy vs. ELISA) for MMP-2 and the different sources of samples. Interestingly, cultured chondrocytes increase expression of MMP-9 upon IL-1 $\beta$  stimulation, which was inhibited by NF- $\kappa$ B65 specific siRNA [174]. As described before, IL-1 $\beta$  is a key cytokine in OA MMP-2 and -9 could act as possible sheddases for Sdc4 in OA pathology.

#### 1.5 Aim of the thesis

The aim of this thesis was to investigate whether shed Sdc4 is a promising biomarker for OA progression. Furthermore, I aimed to elucidate the regulation and function of Sdc4 shedding in OA. In order to understand Sdc4 shedding in the context of the OA I focused on knee OA and investigated synovial fluid, serum, articular cartilage, and synovial membrane from patients that underwent total knee arthroplasty.

The specific questions that were answered during this thesis are:

- Is there a correlation between Sdc4 shedding and knee OA severity and could shed Sdc4 serve as a biomarker for OA?
- What is the source of the shed Sdc4 in synovial fluid and what are the potential sheddases?
- What is the relevant sheddase for Sdc4 in OA, and what function does the shedding have on chondrocyte signal transduction?

# **2** Materials and Methods

#### 2.1 Materials

#### 2.1.1 Reagents

All chemicals that were used during experiments were obtained from these main companies: AppliChem (Darmstadt), Merk (Darmstadt), Sigma Aldrich (München), Roche (Mannheim) and Roth (Karlsruhe). If reagents were used that were obtained from another company it will be stated.

#### 2.1.2 Consumables

Laboratory consumables for cell culture, including flasks, plates and cell scrapers were obtained from Greiner (Frickenhausen). 15 and 50 mL tubes as well as disposable pipettes of various volumes were retrieved from BD Biosciences (Heidelberg). Small tubes, specifically 0.2, 1 and 2 mL, were obtained from Eppendorf (Hamburg). Sterile filters were ordered from Sartorius (Göttingen), while pipette tips (10, 200, 1000 and 5000  $\mu$ L) were purchased from Sarstedt (Nürnbrecht).

#### 2.1.3 Equipment

All equipment used to conduct the experiments are listed below (see Table 2.1).

Equipment	Manufacturer
Agarose gel imager Infinity-1000/26M	PeqLab, Erlangen, Germany
Biological Safety Cabinets S2020 1.5	Thermo Scientific, Waltham, USA
Biological Safety Cabinets KS 18	Thermo Scientific,Waltham, USA
Binder CO <sub>2</sub> incubator	Binder Labortechnik GmbH, Herbertshaus, Germany
Centrifuge Mikro 200R	Hettich, Tuttlingen, Germany
Centrifuge Heraeus, Fresco 17	Thermo Scientific , Waltham, USA
Centrifuge Heraeus, Fresco 17	Thermo Scientific ,Waltham, USA
Centrifuge Heraeus, Megafuge 16R	Thermo Scientific , Waltham, USA
ChemieDoc MP Imaging Systems	Bio-Rad Laboratories,Herculas, USA
Embedding Center Shandon HistoCentre 2	GMI, Ramsey, Minnesota, USA
Inverse microscope Axio Observer.Z1	Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany
Inverse microscope BX51	Olympus, Hamburg, Germany
Inverse microscope Eclipse TS100	Nikon, Alzenau, Germany
Horizontal Electrophoresis Systems	Bio-Rad Laboratories, Herculas, USA
Micro scale AW-224	Sartorius, Göttingen, Germany
Microplate reader Infinite F200 Pro	Tecan, Männedorf, Switzerland
Microtome Hyrax M55	Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany
QuantStudio 6 Flex	Applied Biosystems, Foster City, USA
Perfect Spin Plate Spinner C1000-PEQ-230EU	PeqLab, Erlangen, Germany
Platform rocker SSL4	Stuart, Staffordshire, UK
Homogenisator, Precellys $^{igodet{R}}$ 24	Bertin, Montingy-le-Bretonneux, France
Real-Time PCR Detection System	Applied Biosystems, Foster City, USA
ABI PRISM 7900HT and 7500	
Roll-Mixer RM 5.40	Hecht Assistant, Sondheim
Roll mixer RS-TR05	Phoenix Instrument
Rotor Fa-45-30-11	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany
Rotor F-35-6-30	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany
Scale ALC-810.2	Sartorius, Göttingen, Germany
Scale Kern EWB 620-2M	Sartorius, Göttingen, Germany
Scale A 120 S	Sartorius, Göttingen, Germany
Shaking Incubator Thermo Mixer C	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany
Standard Power Pack P25	Biometra, Göttingen, Germany

#### Table 2.1: Equipment

Equipment	Manufacturer
Tissue processor TP1020	Leica Biosystems, Nussloch, Germany
Tube Revolver/Rotator	Thermo Scientific, Waltham, USA
T100 Thermal Cycler for PCR	Bio-Rad Laboratories, Herculas, USA
Thermocycler iCycler thermal cycler	Bio-Rad Laboratories, Herculas, USA
Thermal shaker Thermomixer compact	Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany
Vortex Genie 2 Mixer	Bohemia, USA
Western blot (SDS-PAGE) and equipment	Bio-Rad Laboratories, Herculas, USA
Tank blot system inclusive	

#### 2.1.4 Buffers and solutions

Buffers or solutions used to conduct the experiments are listed below (see Table 2.2).

Buffer or solution	Composition	Manufacturer
1 % acetic acid	1 % acetic acid in water	Roth, Karlsruhe
Blocking solution	5 % BSA in 1x TBS	AppliChem, Darmstadt
Blotting buffer	48 mM Tris base	Roth, Karlsruhe
	39 mM Glycine	Roth, Karlsruhe
	0.1 % SDS	Roth, Karlsruhe
	20 % Ethanol	Roth, Karlsruhe
Comassie Blue	0.5 % (w/v) Coomassie Blue	Sigma Aldrich, München
	50 % (v/v) Methanol	Roth, Karlsruhe
	7 % (v/v) acetic acid	Roth, Karlsruhe
	42.5 % (v/v) distilled water	
Collagenase IV solution	1 mg/mL Collagenase IV	AppliChem, Darmstadt
	in chondrocyte culture medium	
1x Electrophoresis Buffer	25 mM Tris base	Roth, Karlsruhe
	192 mM Glycine	Roth, Karlsruhe
	0.1 % (w/v) SDS	Roth, Karlsruhe
	2.5 % Glycerol	Roth, Karlsruhe
NP-40 lysis buffer	50 mM Tris (pH 8)	Roth, Karlsruhe
	150 mM NaCl	Roth, Karlsruhe
	1% (v/v) NP-40	Sigma Aldrich, München

#### Table 2.2: Buffers and solutions

Buffer or solution	Composition	Manufacturer
1 x PBS	ready to use (#D8537)	Sigma Aldrich, München
Pronase solution	1 mg/mL Pronase	Sigma Aldrich, München
	DMEM (ready to use #D5796)	Sigma Aldrich, München
2 % Safranin-Orange solu-	2% (w/v) Safranin-Orange in	ApplChem, Darmstadt
tion	water	
5 x SDS-PAGE	5 % (v/v) $\beta$ -Mercaptoethanol	Roth, Karlsruhe
sample buffer	0.02 % (w/v) Bromophenol blue	AppliChem, Darmstadt
	30 % (v/v) Glycerol	Roth, Karlsruhe
	10 % (w/v) SDS	Roth, Karlsruhe
	250 mM Tris/HCl, pH 6.8	Roth, Karlsruhe
Stripping buffer	62.5 mM Tris/HCl, pH 6.7	Roth, Karlsruhe
	100 mM $\beta$ -Mercaptoethanol	Roth, Karlsruhe
	2 % (w/v) SDS	Roth, Karlsruhe
1 x TAE Buffer	40 mM Tris base	Roth, Karlsruhe
	17.5 % (v/v)Acetic acid	Roth, Karlsruhe
	50 mM EDTA pH 8.6	Roth, Karlsruhe
1 x TBS buffer	1% (v/v) $20x$ TAE (ready to use	Santa Cruz, Dallas, USA
	#sc-362305)	
	49 % (v/v) distilled water	
1 x TBS-T	0.1 % (v/v) Tween 20	AppliChem, Darmstadt
	99.9 % (v/v) 1 x TBS	
Zymography	50mM Tris-base pH 7	Roth, Karlsruhe
Developing buffer	0.2 M NaCl	AppliChem, Darmstadt
	5 mM CaCl <sub>2</sub>	Sigma Aldrich, München
	0.02 % (v/v) NP-40	Sigma Aldrich, München
	$1 \mu\mathrm{MZnCl}_2$	Sigma Aldrich, München
Zymography	50 %(v/v) methanol	Roth, Karlsruhe
Destaining solution	10 % (v/v) acetic acid	Roth Karlsruhe
	40% (v/v) distilled water	
Zymography	2.5 % (v/v) Triton-X100	Roth, Karlsruhe
Wash buffer	97.5 % (v/v) distilled water	

#### 2.1.5 Primers

All primers used in this study were obtained dissolved at a concentration of 100  $\mu$ M from Metabion (Martinsried) and are listed below (see Table 2.3).

Gene	product length		sequence (5'-3')
Sdc4	203 bp	forward	ATT CGA GAC ACA GAG GTC ATC G
		reverse	TGG TTA TCC AGT GGC ACC AAG
MMP-2	102 bp	forward	TCA CTC CTG AGA TCT GCA AAC AG
		reverse	TCA CAG TCC GCC AAA TGA AC
MMP-9.1	68 bp	forward	AGA CGC CCA TTT CGA CGA TGA C
		reverse	CAA ACC GAG TTG GAA CCA CGA C
MMP-9.2	273 bp	forward	GTA CTC GAC CTG TAC CAG CG
		reverse	TCA GGG CGA GGA CCA TAG AG
GAPDH	90 bp	forward	CCC ACT CCT CCA CCT TTG AC
		reverse	AGC CAA ATT CGT TGT CAT ACC AG

Table 2.3: Human primers used for Real-Time RT-PCR

#### 2.1.6 Antibodies

All primary antibodies for western blot analysis can be found in table 2.4 and all secondary antibodies in table 2.5. All antibodies were diluted in TBS-T containing 5 % BSA.

Antibody	IgG	MW [kDa]	Dilution	Manufacturer
Phospho-p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2)	rabbit	42, 44	1:1000	Cell signaling #9101
p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2)	rabbit	42, 44	1:1000	Cell signaling #9102
GAPDH	rabbit	37	1:1000	Cell signaling #2118
Sdc4 intracellular	rabbit	22	1:100	Biovision #3644
Sdc4 extracellular	mouse	24	1:100	Santa cruz #sc-12766

Table 2.4: Primary antibodies for western blot

Table 2.5: Secondary antibodies

Antibody	Reporter	Analysis	Dilution	Manufacturer
Rabbit IgG	HRP	WB	1:10000	Santa Cruz #sc-2030
Mouse IgG	HRP	WB	1:10000	Santa Cruz#sc-2005

#### 2.1.7 Recombinant Proteins

All recombinant proteins that were used in this study are listed in table 2.6.

Protein	Manufacturer	Number	
human IL-1 $\beta$	R&D Systems	201-LB	
human Sdc4	R&D Systems	2918-SD-050	

Table 2.6: Recombinant Proteins

#### 2.1.8 Cell lines

**C28 chondrocytes** The C28/I2, in short C28, is an immortalized chondrocyte cell line which is commonly used to study chondrocyte cell behaviour under normal and pathological conditions. C28 cells are a clonal line, which were immortalized by using retroviral vetor-mediated simian virus SV40 large T antigen (Tag) expression of the nonclonal T/C-28a4 cells.

#### 2.2 Molecular biological methods

#### 2.2.1 RNA isolation from soft tissue and cells

Total RNA was isolated using  $OIAzol^{(R)}$  Lysis Reagent. Soft tissue was disrupted using a Precellys<sup>®</sup> 24 homogeniser (Bertin, Montingy-le-Bretonneux, France). Therefore, 1 mL of QIAzol<sup> $\mathbb{R}$ </sup> Lysis Reagent and a piece of the soft tissue was put into a Precellys Lysing Kit (P000918-LYSK0-A, Bertin, Montingy-le-Bretonneux, France) tube and incubated for 2 x 20 s at 6,500 Hz. This was repeated once, in between the steps the samples were kept on ice. The supernatant was transferred into a new 1.5 mL tube. Cells were disrupted by simply incubating them in QIAzol<sup>®</sup> Lysis Reagent for 5 min at room temperature and then repeatedly pipetting the solution up and down. Again the supernatant was transferred into a new 1.5 mL tube. Resulting supernantant was centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 10 min to remove cell debris, extracellular matrix and other impurities. Per 1 mL QIAzol<sup>®</sup> Lysis Reagent 200  $\mu$ L chloroform were added to the supernatant and vigorously mixed. After the samples rested for 15 min on ice the aqueous and the organic phases were separated by centrifuging for 15 min at 12,000 g and 4 °C. The aqueous phase was taken off and transferred into a new 1.5 mL tube. Then the aqueous phase was mixed with the same amount of ice-cold isopropanol. The solution was mixed well on the vortexer and incubated on ice for 20 min to allow the RNA to precipitate. In order to pellet the RNA, the solution was centrifuged for 40 min at 20,000 g at 4 °C. Afterwards the supernatant was aspirated, the pellet was washed with 1 mL of 70% ethanol and again centrifuged at 4 °C and 20,000 g for 10 min. After the washing step, the ethanol was carefully removed and the RNA pellet was dried at room temperature for approximately 15 min. When dry, the RNA was resuspended in RNase free water. Finally, RNA content as well as quality was determined by measuring the absorbance at 260 and 280 nm using the Tecan Infinite $^{ extsf{R}}$  Pro 200 spectrophotometer (Tecan, Männedorf, Switzerland).

#### 2.2.2 RNA isolation from articular cartilage specimen

Articular cartilage was crushed under liquid nitrogen with pestle and mortar. The resulting powder was given into a 1.5 mL tube and covered with 1 mL of  $QIAzol^{(R)}$  Lysis Reagent. To disrupt the cells the mixture was incubated rotating for at least 24 h at 4 °C. Due to the high amount of ECM the quality of RNA from articular cartilage using the  $QIAzol^{(R)}$  Lysis Reagent

method as described above was insufficient for Real-Time RT-PCR. Therefore the isolation was performed as described in the previous section until the separation of the organic and the aqueous phase. But subsequently RNA was extracted from the aqueous phase using the RNeasy <sup>(R)</sup> Plus Micro Kit (QIAGEN, Hilden). Therefore the aqueous phase was mixed with an equal amount of 70 % ethanol and was loaded onto the supplied column. Further the column was washed with 350  $\mu$ L of the buffer RW1 and centrifuge for 15 s at 8,000 g. Then the column was washed with 500  $\mu$ L Buffer RPE and centrifuged as described before. A last washing step was done by adding 500  $\mu$ L of 80 % ethanol to the column and centrifuge it at 8,000 g for 2 min. To erase all residual fluid the column was centrifuged at full speed with open lid for 5 min. The RNA was eluted by adding 14  $\mu$ L of RNase free water to the column and centrifuging at full speed for 1 min. Again RNA content as well as quality was determined by measuring the absorbance at 260 and 280 nm using the Tecan spectrophotometer.

#### 2.2.3 Synthesis of cDNA and Real-Time RT-PCR

For the synthesis of cDNA from the extracted total RNA the High capacity cDNA reverse transcription kit was used (Thermo Scientific, Langenselbold). 500  $\mu$ g of RNA in 10  $\mu$ L RNase free water was mixed with 10  $\mu$ L reaction mix (Table 2.7) and the reverse transcription (RT) was performed using the following protocol (Table 2.8).

RT Buffer	$2.0\mu L$
25x dNTPS (100 mM each)	$0.8\mu\mathrm{L}$
10x RT-Random Hexamer Primer	$2.0\mu { m L}$
Multi Scribe Reverse Transcriptase (50 U/ $\mu$ L)	$1.0\mu L$
RNase Inhibitor	$1.0\mu L$
RNase free water	$3.2\mu L$
total	$10.0\mu L$

Table 2.7: Reagents Reverse Transcription
step	temperature	time
step 1	25 °C	10 min
step 2	37 °C	120 min
step 3	85 °C	5 min
step 4	4 °C	hold

Table 2.8: Protocol Reverse Transcription

After the RT the resulting cDNA mix was diluted 1:5 by adding 80  $\mu$ L of RNase free water. For the Real-Time RT-PCR a SYBR<sup>(R)</sup> Green PCR Master Mix (ABI life technologies, Waltham, USA) which included ROX as a loading control was used. For specific PCR this Master mix was mixed with suitable primers to investigate the mRNA of interest (see Table 2.3).

Table 2.9: Reagents Real-Time PCR

forward primer (10 $\mu$ M)	$0.5\mu\mathrm{L}$
forward primer (10 $\mu$ M)	$0.5\mu\mathrm{L}$
SYBR Green Master Mix	$5.0\mu\mathrm{L}$
RNase free water	$1.5\mu L$
total	$7.5\mu\mathrm{L}$

For the Real Time RT-PCR a 384 well plate was used. Per well 7.5  $\mu$ L of the primer containing master mix was mixed with 2.5  $\mu$ L diluted cDNA. The PCR protocol is displayed in Table 2.10. For the analysis a relative standard curve was run on every plate for each gene of interest.

Table 2.10:	Protocol PCR
-------------	--------------

step		temp.	time
initial denaturation		95 °C	15 min
denaturation		95 °C	30 s
annealing	40x	60 °C	30 s
elongation		72 °C	30 s
dissociation stage		95 °C	15 s
		60 °C	15 s
		95 °C	15 s

#### 2.2.4 Semiquantitative PCR

For the semiquantitative PCR, the cDNA was synthesized as described in 2.2.3 before. The cDNA was diluted 1:5 with RNase free water.  $5 \mu$ L of cDNA was mixed with  $15 \mu$ L of Master MiX (Table 2.11)

Table 2.11: Reagents semiquantitative PCR

forward primer (10 $\mu$ M)	$1\mu L$
forward primer (10 $\mu$ M)	$1\mu L$
SYBR Green Master Mix	$10\mu L$
RNase free water	$3\mu L$
total	$15\mu L$

The same PCR protocol was executed as for the Real-Time RT-PCR (Table 2.10) in a regular ThermoCycler. The amount of cDNA was analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis.

#### 2.2.5 Agarose gel electrophoresis

A 1 % agarose gel has been used for DNA separation. Therefore, 1 g of agarose was melted in 1 x TAE buffer. Per 100 mL 5  $\mu$ L of ethidium bromide was added. The mixture was poured into a casting chamber and after polymerization the resulting gel was transferred into the electrophoresis chamber. The samples were mixed 1:6 with 6x Gel loading dye (B7025S, New England Biolabs, Ibswich, USA) and applied to the gel. To determine the size of the separated DNA fragments a 100 bp DNA ladder (N0467, New England Biolabs, Ibswich, USA) was included. The chamber was filled with 1x TAE buffer and run at 150 V for 30 -60 min. After size separation the gel was documented by UV light using the Imager Infinity-1000/26M (PeqLab).

#### 2.3 Cell culture methods

#### 2.3.1 Cultivation of primary and C28 chondrocytes

Primary and C28 chondrocytes were cultivated in chondrocyte specific culture medium, which was composed of Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) containing 10% FCS, 1 mM sodium pyruvate and penicillin (10.000 U/ml)/streptomycin (10 mg/ml), at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The cells were splitted every 2-3 days. Therefore the cells were washed twice with PBS and trypsinized with 0.25% Trypsin/EDTA (Biochrom GmbH, Berlin) for 7 min. Trypsin was inactivated by adding 10 mL culture medium. The cell suspension was centrifuged at 700 g for 5 min at room temperature. The pellet was dissolved in fresh chondrocyte culture medium and one third of the cell suspension was transferred into a new culture flask.

#### 2.3.2 Isolation of human primary chondrocytes

Cartilage from the most destructed part of the tibial plateau from patients who underwent total knee replacement surgery was cut into small pieces and digested in a pronase solution (1 mg/mL in DMEM without supplements) for 30 min at 37 °C. Afterwards the digestion solution was removed and the cartilage pieces were washed once with PBS. Then, the pieces were digested over night at at 37 °C using 1 mg/mL collagenase IV (Worthington Biochemical Corporation, Lakewood, USA), diluted in DMEM, 10 % FCS, 1 % penicillin/streptomycin, 1 % Na-Pyruvat. The next day, the remaining pieces were broken up through repeated pipetting. The solution was given through a strainer (40  $\mu$ m) and centrifuges for 5 min at 700 g. The resulting cell pellet was resuspended in chondrocyte culture medium and plated in a T25 culture flask.

#### 2.3.3 Cryopreservation and recovery of cells

For long term storage of cell lines such as C28/I2, a confluent 75 cm<sup>2</sup> flask was washed twice with PBS and trypsinized with 0.25% Trypsin/EDTA (Biochrom GmbH, Berlin). Trypsin was inactivated by adding 10 mL culture medium. The cell suspension was centrifuged at 700 g for 5 min at RT. The pellet was dissolved in DMEM containing 20% FCS, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, penicillin (10.000 U/mL)/streptomycin (10 mg/ml) (Biochrom, GmbH, Berlin), 20% DMSO and

transferred into a cryo tube. At first the cells were frozen overnight in a freezing container at -80°C, afterwards the cells were stored in liquid nitrogen. When needed, frozen cell suspension was carefully thawed in a 37 °C water bath. Afterwards the cells were suspended in 10 mL culture medium and centrifuged at 700 g for 5 min at RT. The cell pellet was dissolved in chondrocyte culture medium and plated in T25 culture flask.

#### 2.3.4 Cell treatment with recombinant Sdc4 protein and IL-1 $\beta$

C28 chondrocytes were seeded 24 h before the experiment at a density of  $1.5 \times 10^5$  cells/well (12 well plate). For the treatment with the Sdc4 ectodomain (Table 2.6), the recombinant human Sdc4 was added to the cells with a final concentration of  $1\mu$ g/mL and incubated for 1 h. Afterwards, IL-1ß was added with a final concentration of 10 ng/mL for various time points (15, 30, 60 min). Subsequently the cells were harvested as explained in 2.4.1 and kept at -20 °C until western blot analysis (see 2.4.3).

#### 2.3.5 Chondrocyte experiments with inhibitors for MMP-2 and -9

C28 chondrocytes were seeded 24 h before the experiment at a density of 1.5x10<sup>5</sup> cells/well (12 well plate). Before the treatment with the inhibitors the culture medium was replaced with 0.5 mL of fresh chondrocyte culture medium. The stock solutions of the inhibitors were dissolved in DMSO and diluted to the working solution with culture medium. As control DMSO was diluted with culture medium according to the inhibitors before. The C28 chondrocytes were treated with a final concentration of either 5 nM, 113 nM, 1.05  $\mu$ M, or 5  $\mu$ M of MMP-9 Inhibitor I (Merk Millipore, Burlington, USA), or with 12 nM, 200 nM, 4.5  $\mu$ M, or 50  $\mu$ M of the MMP-2 inhibitor ARP-100 (Santa Cruz, Dallas, USA). Additionally, C28 chondrocytes were treated with either 4-Aminophenylmercuric acetate (APMA, A9563, Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, USA) or IL-1 $\beta$ . Previous to the experiment, APMA was dissolved in water and afterwards the solution was incubated in a 37 °C water bath until APMA was completely solved. Subsequently, the solution was sterile filtered using a 0.22  $\mu$ L filter and the cells were treated with a final concentration of 1 mM or 5  $\mu$ M APMA for 5 h. Or additionally to the treatment with the inhibitors, the cell were treated with a final concentration of  $10 \text{ ng/mL IL-}1\beta$  for 5h. Subsequently the culture medium was taken off and stored at -20 °C until further ELISA analysis 2.4.5.

#### 2.3.6 Knock down of MMP-9 with siRNA

Primary chondrocytes were seeded 24 h before the experiment at a density of  $0.5 \times 10^5$  cells/well (24 well plate). The transfection was carried out by using the jetPRIME<sup>®</sup> transfection reagent (Illkirch-Graffenstaden, France). Per well a mixture of 50  $\mu$ L jetPRIME<sup>®</sup> buffer and 2  $\mu$ L of either 50  $\mu$ M siMMP-9 (Silencer® Select, s8862, AMBION GmbH, Kaufungen, Germany) or 50  $\mu$ M siScrambled (Silencer® Negative Control 1, AMBION GmbH, Kaufungen, Germany) was vortexed for 10 s. Afterwards 2  $\mu$ L of jetPRIME<sup>®</sup> reagent were added, vortexed and incubated for 10 min at room temperature. The 50  $\mu$ L of the transfection mix was added to 450  $\mu$ L of culture medium per well. The cells were incubated for 24 h. Afterwards the transfection medium was replaced by fresh culture medium and the cells were incubated with 10 ng/mL IL-1 $\beta$  for 5 h. Subsequently the supernatant was transferred into a 1.5 mL reaction tube and kept at -20 °C until ELISA analysis was performed (see 2.4.5). RNA was isolated from the cells as described in 2.2.1 and stored at -80 °C until a semiquantitative PCR was performed (see 2.2.4).

#### 2.4 Protein biochemical methods

#### 2.4.1 Cell lysis and protein extraction

Cells were harvested by taking off the culture medium and washing the cells once with cold PBS. Afterwards fresh PBS was applied to the well and the cells were detached by using a cell scraper. The cell solution was transferred into a 1.5 reaction tube and centrifuged at 700 g and 4 °C for 5 min. The supernantant was taken off and the cell pellet was resuspendent in 50  $\mu$ L of NP40 lysis buffer. Cells were incubated for 60 min, rotating at 4 °C. Afterwards they were centrifuged at 12,000 g and 4 °C for 10 min. The resulting protein solution was taken off and transferred into a new 1.5 reaction tube and store at -20 °C until further analysis.

#### 2.4.2 Quantitative determination of protein concentration

The amount of protein, obtained in 2.4.1 was determined using the Pierce<sup>*TM*</sup> BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fischer Scientific, Waltham, USA). Therfore a BCA standard was prepared from a stock solution using distilled water. The samples were diluted 1:2.5 in PBS. 25  $\mu$ L of BCA standard and diluted samples were applied to a 96-well plate and covered with 200  $\mu$ L of working solution (Reagent A: Reagent B (50:1)). The plate was incubated for 30 min at 37 °C and then measured at 560 nm with the Tecan spectrophotometer

#### 2.4.3 SDS-PAGE and Western blot analysis

For the casting of a 10 % SDS-PAGE the following reagents were mixed:

reagent	amount [mL]
H <sub>2</sub> O dest.	1.900
30 % Acrylamide Mix	1.700
Tris/HCl (1.5 M; pH 8.8)	1.300
10 % SDS	0.050
10 % APS	0.050
TEMED	0.002

Table 2.12: Composition of 10 % SDS PAGE; separating gel

Per gel, 4 mL of the separating gel (Table 2.13) were pipetted between two glass plates with a 1.0 mm spacing, fixed in the BioRad gel casting system and covered with isopropanol. After polymerization 1 mL of stacking gel was added and either a 10 or 15 well comb was put into the stacking gel.

amount [mL]
0.680
0.170
0.130
0.010
0.010
0.001

Table 2.13: Composition stacking gel

The resulting SDS-PAGE was fixed into the BioRad Protein Gel Electrophoresis Chamber System. The system was filled with 1x electrophoresis buffer. Cell protein lysates were diluted with PBS to obtain equal protein concentrations in all samples. Afterwards the lysates were mixed 1:5 with 5x protein loading buffer. The mixture was heated at 95 °C for 5 min, shortly centrifuged and then loaded into the wells of the SDS-PAGE. A prestained protein ladder (Pager Ruler<sup>TM</sup> Plus (10-250 kDa)) was included for later size discrimination of the proteins. The SDS-PAGE was run at 130 V for  $\sim$  90 min. The gel was transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane and fixed into the BioRad wet blotting chamber systems. The chamber was filled with 1x blotting buffer and run at 300 mA for 90 min. Afterwards the free binding sites on the nitrocellulose membrane were blocked block with 5 % BSA in TBS for 1 h. The primary antibody was diluted in TBS-T as indicated in Table 2.4. The membrane was incubated with the primary antibody over night at 4 °C on an orbital shaker. Afterwards the membrane was washed three times with TBS-T for 10 min. The secondary antibody was diluted in TBS-T as indicated in Table 2.5 and added to the membrane for 1 h at room temperature on an orbital shaker. Following the antibody was washed off two times with TBS-T and the third time with TBS for 10 min for each washing step. Finally, antibody binding was detected through proton detection of the HRP reaction with the ECL solution. The chemiluminescence signals were detected with the ChemiDoc MP Imgaing System (BioRad, Hercules, USA).

#### 2.4.4 Stripping of membranes

Membranes were stripped of their binding antibody by washing the membrane twice with stripping buffer for 5 min each. Afterwards the membrane was washed three times with TBS-T and afterwards blocked again with 5 % BSA in TBS for 1 h at room temperature.

#### 2.4.5 Sdc4, MMP-2 and -9 Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay

Levels of different proteins in the synovial fluid, serum and cell culture supernatant were measured using Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assays (ELISAs). The assays were carried out as described in the manufacturers' manuals. Samples were used undiluted or diluted as indicated in Table 2.14.

protein	sample	dilution	manufacturer
MMP-2	synovial fluid	1:100	R&D Systems #MMP200
MMP-9	synovial fluid	undiluted	R&D Systems #DMP900
Sdc4	synovial fluid	undiluted	IBL international
	serum	1:1000	JP27188
	supernatant	undiluted	

#### Table 2.14: ELISAs

#### 2.4.6 Gelatin zymography analysis

For the gelatin zymography a 8% separating gel, including gelatin, was prepared as described in Table 2.15 (1 mm gel).

#### Table 2.15: Gelatin SDS PAGE

reagent	amount [mL]
H <sub>2</sub> O dest.	2.30
Acrylamide	1.60
Tris/HCl (1.5 M; pH 8.8)	1.50
1 % gelatine (in H20 dest.)	0.50
10 % SDS	0.06
APS	0.06
TEMED	0.005

The casting and the running of the SDS PAGE was performed as describe in 2.4.3 with little differences. After applying the separating gel between the glass slides the solution was covered with water instead of isopropanol. The samples were mixed with 2 x Laemli buffer, which did not contain  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol. The mixture was incubated for 30 min at room temperature and not heated. After the electrophoresis was finished the gel was washed 30 min with zymography wash buffer to remove the SDS from the gel. Afterwards, the gel was kept in developing buffer for 30 min at room temperature while shaking. Subsequently the developing buffer was replaced by fresh developing buffer and the gel was incubated for 18 h at 37 °C. The next day the gel was incubated for 30 min in Comassie blue staining solution and afterwards destained in destaining solution until clear, sharp bands were visible. Only the parts in the gel where the gelatinases digested the gelatin destained. Images of the gel was taken with the BioRad ChemiDoc MP Imaging System.

#### 2.5 Histological methods

#### 2.5.1 Paraffin sections

Cartilage samples were fixed in 4 % formaldehyde (#27279, Fischer, Zurich, Switzerland) for at least 24 h. The samples were subsequently dehydrated using a tissue processor and afterwards embedded in paraffin. For following stainings the embedded samples were cut into 4  $\mu$ m thick section with a microtome, picked up on microscope slides and dried overnight at 37 °C.

#### 2.5.2 Safranin-Orange/Fast Green staining

Cartilage specimens were pretreated twice for 10 min with Xylol. Afterwards the slides were hydrated by washing them in 100 %, 96 %, 80 %, 70 % ethanol and afterwards pure water for 5 min each. Afterwards the slide were incubated in Fast Green solution for 1 min, then 30 sec in 1 % acetic acid and subsequently 30 min in 2 % Safranin-O staining solution. After that the specimens were rinsed with 96 % ethanol and then washed three times in 96 % ethanol and two times in 100 % ethanol for 1 min each. Finally, the specimens were washed two times in Xylol for 3 min and covered with Canada balsam and a glass cover slide.

#### 2.6 Statistical analysis

All statistical analysis was performed with GraphPad Prism (Version 7.01). Values were either presented as scatter blots, showing individual values and the median of those values. Or as bar charts or dot plots displaying the mean  $\pm$  SEM. The chosen representation method is indicated in the figure legends of the respective figure. The used statistical test for each graph was also indicated in the respective figure legend.

# **3** Results

#### 3.1 Shed Sdc4 as potential marker for OA severity

For the investigation of Sdc4 shedding in the progression of OA, cartilage, synovial membrane, synovial fluid, and blood samples were collected from patients who underwent total knee replacement arthroplasty. The OA severity in these patients was assessed using the Kellgren-Lawrence (KL) score, a radiographic score considering the formation of osteophytes, joint space narrowing, sclerosis and bone deformation [68]. Fig. 3.1 shows representative X-ray pictures, photographs of the explanted tibial plateau, and the corresponding Safranin-O stained microscopy pictures of the most damaged part of the tibial plateau's cartilage. The three pictures presented per KL group belong to the same patient. For all following experiments, which were conducted with human cartilage, the specimens were taken from the most loaded site of the tibial plateau of each patient. This was determined by the highest macroscopically visible degree of cartilage destruction. In the Safranin-O stainings the different stages of cartilage destruction were microscopically noticeable. KL 1-2 showed some surface discontinuity and superficial fibrillation. The amount of proteoglycan, indicated by the Safranin-O staining, was decreased in the superficial-mid zone. Further, the perpendicular orientation of the chondrocytes in the superficial layer was lost (Fig. 3.1 KL 1-2). KL 3 showed increased surface fissures that went down into the deep cartilage layers. The proteoglycan content further decreased and increased cell proliferation – hypercellularity and complex chondrons - of disoriented chondrocytes were visible (Fig. 3.1 KL3). KL4 showed advanced cartilage erosion. Fissures were longer and went down into the calcified cartilage zone. The cartilage texture became heterogeneous and the amount of chondrocytes was deceased. The remaining chondrocytes formed clusters and showed signs of hypertrophy (Fig. 3.1 KL4).



Figure 3.1: *Representative photographs of different Kellgren-Lawrence scores* Representative X-Rays, photographs and Safranin-0 stainings of explanted tibial plateaus of patients with different severity levels. All three picture (X-Ray, explanted tibial plateau, Safranin-O/Fast Green staining) per KL group belong to the same OA patient.

#### 3.1.1 Shed Sdc4 is present in synovial fluid

First, whether Sdc4 shedding takes place in OA was validated. Synovial fluid, which is often tested for biomarkers and structural changes in OA [78], was withdrawn from knee joints of OA patients during endoprosthesis implantation. Proteins of the synovial fluid were TCA-precipitated and analyzed using western blot. Indeed, the extracellular domain of Sdc4 was present in the synovial fluid, while no intracellular part was detected. The Sdc4 ectodomain was present, in monomeric and dimeric forms (Fig. 3.2A). Next, I checked whether differences in shed Sdc4 levels in synovial fluids of patients with different OA grades were detectable. Patients with higher KL scores showed increased levels of shed Sdc4 compared to patients with lower KL scores (Fig. 3.2B).



Figure 3.2: *Shed ectodomain of Sdc4 is present in the synovial fluid of OA arthroplasty patients* Total protein of the synovial fluid of OA patients was TCA precipitated and analyzed by using western blot analysis. (A) Antibodies against the intracellular and the extracellular domain of Sdc4 showed no contamination with the membrane bound part of Sdc4, but the presence of the extracellular domain as a monomer and dimer. (B) The extracellular domain Sdc4 antibody showed increased shed Sdc4 with increased Kellgren-Lawrence score (KL). As positive control rhSdc4 was applied.

#### 3.1.2 Shed Sdc4 levels correlate with OA severity independently of the gender

For a more precise and higher throughput analysis, levels of shed Sdc4 in synovial fluid were quantified with a commercially available ELISA Kit. The ELISA included an antibody raised against the extracellular domain of Sdc4. In total 103 synovial fluid samples of OA patients with KL 1-2 (N = 23), KL 3 (N = 50) and KL 4 (N = 30) were investigated. Levels of shed Sdc4 in synovial fluid were significantly higher (KL 1-2 vs. KL 3 = 85 %; KL 1-2 vs. KL 4 = 174 %) with increasing KL score, as shown in figure 3.3A. The acquisition of the samples was performed consecutively, and both genders were included in the study. Patients that came for knee endoprosthesis implantation to the department of Orthopaedic Surgery in Magdeburg, Münster, and Tartu were included in this study after written consent. It was repeatedly reported that the gender might influence the development and progression of OA [175]. Therefore, I tested whether gender had an influence on the amount of shed Sdc4 in the synovial fluid of patients in my knee OA cohort. Between both genders, a slightly higher amount of shed Sdc4 was visible in female patients, which was not statistically significant (Fig. 3.3B). Interestingly, only 25 % of the tested synovial fluid samples came from male knee OA patients. Further, I examined whether both gender groups - males and females - showed the same KL score dependent increase in

shed Sdc4 in synovial fluid. Indeed, both groups separately showed significantly increased levels of shed Sdc4 in accordance with the KL grade. In the male group, based on the lack of patient samples with KL 4, it was only possible to compare KL 1-2 with KL 3. The median value of shed Sdc4 in the synovial fluid of KL 3 in the male cohort increased by 107 % compared to the KL 1-2 group (Fig. 3.3C). In the female group the median value of shed Sdc4 in synovial fluid increased by 59 % compared to female KL 1-2 patients. Between median levels of KL 1-2 and KL 4 in the female group, a difference of 124 % was detected (Fig. 3.3D). Since women and men showed comparable total levels of shed Sdc4 in synovial fluid and presented both an increase of shed Sdc4 in relation to OA severity, I disregarded the gender in the following analysis.



Figure 3.3: *Shed Sdc4 is upregulated depending on the OA degree, but independent of the gender* Levels of shed Sdc4 in synovial fluids with different Kellgren-Lawrence (KL) scores were analyzed by using an ELISA that recognizes the extracellular part of Sdc4. **(A)** Total levels of shed Sdc4 were upregulated with the KL score (KL 1-2 = 59.25 pg/mL (N = 23), KL 3 = 109.40 pg/mL (N = 50, p = 0.009), KL 4 = 162.20 pg/mL (N = 30, p = 0.001). **(B)** Total shed Sdc4 separated by gender showed no relevant differences (male = 80.04 pg/mL (N = 26), female = 107.30 pg/mL (N = 77); p = 0.3820). **(C)** Male shed Sdc4 levels separated by KL score showed a significant increase (KL 1-2 = 52.89 pg/mL (N = 8), KL 3 = 109.40 pg/mL (N = 17); p = 0.0495). **(D)** Female shed Sdc4 levels separated by KL score showed a significant increase (KL 1-2 = 68.62 pg/mL (N = 15), KL 3 = 109.50 pg/mL (N = 33, p = 0.064), KL 4 = 154.50 pg/mL (N = 29, p = 0.012). Values are presented as median. A Kruskal-Wallis test with following uncorrected Dunn's test was performed for A + D; a Mann-Whitney-U test was performed for B + C; \* = p ≤ 0.05, \*\* = p ≤ 0.01, \*\*\* = p ≤ 0.001.

### **3.1.3** The level of shed Sdc4 is a possible marker for OA severity in synovial fluid but not in serum

In the next step, the potential of shed Sdc4 in synovial fluid as a biomarker for OA severity was assessed. To investigate whether Sdc4 shedding can distinguish between early and late OA, KL 1-2 was defined as "early OA" and KL 3-4 as "late OA". A significant upregulation of the median shed Sdc4 levels of about 93 % was detected between those two groups (Fig. 3.4A). When the true positive rate (sensitivity) was plotted against the false positive rate (100% - selectivity) of shed Sdc4, the resulting receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve presented a suitable threshold of 72.9 pg/mL (indicated by red dotted lines in Fig. 3.4 A+B). The threshold was chosen by maximizing sensitivity and selectivity, resulting a sensitivity of 67.5% and specificity of 65.2 % (Fig. 3.4B). The area under the curve (AUC) describes the suitability of a biomarker. For shed Sdc4 in synovial fluid the AUC was 0.72. Since synovial fluid is drawn during an arthroscopy, which must be performed by a specialist and poses risks, such as micro-injuries and bacterial infection, it was analyzed whether shed Sdc4 showed OA severity dependent changes in serum samples. No differences between shed Sdc4 levels of healthy individuals and patients with knee OA were detected (Fig. 3.4C). To investigate whether the same correlation of shed Sdc4 with KL score, which was seen in synovial fluid, was also visible in serum, shed Sdc4 levels were plotted against the KL scores. No correlation between median shed Sdc4 levels and KL score was detected (Fig. 3.4D).



Figure 3.4: Shed Sdc4 is a marker for distinguishing between early and late OA in synovial fluid, but not serum

(A) Shed Sdc4 levels as determined in Fig. 3.3A were separated in early (KL 1-2) and late (KL 3-4) OA. Between both groups a significant increase was detected (KL 1-2 = 59.25 pg/mL (N = 23), KL 3-4 = 114.20 pg/mL (N = 80); p = 0.001). The red dotted line indicates the proposed threshold (72.9 pg/mL) to distinguish between early and late OA as calculated with the ROC curve. (B) The receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve blotted the true positive rate (sensitivity) of all possible thresholds (early vs. late OA) against the respective false positive rate (100 % – specificity). The point with the best ratio of sensitivity to specificity was selected. The selected threshold of 72.9 pg/mL had a sensitivity of 67.50 % (95 % CI = 56.11 % to 77.55 %) and a specificity of 65.22 % (95 % CI = 42.73 % to 83.62 %). The area under the curve (AUC) is 0.72 (95 % CI = 0.60 to 0.84). (C) Levels of shed Sdc4 were measured in the serum of patients with OA (OA) and healthy individuals (control) by using an Sdc4 ELISA. No relevant differences were seen between the two groups (control = 19635 pg/mL (N = 16), OA = 19188 pg/mL (N = 29); p > 0.99). (D) Serum levels of shed Sdc4 did not change with the KL score (KL 1-2 = 20510 pg/mL (N = 6), KL 3 = 19323 pg/mL (N = 8), KL 4 = 19754 pg/mL (N = 5); p = 0.816). Values of A, C, and D are presented as median. A Kruskal-Wallis test was performed for D; a Mann-Whitney-U test was performed for A + C; \*\* =  $p \le 0.01$ . Serum samples of the healthy control group were collected and measured for shed Sdc4 in context of another ongoing study by Karsten Pinno and were kindly provided for illustrative and statistical purposes.

#### 3.2 MMP-9 - a possible sheddase for Sdc4 in OA

As mentioned earlier, OA is a disease of the whole joint. Therefore, I examined cartilage and synovial membrane as tissues that are likely to contribute to the amount of shed Sdc4 found in the synovial fluid. RNA was isolated from both tissues and gene expression was analyzed by real time RT-PCR. The expression levels of Sdc4 demonstrated no changes among the KL scores in either cartilage or synovial membrane (Fig. 3.5A+B). This data suggests that elevated amounts of shed Sdc4 in synovial fluid might not originated from increased Sdc4 expression but an increased shedding rate of Sdc4. In cartilage Sdc4 was consistently expressed in comparison to the synovial membrane, where some samples only showed minimal expression of Sdc4 (Fig. 3.5A+B).



#### Figure 3.5: No differences in Sdc4 mRNA expression level

RNA was isolated from cartilage taken from the most loaded part of the tibial plateau or synovial membrane from patients with different KL scores (KL 1-2, KL 3, and KL 4). **(A)** Analysis of Sdc4 mRNA revealed no changes in cartilage (KL 1-2 = 0.0006 (N = 14), KL 3 = 0.0006 (N = 18), KL 4 = 0.0007 (N = 10); p = 0.8159), **(B)** as well as no relevant changes in synovial membrane (KL 1-2 = 0.0007 (N = 18), KL 3 = 0.00001 (N = 27), KL 4 = 0.0006 (N = 19); p = 0.7414). Values are presented as median. The Kruskal-Wallis test was performed for all figures.

#### 3.2.1 MMP-9, but not MMP-2, increased in synovial fluid

As the shedding rate seemed to be regulated, I looked at potential MMPs that might be responsible for the increase in Sdc4 shedding. The work by Manon-Jensen et al. reported shedding sites for MMP-2, -9, and -14 within the Sdc4 ectodomain [130]. In contrast to MMP-2 and -9, MMP-14 is a membrane-bound MMP. Therefore, I focused on MMP-2 and -9, which are detectable in the synovial fluid. The total content of MMP-2 and -9 in the synovial fluids of knee OA patients were analyzed by using specific ELISAs. The overall median amount of total MMP-2 in synovial fluid was about 500x higher than the amount of total MMP-9 (Fig. 3.6A+B). Levels of total MMP-9 correlated with the KL score (Fig. 3.6A). MMP-9 synovial fluid levels were increased by 15% between KL 1-2 and KL 3, and 68% between KL 1-2 and KL 4. The levels of MMP-2 showed no relevant changes with the increasing KL-Score (Fig. 3.6B). In order to investigate whether MMP-2 and MMP-9 are activated in OA synovial fluid a gelatin zymography was performed. This assay is based on the ability of MMP-2 and MMP-9 to digest gelatin. Due to the SDS in the zymography gel also the pro-forms of MMP-2 and MMP-9 were able to digest gelatin. The differentiation between the pro and active forms of MMPs was therefore made by size discrimination. The zymography proved the presence of pro- and activated MMP-9 as well as pro- and activated MMP-2 in the synovial fluid of OA patients (Fig. 3.6C). As levels of shed Sdc4 and MMP-9 in synovial fluid were elevated with increasing OA severity, I assumed that MMP-9 might be a potential sheddase for Sdc4 during OA pathogenesis. Thus the amount of shed Sdc4 was correlated with the levels of total MMP-9 in synovial fluid. Indeed, a significant positive correlation was apparent (Fig. 3.6D). I also correlated MMP-2 levels with shed Sdc4 levels, but did not observe any significant correlation between both proteins (Fig. 3.6E).



#### Figure 3.6: MMP-9, but not MMP-2, is increased in synovial fluid

Levels of total MMP-2 and MMP-9 in synovial fluids from patients with different Kellgren-Lawrence (KL) scores were analyzed by using an ELISA. (A) The amount of total MMP-9 was increased with increasing KL score (KL 1-2 = 1.37 ng/mL (N = 12), KL 3 = 1.58 ng/mL (N = 37), KL 4 = 2.31 ng/mL (N = 32); p(KL 1-2 vs. 4) = 0.040, p(KL 3 vs. 4) = 0.040). (B) The amount of total MMP-2 was decreased with increasing KL score (KL 1-2 = 1235.0 ng/mL (N = 17), KL 3 = 796.1 ng/mL (N = 32), KL 4 = 791.3 ng/mL (N = 29); p = 0.1776). (C) A gelatin zymography of synovial fluid showed the presence of pro- and active MMP-2 and -9 (D) In order to test to relation between increased MMP-9 and increased shed Sdc4 the respective values were plotted against each other. Both groups positively correlate with a Spearman r of 0.437 (95 % CI = 0.155 to 0.652; p = 0.0027; N = 45). (E) The same was carried out for MMP-2; shed Sdc4 and MMP-2 did not show any correlation (Spearman r = -0.090; 95 % CI = -0.346 to 0.177; p = 0.500; N = 59). A Kruskal-Wallis test with following uncorrected Dunn's test was performed for A + B; \* = p ≤ 0.05.

Next, the usefulness of MMP-9 levels to discriminate between early (KL 1-2) and late OA (KL 3-4) was analyzed. The median MMP-9 level in late OA was increased by 34 % compared to the median level of MMP-9 in early OA. However, this difference was not statistically significant (Fig. 3.7A). In line with the analysis of shed Sdc4, I performed an ROC curve analysis for MMP-9 synovial fluid values. The AUC of MMP-9 presented a value of 0.62 (Fig. 3.7B), which was considerably lower than of shed Sdc4 (see Fig. 3.4B).





The potential of MMP-9 levels as determined in Fig. 3.6A to distinguish between early (KL 1-2) and late (KL 3-4) OA was tested. (A) When regrouping all measurements into this two groups only a slight upregulation was seen (KL 1-2 = 1.374 ng/mL (N = 12), KL 3-4 = 1.846 ng/mL (N = 69); p = 0.175). (B) The resulting ROC curve had an AUC of 0.62. Values are presented as median. Mann-Whitney-U test was performed for A.

#### 3.2.2 Increased MMP-9 mRNA expression in OA synovial membrane

After showing that MMP-9 was increased in the synovial fluid of OA patients with an increasing KL score, the mRNA expression in the surrounding tissues, synovial membrane and cartilage, was examined. MMP-9 mRNA levels in cartilage showed a KL score dependent upregulation, which, however, did not reach statistical significance (Fig. 3.8A). In synovial membrane the median value for KL 4 OA patients was 150 % higher than the median value for KL 1-2 (Fig. 3.8B).



#### Figure 3.8: Increased MMP-9 mRNA expression in synovial membrane

RNA was isolated from cartilage taken from the most loaded part of the tibial plateau or synovial membrane from patients with different KL scores (KL 1-2, KL 3, and KL 4). **(A)** Analysis of MMP-9 mRNA revealed no significant changes (KL 1-2 = 0.0008 (N = 14), KL 3 = 0.0003 (N = 18), KL 4 = 0.002 (N = 10); p = 0.103). **(B)** In synovial membrane mRNA was significantly upregulated (KL 1-2 = 0.0052 (N = 18), KL 3 = 0.0079 (N = 27), KL 4 = 0.0223 (N = 19, p = 0.008)). Values are presented as median. A Kruskal-Wallis test with following uncorrected Dunn's test was performed for all figures, \*\* = p ≤ 0.01.

Similar to the analysis of mRNA expression levels of MMP-9, I also examined MMP-2 mRNA expression. MMP-2 mRNA levels in cartilage showed an upregulation between KL 1-2 and KL 4 of 590 %. However, this increase in expression was not statistically significant (Fig. 3.9A). The MMP-2 mRNA analysis of the synovial membrane showed no relevant changes (Fig. 3.9B).



Figure 3.9: *MMP-2 expression on mRNA level did not change in cartilage nor synovial membrane* RNA was isolated from cartilage taken from the most loaded part of the tibial plateau or synovial membrane from patients with different KL scores (KL 1-2, KL 3, and KL 4). **(A)** Analysis of MMP-2 mRNA revealed no significant changes in the gene expression level in cartilage (KL 1-2 = 0.0026 (N = 14), KL 3 = 0.0019 (N = 19), KL 4 = 0.018 (N = 18); p = 0.195). **(B)** as well as no changes in synovial membrane (KL 1-2 = 0.2789 (N = 19), KL 3 = 0.3734 (N = 26), KL 4 = 0.438 (N = 18); p = 0.852). Values are presented as median. A Kruskal-Wallis test was performed for all figure.

#### 3.3 MMP-9-mediated Sdc4 shedding regulates IL-1 signaling

Even though OA is not considered a high inflammatory disease like rheumatoid arthritis, inflammation is a reported factor in OA. The pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 $\beta$  has been intensively studied in the context of OA and was reported to be involved in OA pathophysiology. So far, this study showed that Sdc4 shedding was upregulated during OA, and most likely, MMP-9 is a sheddase involved in this process. In the final part, MMP-9 involvement in Sdc4 shedding was verified and the function of Sdc4 shedding in OA, especially in IL-1 signaling, was examined.

#### 3.3.1 Inhibitor for MMP-9, but not MMP-2, reduces Sdc4 shedding

I further investigated the role of MMP-2 and MMP-9 in Sdc4 shedding by suppressing their enzymatic function with specific inhibitors. The chondrocyte cell line C28 was treated with different concentrations of the inhibitors. As readout for their inhibitory capacity, the amount of shed Sdc4 in the culture medium after 5 h was compared to the control. The tested concentrations were chosen based on the manufacturers' datasheets and previous studies [176]. The MMP-9 inhibitor showed a significant 35% decrease of basal Sdc4 shedding at the highest concentration of 5  $\mu$ M (Fig. 3.10A). There was no influence of the MMP-2 inhibitor on the basal Sdc4 shedding (Fig. 3.10B). The chemical compound 4-Aminophenylmercuric acetate (APMA), an organomercurial activator of MMPs, was used to induce Sdc4 shedding. The treatment of C28 chondrocytes with APMA significantly increased the shedding of Sdc4 by 70%. The addition of the MMP-9 inhibitor (5  $\mu$ M) attenuated this effect. The MMP-2 inhibitor, on the contrary, did not affect APMA-induced Sdc4 shedding (Fig. 3.10C). Another way to induce Sdc4 shedding was the stimulation with the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 $\beta$ . Figure 3.10D shows that treatment of C28 chondrocytes with IL-1 $\beta$  upregulated Sdc4 shedding in a dose dependent manner. Shed Sdc4 was increased in the culture medium of C28 chondrocytes by 32 % for 0.1 ng/ml IL-1 $\beta$ , by 82 % for 1 ng/mL, and by 112 % for 10 ng/mL. Interestingly, between 0.1 and 1 ng/mL the difference in Sdc4 shedding induction is higher (0.1 vs. 1 ng/mL = 51 %) than between the other concentrations (w/o vs. 0.1 ng/mL = 31.8 %; 1 vs. 10 ng/mL = 28.2 %). Incubating the cells with IL-1 $\beta$  and MMP-9 inhibitor decreased Sdc4 shedding by 47 % (0.1 ng/mL), 69% (1 ng/mL), and 72% (10 ng/mL) compared to its respective control. Further, the increased induction of Sdc4 shedding between 0.1 and 1 ng/mL IL-1 $\beta$  was gone. Between all

concentrations a gradual increase of around 29 % was apparent (w/o vs. 0.1 ng/mL=33.1; 0.1 vs 1 ng/mL=27.4, 1 vs. 10 ng/mL=28.2 %), indicating an IL-1 $\beta$  depending role of MMP-9. Adding the MMP-2 inhibitor had no influence on basal or IL-1 $\beta$ -induced Sdc4 shedding (Fig. 3.10D).



Figure 3.10: MMP-9 inhibitor reduced APMA and IL-1 $\beta$  induced Sdc4 shedding

C28 chondrocytes were treated with different concentrations of MMP-2 or -9 inhibitor for 5 h. The changes in shed Sdc4 levels are presented in percentage compared to the untreated control. (A) The MMP-9 inhibitor decreased the shedding of Sdc4 at a concentration of  $5 \mu M$  (w/o=100 %,  $5 \mu M$ =64.6±8.71 %; N=3; p=0.038) (B) Even the highest concentration of 50  $\mu$ M of MMP-2 inhibitor had no effect on Sdc4 shedding (w/o = 100 %,  $50 \mu$ M = 64.6 $\pm$  8.71 %; N = 3; p = 0.988). (C) Upon stimulation with APMA (5  $\mu$ M, 5 h) shedding was increased (control = 100 %, APMA =  $170.6 \pm 21.03$  %; N = 3; p = 0.022), 5  $\mu$ M MMP-9 inhibitor attenuated the effect (control = 100 %, APMA + MMP-9 inhibitor =  $126.1 \pm 16.57$  %; N = 3; p = 0.309), while 50  $\mu$ M of MMP-2 inhibitor did not change Sdc4 shedding increase (control = 100 %, APMA + MMP-2 inhibitor =  $164.4\pm.7$  %; N = 3; p = 0.036) (D) C28 cells were treated with different concentrations of IL-1 $\beta$  and either MMP-2 (50  $\mu$ M) or MMP-9 (5  $\mu$ M) inhibitor for 5 h. The MMP-9 inhibitor decreased Sdc4 shedding at all IL-1 $\beta$  concentrations compared to the control, while the MMP-2 inhibitor again had no effect (w/o: (control=100 %, MMP-9 inhibitor= $51.89 \pm 10.51$  % (p=0.014), MMP-2 inhibitor = 98.1±13.67%), 0.1 ng/mL: (control = 131.8±14.43%, MMP-9 inhibitor = 84.98±12.50% (p = 0.017), MMP-9 inhibitor = 84.98±12.50\% (p = 0.017), MMP-9 inhibitor = 84.98\% (p = 0.017), MMP-9 inhibito 2 inhibitor =  $128.8 \pm 7.74$  %), 1 ng/mL: (control =  $182.8 \pm 11.77$  %, MMP-9 inhibitor =  $112.40 \pm 2.81$  % (p = 0.0006), MMP-2 inhibitor =  $184.6 \pm 27.87\%$ ), 10 ng/mL: ((control =  $211.9 \pm 12.39\%$ , MMP-9 inhibitor =  $139.3 \pm 4.73\%$ (p = 0.0004), MMP-2 inhibitor = 212.7 ± 21.3 %)). Values are presented as mean ± SEM. Ordinary One-way ANOVAs, followed by Sidak's multiple comparisons test were performed for A - C; a two-way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparison was performed for D;  $* = p \le 0.05$ ,  $*** = p \le 0.001$ .

#### 3.3.2 MMP-9 knockdown by siRNA decreases IL-1 $\beta$ induced Sdc4 shedding

The specificity of MMP inhibitors is repeatedly discussed. Therefore MMP-9 was knocked down to verify its role in Sdc4 shedding. Primary chondrocytes were treated for 24 h with siMMP-9 or a control siRNA. Afterwards the cells were incubated with different concentrations of IL-1 $\beta$  for 5 h. The levels of shed Sdc4 in the culture medium were analyzed by the Sdc4 ELISA. The efficiency of the knockdown was confirmed by semiquantitative RT-PCR (Fig. 3.11A). Figure 3.10A shows that cells treated with siMMP-9 expressed 66 % less MMP-9 mRNA than cells treated with the control siRNA. GAPDH served as loading control. The measurements of shed Sdc4 in the culture medium that were treated with either siMMP-9 or a control and different concentrations of IL-1 $\beta$  to induce Sdc4 shedding confirmed the results obtained by the inhibitor previous experiments. The inhibition of Sdc4 shedding by MMP-9 inhibition was again more prominent with a higher concentration of IL-1 $\beta$ . Cells pre-treated with siMMP-9 and stimulated with 0.1 ng/mL IL-1 $\beta$  shed 22.5 % less Sdc4 compared to the respective control. For stimulation with 1 ng/mL, shedding of Sdc4 was reduced by 39.4 %, and for 10 ng/mL 41.4 % less shed Sdc4 was detectable (Fig. 3.11B).



#### Figure 3.11: MMP-9 knockdown with siRNA decreases Sdc4 shedding

Primary chondrocytes were treated for 24 h with siMMP-9 or a control siRNA. Afterwards cells were stimulated for 5 h with different concentrations of IL-1 $\beta$ . (A) Semi-quantitative PCR analysis showed a MMP-9 knockdown of 66 %. GAPDH was run to ensure similar cDNA levels. (B) Changes in Sdc4 shedding per IL-1 $\beta$  concentration (0.1, 1, and 10 ng/mL) were normed to the respective control, which as set to 100 %. The percentage of shed Sdc4 in comparison to its control decreased with increasing IL-1 $\beta$  levels (0.1 ng/mL: (siControl = 100 %, siMMP-9 = 77.52±11.57 % (p=0.066), 1 ng/mL: (siControl = 100 %, siMMP-9 = 60.60±8.39 % (p=0.002), 10 ng/mL: (siControl = 100 %, siMMP-9 = 58.61±4.42 % (p=0.001). Values are presented as mean ± SEM. Ordinary One-way ANOVA, followed by Sidak's multiple comparison was performed for B; \*\* = p ≤ 0.01.

#### 3.3.3 Decreased IL-1 signaling through Sdc4 ectodomain shedding

As mentioned before, APMA was used to activate MMPs. To ensure that APMA indeed activated MMP-2 and MMP-9, I performed a gelatin zymography. Pro-MMP-2, as well as pro-MMP-9, was present in the culture medium (Fig. 3.12A). Similar to the MMP levels in synovial fluid (see Fig. 3.6A+B), more MMP-2 was present than MMP-9. However, more MMP-9 was active on a basal level. Upon stimulation with APMA, MMP-2 and -9 got activated (Fig. 3.12A). The amount of activated MMP-2 and -9 upon APMA stimulation was similar in all samples, showing that the inhibitors did not interfere with the proteolysis of the pro-MMPs. The absence, as well as blocking Sdc4 with antibodies, was reported to result in decreased IL-1 signaling [86, 111] Thus, I investigated whether an increased Sdc4 shedding could have a similar effect on IL-1 signaling. Therefore, chondrocytes were treated with APMA to induce Sdc4 shedding. The amount of IL- $\beta$ induced ERK phosphorylation (p-ERK) was determined using western blot analysis. Without treatment, the stimulation with IL-1 $\beta$  showed an increase of 100 % (15 min) to 110 % (30 min) in p-ERK/ERK. The pre-treatment with APMA reduced the time dependent phosphorylation of ERK. The most visible difference was at 30 min with 75 % reduction in p-ERK in the APMA pretreated cells compared to the respective control (Fig. 3.11B). Shed syndecans were also proposed to work as decoy receptors. To evaluate the function of shed Sdc4 in IL-1 signaling, I pre-treated C28 chondrocytes with 1 µg/mL recombinant Sdc4 ectodomain or PBS as a control and subsequently stimulated the cells with 10 ng/mL IL-1 $\beta$  for different time points (Fig. 3.11C). Again, an IL-1 $\beta$  induced increase of p-ERK using western blot analysis was visible by 117.5 % (15 min) and 97.8 % (30 min). Interestingly, the presence of the Sdc4 ectodomain in the culture medium had no effect on the levels of p-ERK at 15min (101.5%) or 30 min (92.8%).



Figure 3.12: *Decreased IL-1 signaling through Sdc4 deficiency by increased shedding* (A) Cell culture medium from C28 chondrocytes treated with APMA (1 mM) or water as control for 5 h was run on a gelatin SDS gel. Additionally, inhibitors for MMP-2 (50  $\mu$ M) and MMP-9 (5  $\mu$ M) or the combination of both was added. APMA increased the amount of active MMP-2 and -9 after treatment independent from MMP-inhibitors.(B) C28 chondrocytes were treated with APMA or water as control (w/o). Afterwards cells were stimulated with 10 ng/mL IL-1 $\beta$  for 0, 15, 30, and 60 min. IL-1 $\beta$  signaling was analysed by the phosphorylation of ERR (p-ERK) to total amount of ERK (ERK). The left panel shows a representative western blot. The right panel shows the respective quantitative analysis (N = 3). At 30 min a significant decrease of p-ERK was visible (w/o = 209.60 ±18.15 %, APMA = 135.60 ± 24.88 %, p = 0.013). (C) C28 chondrocytes were treated with Sdc4 (1  $\mu$ g/mL) or PBS as control (w/o). Afterwards cells were stimulated with 10 ng/mL IL-1 $\beta$  for 0, 15, 30, and 60 min. IL-1 $\beta$  signaling was analysed by the phosphorylation of ERR (p-ERK) to total amount of ERK (ERK). The left panel shows a representative western blot. The right panel shows the respective quantitative analysis (N = 3). At 30 min a significant decrease of p-ERK was visible (w/o = 209.60 ±18.15 %, APMA = 135.60 ± 24.88 %, p = 0.013). (C) C28 chondrocytes were treated with Sdc4 (1  $\mu$ g/mL) or PBS as control (w/o). Afterwards cells were stimulated with 10 ng/mL IL-1 $\beta$  for 0, 15, 30, and 60 min. IL-1 $\beta$  signaling was analysed by the phosphorylation of ERR (p-ERK) to total amount of ERK (ERK). The left panel shows a representative western blot. The right panel shows the respective quantitative analysis (N = 4). Soluble Sdc4 had no effect on IL-1 signaling.

# Discussion

A role of the heparan sulfate proteoglycan Sdc4 has been well established in the pathophysiology of OA. It was shown to be expressed under inflammatory conditions and in hypertrophic chondrocytes [86, 116]. Further, the deficiency, as well as blocking Sdc4 using a polyclonalantibody, decreased OA-like cartilage changes in a murine surgically induced OA model. The ectodomain of Sdc4 can be cleaved off, resulting in a soluble form of Sdc4. This process is called shedding. Shedding of Sdc4 is an important process that is involved in several diseases [91]. However, the shedding of Sdc4 in OA has hardly been looked at. Therefore, the main goal of this thesis was to investigate the shedding of Sdc4 in the pathogenesis of OA.

#### 4.1 There is no gender specific difference in Sdc4 shedding in OA

In the first part of the study, the presence and levels of shed Sdc4 in the synovial fluid of knee OA patients was investigated. The results indicated that Sdc4 shedding indeed occurred in the knee joint, and the shed ectodomain of Sdc4 was detectable in the synovial fluid (Fig. 3.2). So far, no studies have been conducted that analyzed the amount of shed Sdc4 in the synovial fluid of OA patients or synovial fluid. However, the presence of shed Sdc4 in synovial fluid was expected as both articular chondrocytes [115], and synovial fibroblasts [111] express Sdc4, and the shedding of Sdc4 happens constitutively [177].

Western blot analysis proved that only the extracellular domain of Sdc4 was present in the synovial fluid in OA patients, thereby excluding contamination of cells that express Sdc4 leading to false-positive results (Fig. 3.2A). Using an ELISA against the extracellular domain of Sdc4 revealed that shed Sdc4 was increased with increasing OA severity (Fig. 3.3A). OA severity was assessed by using the radiographic KL score (Fig. 1.1+3.1).

Gender is one of the risk factors in the development of OA, with women having a higher risk of

developing knee OA than men [178]. Further, Sdc4 shedding was gender-specific regulated in patients with myocardial infarction [179]. In that study, women had a stronger association of serum Sdc4 levels and incident myocardial infarction than men. Hence, in the beginning, I checked whether shed Sdc4 level in knee OA patients' synovial fluid showed gender-specific differences (Fig. 3.3B). Only 25 percent of the included patients were men, corroborating the fact that knee OA is more prevalent in women than in men [180]. The samples analyzed in the study were collected consecutively without regarding the sex of the donor. In comparison to other publications the percentage of affected men is relatively low in my cohort [181]. Nevertheless, taking into account the gender of the donors, the overall amounts of shed Sdc4 showed very similar distributions in both populations (Fig. 3.3B). The distribution of shed Sdc4 levels in the female cohort showed a slightly higher median value compared to the male samples. However, this gender specific difference is not significant. This difference might be due to the limited amount of male samples in the KL 4 group. Unfortunately, the male KL 4 subgroup only had one patient (Fig. 3.3C). The reason for the low number of male patients in the KL4 group might be explained by the review by Hame and Alexander indicating that even though women have a higher prevalence of developing OA, they underutilize total knee arthroplasty compared to men [182]. Further, the study showed that women have a lower functional and higher disease score at the timepoint of surgery. The authors explained those differences between the two genders by an unconscious bias of physicians to recommend knee arthroplasty more frequently to men than to women. They presented that the chances of a male patient to get a recommendation for total knee arthroplasty by an orthopedic surgeon are 22 times higher than for a woman [182, 183]. The data presented in this thesis might reflect this discrepancy. Comparing the levels of shed Sdc4 regarding the KL score of the male and female subgroups, both groups showed a similar upregulation within increasing KL score (Fig. 3C+D), therefore the gender was disregarded in further analyses.

#### 4.2 Assessing the state of OA progression by levels of shed Sdc4

Shed Sdc4 has previously been proposed to be a possible biomarker for other diseases [91], such as different forms of pneumonia [135, 137, 184] or for heart failure in patients with hypertension [138, 139]. Further, the synovial fluid of OA patients was already a frequent object of investigation in the quest for new biomarkers [78]. Therefore, the hypothesis was put

forward that shed Sdc4 in synovial fluid might be a suitable marker to assess the state of OA progression in patients with OA symptoms.

When assessing the suitability of shed Sdc4 in the synovial fluid to mirror cartilage changes of OA patients, the ability to distinguish between early (KL 1-2) and late (KL 3-4) OA was evaluated (Fig. 3.4A+B). The late OA group showed a significant increase in shed Sdc4 (Fig. 3.4A). The ROC curve plots the sensitivity of every possible cut off of the two groups against the respective inverted specificity. The AUC thereby serves as the performance analysis of the marker. In general, the higher the value under the curve, the better the marker. Shed Sdc4 in synovial fluid had an AUC of 0.72 (Fig. 3.4B). Several biomarkers were already proposed for the diagnosis of OA. The cleavage products of Coll2 and aggrecan were investigated as they mirror cartilage degradation. The collagen type II C-telopeptide (CTX-II) fragment presented as a suitable biomarker in urine and serum. In urine, CTX-II (uCTX-II) had an AUC of 0.82 when comparing healthy individuals with OA knee diagnosed patients [185]. In the terms of OA progression CTX-II was less suitable as a biomarker. Again, in urine, CTX-II presented an AUC of 0.63 in women when comparing its levels in patients with KL 0-1 to those with KL 2-5 [186]. CTX-II levels in serum of in patients with diagnosed OA compared to an age-matched healthy control group exhibited an AUC of 0.89. However, in this study they did not differentiate between the joint affected by OA [187]. Jung et al. saw differences in the usefulness of CTX-II as a biomarker for OA between hip OA and knee OA. The AUC of uCTX-II for hip OA patients was higher than for knee OA (0.92 vs. 0.82, respectively). In the synovial fluid of OA knee joints the collagenasegenerated neoepitope of Coll2 failed to detect injury-mediated OA onset [188]. The same study also investigated aggrecan-based biomarkers. In synovial fluid of knee OA patients, decreased levels of the glycosaminoglycan keratan sulfate side chain (KS) were detectable (AUC = 0.67) [188] compared to the control. Another approach was to measure circular RNA (circRNA) in the synovial fluid of OA patients compared to healthy controls. The cirRNA hascirc0102061 showed the most promising results with an AUC of 0.75 [189]. Hence, in synovial fluid, shed Sdc4 (AUC = 0.72) showed a similar performance compared to previously described potential biomarkers. In order to enhance the performance of shed Sdc4, it could be combined with other possible markers and thereby increase specificity and sensitivity.

However, the need of an arthroscopy to draw synovial fluid poses the risks of a microbial infection or microdamage and has to be performed by a specialist. Thus, a blood-based biomarker would be beneficial. Healthy serum samples, as well as serum samples from OA

patients, were analyzed for differences in their shed Sdc4 levels. No differences between healthy and OA were detectable (Fig. 3.4C). Also, among the different KL scores, no differences in serum shed Sdc4 were measurable (Fig. 3.4D). The levels of Sdc4 in the serum have been reported to be influenced by several processes in the body, such as physical exercise and glycogen levels [190] or different types of pneumonia [135, 136], as well as others, summarized in the review by Bertrand and Bollmann [91]. The mean values of healthy individuals were reported to be around 15-16 ng/mL, which were increased upon physical exercise (up to 30 ng/mL in some individuals) and in patients with pneumonia (20.3 and 25.2 ng/mL) [135, 184, 190]. In this study Sdc4 levels in serum were around 19-20 ng/mL, being a bit higher than the described baseline values of 15-16 ng/ml. However, the levels were still below the proposed pneumonia cutoff of 20.3 - 25.2. Therefore, OA-dependent changes of serum shed Sdc4 levels might either be masked by other tissue-specific Sdc4 shedding processes. Or it is also possible that OA dependent Sdc4 shedding is a local process, restricted to the affected joint and is not detectable systemically in the serum.

## 4.3 Increased Sdc4 shedding by MMP-9, derived from the synovial membrane

In my study I saw no increase of Sdc4 mRNA expression in cartilage or synovial membrane, indicating that the shedding rate is increased instead of the overall expression (Fig. 3.5). A recent publication by Sanchez et al. showed that, compared to non-hypertrophic chondrocytes, hypertrophy in chondrocytes leads to an increased expression of Sdc4, whereas the shedding rate was not increased by hypertrophy [116]. However, by looking at the synovial fluid, I assessed the contribution of all synovial tissues to Sdc4 shedding in the joint. Therefore, sheddases or Sdc4 from other tissues, such as the synovial membrane, might have contributed to the increased Sdc4 shedding in synovial fluid. Furthermore, Sanchez et al. only compared non-hypertrophic chondrocytes with hypertrophic chondrocytes from the same donors and the same KL scores [116], while I compared the Sdc4 expression among different KL scores to map the course of Sdc4 expression during OA progression. Therefore, the two studies do not necessarily contradict each other.

Another interesting fact that was visible during this study was that Sdc4 seemed to be more constitutively expressed in cartilage than in the synovial membrane (Fig. 3.5). Sdc4 was not detectable in several samples in the synovial membrane, while all samples of cartilage showed Sdc4 expression. Sanchez et al. also saw a higher variation of Sdc4 in inflamed synoviocytes, but the expression levels were, in accordance with this study, not significantly different from normal-reactive synoviocytes [116]. Other studies showed that inflammation increased Sdc4 in synovial fibroblast, [111, 121] indicating a more prominent role for Sdc4 expression in cartilage than was previously described, though contradictory results were reported. Some studies showed that Sdc4 was increased in OA [86, 115, 116], while others claimed reduced Sdc4 in OA cartilage [191].

In order to unravel the underlying mechanisms of Sdc4 shedding in OA, I looked at possible sheddases for Sdc4. The study by Manon-Jensen reported MMP-2, MMP-9, and MMP-14 as possible MMPs, mediating Sdc4 shedding. I decided to focus on MMP-2 and MMP-9, which both comprise the subfamily of gelatinases, as MMP-14 is a membrane-bound MMP [192], which makes it difficult to detect in synovial fluid. When looking at the levels of total MMP-2 and -9 in synovial fluid of OA, it was apparent that MMP-2 levels were around 500 times higher than total levels of MMP-9 (Fig. 3.6A+B). Moreover, the levels of MMP-9 were regulated in
the context of OA severity (Fig. 3.6A), while no relevant changes were seen in the levels of MMP-2 (Fig. 3.6B). These results might indicate that MMP-2 is needed for the healthy cartilage turnover, while MMP-9 is only upregulated under pathological conditions. Moreover, a correlation between the levels of shed Sdc4 and MMP-9 was found (Fig. 3.6 D), which indicates that MMP-9 might be partly responsible for Sdc4 shedding during knee OA. In other cell types and diseases, MMP-9 was previously suggested to be involved in Sdc4 shedding [124, 129, 193], which supports my hypothesis that MMP-9 is a relevant sheddase for Sdc4 in OA. Further, the KL score-dependent increases in MMP-9 mRNA in synovial membrane also supports this connection (Fig. 3.7B). Like Sdc4, the regulation of MMP-9 in OA was contradictorily described in previous publications. Most of these measured levels of total MMP-9 in synovial fluid of OA patients and compared them to different types of arthritis, such as RA [169, 194, 195, 196]. From these studies, it became clear that MMP-9 has much higher expression in inflammatory rheumatoid arthritis, measured with zymography [195, 196] or ELISA [169, 194]. The studies of Tchetverikov et al. and Kim et al. detected MMP-9 in OA synovial fluid, while Makowski et al. and Hsieh et al. did not detect any MMP-9 in synovial fluid. This contradiction is most likely based on the use of zymography, which is a less sensitive detection method, which may not have been able to detect small amounts of MMP-9. Tchetverikov et al. also showed that MMP-9 levels were increased in OA synovial fluid compared to controls obtained from traffic casualties [169]. This was confirmed by the study of Iwaki-Egawa, where OA synovial fluid was compared to synovial fluid aspirated from patients with non-inflammatory, non-hemorrhagic traumatic sport related injuries [172]. However, it has to be considered that joint trauma and injuries also induce inflammation and do not necessarily reflect the healthy synovial fluid composition. Two publications compared synovial fluid MMP-9 levels among different KL scores. A study by Sachdeva et al. showed decreased MMP-9 levels in the synovial fluid of KL4 OA patients, compared to KL2 and KL3, which was contradictory to my findings (Fig. 3.3A)[197]. Another study by Rübenhagen et al. described an increase in MMP-9 in synovial fluid when comparing KL1-2 with KL 3-4, which, however, was not significant [173]. These studies show that there might be a variation in MMP-9 synovial fluid levels of OA patients, depending on the affected joint, the control used, and maybe also the assessment technique. As the MMP-9 protein levels were upregulated in my cohort of knee OA patients with increasing OA severity (Fig. 3.6A), I assessed the ability of MMP-9 to discriminate between early and late OA. The resulting ROC curve gave an AUC of 0.62, which was considerably worse than shed

Sdc4 (AUC = 0.72) (Fig. 3.7B+3.4B). This result is more or less in line with the previous studies on MMP-9 synovial fluid levels, as MMP-9 alone does not seem to be a potent biomarker for the prediction of OA severity.

In contrast to MMP-9 levels in synovial fluid, mRNA levels [165, 198] and protein expression [144, 165] are almost exclusively reported to be upregulated in OA compared to control groups. OA cartilage was compared with non-OA controls (patients with femoral neck fracture or post-mortem) and the regulation between different stages of OA was barely looked at. One publication looked at different OA severities and found the highest amounts of MMP-9 mRNA in early to intermediate OA [199], while the study by Söder et al. compared early to severe OA and saw the highest expression of MMP-9 in severe OA [165]. On the other hand, I observed no differences between mRNA expression in cartilage between patients with KL1-2 and KL3 or KL4 (Fig. 3.8A). However, MMP-9 mRNA expression was increased in synovial membrane. These results show that MMP-9 seems to be disease dependently upregulated in OA joint tissues; however, a variation depending on the exact disease entity (affected joint, subtype of OA or used control) needs to be considered. MMP-2 levels in synovial fluid are, similar to MMP-9, inconsistent. Even though MMP-2 was always present, MMP-2 levels were reported not to change [173], while others saw an upregulation by MMP-2 in OA [169], both measured with an ELISA. The previously mentioned study by Rübenhagen et al., which compared MMP-2 synovial fluid levels with different KL scores, showed similar results to those obtained in this study (Fig. 3.6B). They showed a much higher amount of MMP-2 compared to MMP-9 levels that did not change during OA progression [173]. Again, these data indicate that the use of MMP-2 as marker for OA severity is not the best choice. There seems to be a marked interindividual variance in MMP-2, but also MMP-9 levels, which cannot be explained simply by the grade of radiological OA severity. Recently, a great effort was made in determining subtypes of OA in order to improve personalized treatment for each patient [72, 200].

It was shown that MMP-9 is highly increased in the synovial fluid of RA patients compared to OA patients [194]. The same study showed that MMP-2, for example, is also increased in RA, but considerably less than MMP-9. This might indicate that MMP-9 upregulation, and thereby Sdc4 shedding could be dependent on inflammatory stimuli. Further, Sdc4 is also described to be NF- $\kappa$ B-dependent upregulated upon IL-1 $\beta$  stimulation [112]. Although OA is not a primarily an inflammatory condition, an intensive database search (spanning 6085 patients) by Marty et al. revealed inflammatory flare ups in 52.3 % of knee OA patients [201].

These results might suggest that MMP-9 levels, as well as shed Sdc4, could help to diagnose an inflammatory subtype. Moreover, ongoing work by Sonia Nasi [202] could connect chondrocalcinosis (CC), which is an inflammatory form of cristallopathy, with increased Sdc4 and MMP-9 expression. Further, it was shown that CC is strongly associated with knee OA [203]. This could also be an interesting subtype of OA that might be detectable via levels of shed Sdc4.

#### 4.4 Decreased IL-1 signaling via MMP-9-mediated Sdc4 shedding

In the first two parts, Sdc4 shedding, as well as MMP-9 expression was associated with OA pathology. Therefore, the last part of this study verified MMP-9 as sheddase for Sdc4 in OA, and possible functions of Sdc4 shedding in OA were addressed. It is known that Sdc4 is involved in various physiological processes such as angiogenesis [97], blood pressure regulation [98], and wound healing [99], but also pathophysiological processes such as tumor progression [204, 205] or OA [86]. The same applies to the shedding of Sdc4. For example, a very recent study presented a protective role for Sdc4 in fibrosis development in the heart. The study proposed that Sdc4 protects osteopontin from being cleaved by thrombin, which is a profibrotic mechanism, as the cleaved osteopontin was shown to induce collagen expression in cardiac fibroblasts. This protective function was lost when the ectodomain of Sdc4 was shed [206]. Similarly, Ramnath et al. showed that in early diabetic kidney disease blocking the shedding of Sdc4 restores the endothelial glycocalyx and glomerular filtration barrier function [134]. On the other side, the presence of Sdc4 can also aggravate cellular responses. It was proposed that the upregulation of Sdc4 in the eutopic endometrium of endometriosis patients is connected to promoting invasive cell growth [114]. Moreover, Sdc4 upregulation is repeatedly connected with inflammation. Recently it was shown that Sdc4 dimerization is crucial for trafficking and signaling of the IL-1R1 [111]. As the functional roles of Sdc4 can be so varied, it is of importance to fully understand the role of Sdc4 in OA. Therefore, possible functions of Sdc4 shedding in chondrocytes were investigated.

In order to do so, MMP-9-mediated Sdc4 shedding was verified by inhibiting shedding through a MMP-9 inhibitor and siRNA for MMP-9. Partial inhibition of Sdc4 shedding was achieved using the MMP-9 inhibitor. However, a visible effect was only reached with a concentration of 5  $\mu$ M (Fig. 3.10A), while the IC50 value of the inhibitor, as stated by the manufacturer's datasheet, was 5 nM. The MMP-2 inhibitor did not affect the Sdc4 shedding, not even with a concentration of 50  $\mu$ M, which is 25,000 times its half maximal inhibitory concentration (IC50 = 12 nM, according to datasheet)(Fig. 3.10B). The MMP-9 inhibitor reduced the amount of shed Sdc4 in the supernatant of cultured C28 chondrocytes (Fig. 3.10A). Further, it attenuated APMA induced Sdc4 shedding (Fig. 3.10C). The results suggest that MMP-9 could be involved in the basal and inflammation-induced shedding of Sdc4. Interestingly, the influence of MMP-9 inhibition seems to be more prominent with a higher IL-1 $\beta$  concentration, as the inhibitor mitigated the increase in Sdc4 shedding, especially at 1 ng/mL, compared to 0.1 ng/mL (Fig. 3.10D). This finding is supported by previous studies, which showed that MMP-9 was NF- $\kappa$ B dependently upregulated by IL-1 $\beta$  in rat articular chondrocytes [207]. Further, it was also previously described that IL-1 $\beta$  does increase Sdc4 shedding [120, 129]. The selectivity of MMP inhibitors is frequently questioned, especially when they are used in higher amounts as the indicated IC50 value. Therefore, in the next step, MMP-9 was knocked down using siRNA for MMP-9 (Fig. 3.11). Using primary chondrocytes, a knockdown of 66 % compared to cells treated with the control siRNA was achieved (Fig. 3.11A). In accordance with the results obtained with the MMP-9 inhibitor, the knockdown decreased IL-1 $\beta$  dependent Sdc4 shedding. Indicating that, indeed, MMP-9 is involved in Sdc4 shedding. As MMP-9 inhibition or knockout only inhibited the Sdc4 shedding partially, other sheddases are most likely involved.

Sheddases such as MMP-14 or plasmin and thrombin could play a role in basal, as well as inflammation induced Sdc4 shedding. To get the whole picture of Sdc4 shedding in OA, further experiments will be needed to investigate all potential sheddases [122, 131]. Moreover, MMP-14 was associated with OA [156, 157], and was shown to degrade ECM components [208]. But mostly it was described to be involved in the activation of other MMPs, such as MMP-2 [158] and MMP-9 [159, 160]. Plasmin [209] was likewise reported to be connected to OA. Plasmin was shown to be increased in immunohistological stainings of cartilage and synovial membrane in a surgically induced canine OA model [210]. Additionally, the plasminogen activators were reported to be upregulated in OA [211]. Further, plasmin has been reported to activate MMP-2 and MMP-9 [212]. Also thrombin has been connected to cartilage degradation in OA. It was shown to induce proteoglycan release in the degradation of bovine and human OA cartilage [213]. Moreover, it was shown to promote MMP-13 expression in human chondrocytes [214]. Those above mentioned sheddases could also play a role in mediating Sdc4 shedding in OA, as all of them have been associated with OA disease progression.

In this study I used two methods to increase Sdc4 shedding, and thereby study the involvement of MMP-2 and -9, as well as possible functions of Sdc4 shedding. One method is the addition of APMA, an organomercurial activator of MMPs, which activates MMPs by the disrupting bonds inside the 3D structure of the enzymes. APMA is not capable of activating all MMPs, but MMP-2, as well as MMP-9, is activated by APMA, which was confirmed in this study by gelatin zymography (Fig. 3.12A). This technique provides information about the ratio of inactive to

active MMP-2 and MMP-9. Interestingly, the zymography reflected the results obtained from the ELISAs discussed before. It showed that the chondrocyte cell line produced more MMP-2 than MMP-9. However, on a basal level, more MMP-9 was active compared to MMP-2, which showed no active form. Nevertheless, some MMP-2 might have been active, but the levels were below the detection limit of the zymography. It could be seen that upon addition of APMA, MMP-2, as well as MMP-9, were proteolytically processed, resulting in a smaller and potentially active protein. Moreover, the zymography showed that neither the MMP-2 inhibitor, nor the MMP-9 inhibitor, nor the combination of both interferes with this proteolytic process (Fig. 3.12A). Therefore APMA was proven to be a suitable approach to induced Sdc4 shedding. The study by Godman et al. showed that IL-1 $\beta$  directly binds to Sdc4. Sdc4 regulates its receptor (IL-1R1) presentation at the membrane surface and through that modulates IL-signaling. Sdc4 deficiency or inhibition by a specific antibody reduced IL-1 signaling in fibroblasts and chondrocytes. Therefore, I investigated whether Sdc4 shedding might have similar effects on IL-1 signaling. Hence, shedding was induced in C28 chondrocytes, and its impact on IL-1 $\beta$ signaling was investigated. The results of this experiment showed less phosphorylation of ERK, thus less IL-1 signaling, after APMA-induced Sdc4 shedding (Fig. 3.12B). A similar effect on ERK phosphorylation was seen in chondrocytes and fibroblasts from Sdc4 deficient mice [86, 111], showing that Sdc4 shedding has a similar effect on IL-1 signaling to its complete absence. Additionally, less IL-1 signaling based on Sdc4 deficiency resulted in less MMP-3 and ADAMTS-5 activation, which are both important mediators of cartilage destruction [86, 111]. Combining the results from this study with the data presented by Godmann et al. and Echtermeyer et al., IL-1 $\beta$ -dependent increased MMP-9 levels seem to regulate the responsiveness of chondrocytes towards IL-1 $\beta$  by mediating Sdc4 shedding. Previously in this study, I presented that MMP-9 expression was increased in the synovial membrane, but not in cartilage samples in my knee OA cohort. A study by Dreier et al. suggested that especially macrophages produced pro-MMP9, while proteases (MMP-3, MMP-13) expressed by OA chondrocytes were necessary for the activation of MMP-9 during OA. These data suggest that increased production of MMP-3 and MMP-13 in OA chondrocytes can activate MMP-9. This would desensitize chondrocytes towards IL-1 $\beta$  signaling by an increased shedding of Sdc4, which in turn would again result in less MMP-3 expression, as MMP-3 is downstream of IL-1 [86].

As it was shown that IL-1 $\beta$  can directly bind to the extracellular domain of Sdc4 [111], the final part investigated whether the shed Sdc4 might work as a decoy receptor for IL-1, and through

that reduces the binding of IL-1 $\beta$  to the cell bound Sdc4 protein and the IL-1R1. The addition of the extracellular domain of Sdc4, however, had no effect on IL-1 $\beta$  signal transduction. This showed that indeed the absence of the extracellular domain of Sdc4 through increased shedding regulated the responsiveness of chondrocytes towards IL-1 $\beta$ , but not the shed form of Sdc4.

One limitation of this study was that no synovial fluid of healthy probands was available; therefore the basal amount of shed Sdc4 in the synovial fluid could not be determined, and it was not possible to conclude whether Sdc4 is already upregulated in the early stages of OA in comparison to a healthy cohort. The same was true for the mRNA analyses of synovial membrane and articular cartilage samples analysis. Obtaining healthy samples of synovial fluid, synovial membrane or cartilage is a major problem in OA studies in general. Samples that were analyzed in other studies and declared as "healthy controls" mainly originated from patients with traumatic injuries, which do not necessarily have to mirror healthy conditions. The healthy knee joint exhibits only small amounts of synovial fluid and the risk of infection is too high to draw synovial fluid from healthy probands. The use of animal models would be the only solution for this general problem. However, in this case the question would be how similar human OA would be to the animal model.

### **5** Conclusion and outlook

#### 5.1 Conclusion and Outlook

This study demonstrates for the first time that levels of shed Sdc4 are increased in synovial fluid depending on the OA severity, and proposes shed Sdc4 as a suitable biomarker in synovial fluid for the assessment of the OA severity.

Nevertheless, three major questions remain to be answered that were not possible to be addressed by this study. First, healthy control samples are necessary to investigate whether the amount of shed Sdc4 can distinguish between healthy knee joints and early OA. Second, it would be interesting whether shed Sdc4 can represent OA progression in individual patients. Therefore, collecting several samples of synovial fluid at different time points during the disease process of individual patients would be necessary. Last, as it was reported that Sdc4 might only be increased in OA knee, but not in the hip or shoulder, synovial fluid of other OA joints needs to be examined.

Further, it would be interesting to see whether shed Sdc4 might correlate with other proposed biomarkers, and through combining different biomarkers increase the specificity and selectivity. Moreover, this study presents MMP-9 as one of the major sheddases in Sdc4 shedding in the OA knee joint. However, other sheddases must also be involved which need to be investigated (plasmin, thrombin, MMP-14). Also activity studies of MMP-2 and MMP-9 in human synovial fluid might give a better insight into Sdc4 shedding in OA, as well as immunohistological studies for the extracellular and intracellular part of Sdc4 in cartilage and synovial membrane to better assess the source of the shed Sdc4 in the synovial fluid.

In conclusion, in this study shed Sdc4 was presented for the first time as a possible biomarker for knee OA severity, while MMP-9 was shown to be a sheddase in Sdc4 shedding in OA.

Moreover, it was shown that IL-1 signaling can be modulated by Sdc4 shedding, displaying a possible role for the increased shedding in OA.

## A

#### Abbreviations

Meaning
Degree Celcius
Anterior cruciate ligament
A Disintegrin and Metalloproteinase with Thrombospondin motifs
4-Aminophenylmercuric acetate
water
Area under the curve
base pairs
Bovine serum albumin
Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 5
Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
Carbon dioxide
Collgagen type II
The peptide Coll2-1 (108HRGYPGLDG116)
nitrated form of Coll2-1 (108HRGYPGLDG116)
cartilage oligomeric matrix protein
cyclooxygenase-2
chondroitin sulfate 846 epitope
Proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase Src
C-terminal cross-linked telopeptide of type II collagen
Dalton
Diethylpyrocarbonate
Dulbecco's modified eagle's medium
destabilization of the medial meniscus

Acronym	Meaning
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTP	Deoxynucleotide
DTT	Dithiothreitol
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence
ECM	Extra cellular membrane
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase
FCS	Fetal calf serum
FGF	Fibroblast Growth Factor
g	Gravity
GAG	Glycosaminoglycans
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyd-3-phophate-dehydrogenase
h	Hours
H2O	Water
HA	Hyaluronic acid
HCl	Hydrochloric acid
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
HSPGs	Heparan sulfate proteoglycan
Hz	Hertz
IFTA	interstitial fibrosis/tubular atrophy
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
IL-1	Interleukin
IL-1R1	Interleukin-1 receptor type I
JNK	C-Jun-N-terminale Kinase
JNS	Joint Space Narrowing
kb	Kilobase
KL	Kellgren-Lawrence
L	Liter
m	Milli
Μ	Molar
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MMP	Matrix Metalloproteinases
mRNA	messenger RNA

Acronym	Meaning
min	Minutes
n	Nano
NF-κB	Nuclear factor 'kappa-light-chain-enhancer' of activated B-cells
N-terminal	Amino-terminal
OA	Osteoarthritis
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PEP	processed eggshell membrane powder
pERK	phosphorylated Extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
РКСα	Protein kinase C alpha
RhoG	Ras homology Growth-related
PIIICP	procollagen type II C-terminal propeptide
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ROC	receiver operating characteristic
rpm	Rounds per minute
RT	Room temperature
RT-PCR	Reverse Transcriptase PCR
S	Seconds
Sdc	Syndecan
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
TBS	Tris-buffered saline
TLR	Toll-like Rezeptoren
TNF- $\alpha$	tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$
U	Units
V	Volt
v/v	Volume by volume
w/v	Weight by volume
Wnt-3a	Wnt Family Member 3A
WT	Wild type
YKL-40	Chitinase-3-like protein 1
μ	Micro

# B

### List of Figures

1.1	Changes in the OA knee joint	2
1.2	The Kellgren-Lawrence classification scale	8
1.3	Classification of different phenotypes in OA	9
1.4	The members and structure of the Syndecan family	12
1.5	Reported shedding sites in Sdc4	16
3.1	Representative photographs of different Kellgren-Lawrence scores	42
3.2	Shed ectodomain of Sdc4 is present in the synovial fluid of OA arthroplasty patients	43
3.3	Shed Sdc4 is upregulated depending on the OA degree, but independent of the	
	gender	45
3.4	Shed Sdc4 is a marker for distinguishing between early and late OA in synovial	
	fluid, but not serum	47
3.5	No differences in Sdc4 mRNA expression level	48
3.6	MMP-9, but not MMP-2, is increased in synovial fluid	50
3.7	Levels of total MMP-9 cannot discriminate early from late OA	51
3.8	Increased MMP-9 mRNA expression in synovial membrane	52
3.9	MMP-2 expression on mRNA level did not change in cartilage nor synovial mem-	
	brane	53
3.10	MMP-9 inhibitor reduced APMA and IL-1 $\beta$ induced Sdc4 shedding $\ldots$	56
3.11	MMP-9 knockdown with siRNA decreases Sdc4 shedding	58

3.12 Decreased IL-1 signaling through Sdc4 deficiency by increased shedding .... 60



2.1	Equipment	23
2.2	Buffers and solutions	24
2.3	Human primers used for Real-Time RT-PCR	26
2.4	Primary antibodies for western blot	26
2.5	Secondary antibodies	26
2.6	Recombinant Proteins	27
2.7	Reagents Reverse Transcription	29
2.8	Protocol Reverse Transcription	30
2.9	Reagents Real-Time PCR	30
2.10	Protocol PCR	30
2.11	Reagents semiquantitative PCR	31
2.12	Composition of 10 % SDS PAGE; separating gel	35
2.13	Composition stacking gel	36
2.14	ELISAs	37
2.15	Gelatin SDS PAGE	37

# Bibliography

- [1] WHO | Chronic rheumatic conditions. WHO, 2016.
- [2] Clémence Palazzo, Christelle Nguyen, Marie Martine Lefevre-Colau, François Rannou, and Serge Poiraudeau. Risk factors and burden of osteoarthritis. *Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, 59(3):134–138, 6 2016.
- [3] Marita Cross, Emma Smith, Damian Hoy, Sandra Nolte, Ilana Ackerman, Marlene Fransen, Lisa Bridgett, Sean Williams, Francis Guillemin, Catherine L. Hill, Laura L. Laslett, Graeme Jones, Flavia Cicuttini, Richard Osborne, Theo Vos, Rachelle Buchbinder, Anthony Woolf, and Lyn March. The global burden of hip and knee osteoarthritis: Estimates from the Global Burden of Disease 2010 study. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 73(7):1323–1330, 7 2014.
- [4] David J Hunter and David T Felson. Clinical review Osteoarthritis. *Bmj*, 332(March):639–642, 2006.
- [5] Alice J. Sophia Fox, Asheesh Bedi, and Scott A. Rodeo. The basic science of articular cartilage: Structure, composition, and function. *Sports Health*, 1(6):461–468, 11 2009.
- [6] R. Schneiderman, D. Keret, and A. Maroudas. Effects of mechanical and osmotic pressure on the rate of glycosaminoglycan synthesis in the human adult femoral head cartilage: An in vitro study. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, 4(4):393–408, 1 1986.
- [7] Abbie L.A. Binch, Irving M. Shapiro, and Makarand V. Risbud. Syndecan-4 in intervertebral disc and cartilage: Saint or synner? *Matrix Biology*, 52-54:355–362, 5 2016.
- [8] F. Mwale, P. Roughley, J. Antoniou, M. Alini, A. Hollander, T. Kirsch, and I. Stokes. Distinction between the extracellular matrix of the nucleus pulposus and hyaline cartilage: A requisite for tissue engineering of intervertebral disc. *European Cells and Materials*, 8:58–64, 2004.
- [9] J. Winslow Alford and Brian J. Cole. Cartilage restoration, part 1: Basic science, historical perspective, patient evaluation, and treatment options. *American Journal of Sports Medicine*, 33(2):295–306, 2 2005.

- [10] Zijun Zhang. Chondrons and the Pericellular Matrix of Chondrocytes. *Tissue Engineering* - *Part B: Reviews*, 21(3):267–277, 6 2015.
- [11] A. Robin Poole, Fred Nelson, Leif Dahlberg, Elena Tchetina, Masahiko Kobayashi, Tadashi Yasuda, Sheila Laverty, Ginette Squires, Toshihisa Kojima, William Wu, and R. Clark Billinghurst. Proteolysis of the collagen fibril in osteoarthritis. *Biochemical Society Symposium*, (70):115–123, 2003.
- [12] Mark A. Pattoli, John F. MacMaster, Kurt R. Gregor, and James R. Burke. Collagen and aggrecan degradation is blocked in interleukin-1-treated cartilage explants by an inhibitor of IκB kinase through suppression of metalloproteinase expression. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 315(1):382–388, 10 2005.
- [13] Peter J. Roughley. Biology of intervertebral disc aging and degeneration: Involvement of the extracellular matrix. *Spine*, 29(23):2691–2699, 12 2004.
- [14] L. Stefan Lohmander, Lynne M. Atley, Terri A. Pietka, and David R. Eyre. The Release of Crosslinked Peptides From Type II Collagen Into Human Synovial Fluid Is Increased Soon After Joint Injury and in Osteoarthritis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 48(11):3130– 3139, 11 2003.
- [15] Jesús Álvarez, Milagros Balbín, Fernando Santos, Marta Fernández, Susana Ferrando, and José Manuel López. Different bone growth rates are associated with changes in the expression pattern of types II and X collagens and collagenase 3 in proximal growth plates of the rat tibia. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 15(1):82–94, 2000.
- [16] Nurminskaya M and Linsenmayer TF. Identification and Characterization of Up-Regulated Genes During Chondrocyte Hypertrophy. *Developmental dynamics : an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists*, 206(3), 1996.
- [17] Thorsten Kirsch and Klaus von der Mark. Remodelling of collagen types I, II and X and calcification of human fetal cartilage. *Bone and Mineral*, 18(2):107–117, 1992.
- [18] C. M. Thomas, C. J. Fuller, C. E. Whittles, and M. Sharif. Chondrocyte death by apoptosis is associated with cartilage matrix degradation. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 15(1):27–34, 1 2007.
- [19] Alexander Mathiessen and Philip G. Conaghan. Synovitis in osteoarthritis: Current understanding with therapeutic implications. *Arthritis Research and Therapy*, 19(1), 2 2017.
- [20] Carla R. Scanzello and Steven R. Goldring. The role of synovitis in osteoarthritis pathogenesis. *Bone*, 51(2):249–257, 8 2012.
- [21] Iván Prieto-Potin, Raquel Largo, Jorge A. Roman-Blas, Gabriel Herrero-Beaumont, and David A. Walsh. Characterization of multinucleated giant cells in synovium and subchondral bone in knee osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 16(1), 8 2015.

- [22] B. J.E. de Lange-Brokaar, A. Ioan-Facsinay, G. J.V.M. van Osch, A. M. Zuurmond, J. Schoones, R. E.M. Toes, T. W.J. Huizinga, and M. Kloppenburg. Synovial inflammation, immune cells and their cytokines in osteoarthritis: A review. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 20(12):1484–1499, 12 2012.
- [23] C. Deligne, S. Casulli, A. Pigenet, C. Bougault, L. Campillo-Gimenez, G. Nourissat, F. Berenbaum, C. Elbim, and X. Houard. Differential expression of interleukin-17 and interleukin-22 in inflamed and non-inflamed synovium from osteoarthritis patients. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 23(11):1843–1852, 11 2015.
- [24] Inge R. Klein-Wieringa, Badelog J.E. De Lange-Brokaar, Erlangga Yusuf, Stefan N. Andersen, Joanneke C. Kwekkeboom, Herman M. Kroon, Gerjo J.V.M. Van Osch, Anne Marie Zuurmond, Vedrana Stojanovic-Susulic, Rob G.H.H. Nelissen, Rene E.M. Toes, Margreet Kloppenburg, and Andreea Ioan-Facsinay. Inflammatory cells in patients with endstage knee osteoarthritis: A comparison between the synovium and the infrapatellar fat pad. *Journal of Rheumatology*, 43(4):771–778, 4 2016.
- [25] Mary B. Goldring. Chondrogenesis, chondrocyte differentiation, and articular cartilage metabolism in health and osteoarthritis. *Therapeutic Advances in Musculoskeletal Disease*, 4(4):269–285, 8 2012.
- [26] F. Berenbaum. Osteoarthritis as an inflammatory disease (osteoarthritis is not osteoarthrosis!). *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 21(1):16–21, 1 2013.
- [27] Sophie Lees, Suzanne B. Golub, Karena Last, Weiguang Zeng, David C. Jackson, Philip Sutton, and Amanda J. Fosang. Bioactivity in an aggrecan 32-mer fragment is mediated via toll-like receptor 2. *Arthritis and Rheumatology*, 67(5):1240–1249, 5 2015.
- [28] A. J. Freemont. Microscopic analysis of synovial fluid The perfect diagnostic test? *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 55(10):695–697, 1996.
- [29] Carl R. Flannery, Clare E. Hughes, Barbara L. Schumacher, Debbie Tudor, Margaret B. Aydelotte, Klaus E. Kuettner, and Bruce Caterson. Articular cartilage superficial zone protein (SZP) is homologous to megakaryocyte stimulating factor precursor and is a multifunctional proteoglycan with potential growth-promoting, cytoprotective, and lubricating properties in cartilage metabolism. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 254(3):535–541, 1 1999.
- [30] Gregory D. Jay, Umadevi Tantravahi, Deborah E. Britt, Hans J. Barrach, and Chung Ja Cha. Homology of lubricin and superficial zone protein (SZP): Products of megakaryocyte stimulating factor (MSF) gene expression by human synovial fibroblasts and articular chondrocytes localized to chromosome 1q25. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, 19(4):677–687, 2001.
- [31] G. D. Jay, Deborah E. Britt, and Chung Ja Cha. Lubricin Is a Product of Megakaryocyte Stimulating Factor Gene Expression by Human Synovial Fibroblasts - PubMed. *The Journal of rheumatology*, 27(3):594–600, 2000.
- [32] Scott R. Brannan and David A. Jerrard. Synovial fluid analysis. *Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 30(3):331–339, 4 2006.

- [33] K. A. Elsaid, B. C. Fleming, H. L. Oksendahl, J. T. Machan, P. D. Fadale, M. J. Hulstyn, R. Shalvoy, and G. D. Jay. Decreased lubricin concentrations and markers of joint inflammation in the synovial fluid of patients with anterior cruciate ligament injury. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 58(6):1707–1715, 6 2008.
- [34] Reuben Gobezie, Alvin Kho, Bryan Krastins, David A. Sarracino, Thomas S. Thornhill, Michael Chase, Peter J. Millett, and David M. Lee. High abundance synovial fluid proteome: Distinct profiles in health and osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Research and Therapy*, 9(2):R36, 4 2007.
- [35] T. Kobayashi, Y. Yoshihara, H. Yamada, and K. Fujikawa. Procollagen IIC-peptide as a marker for assessing mechanical risk factors of knee osteoarthritis: Effect of obesity and varus alignment. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 59(12):982–984, 2000.
- [36] Lich Thi Nguyen, Ashish Ranjan Sharma, Chiranjib Chakraborty, Balaji Saibaba, Moo Eob Ahn, and Sang Soo Lee. Review of prospects of biological fluid biomarkers in osteoarthritis. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 18(3), 3 2017.
- [37] Jian Guan, Liu Zhang, Feng Li, Jian Shu Feng, Hua Jun Wang, Jian Guo Chu, Yong Zhou Song, Lei Xie, and Luo Bin Ding. Increased synovial fluid YKL-40 levels are linked with symptomatic severity in knee osteoarthritis patients. *Clinical Laboratory*, 61(8):991–997, 2015.
- [38] F. E. Watt. Osteoarthritis biomarkers: year in review. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 26(3):312–318, 3 2018.
- [39] Zoltan Szekanecz and Alisa E. Koch. Cell-cell interactions in synovitis. Endothelial cells and immune cell migration. *Arthritis Research*, 2(5):368–373, 2000.
- [40] M. N. Farahat, G. Yanni, R. Poston, and G. S. Panayi. Cytokine expression in synovial membranes of patients with rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 52(12):870–875, 1993.
- [41] S. Ribel-Madsen, E. M. Bartels, A. Stockmarr, A. Borgwardt, C. Cornett, B. Danneskiold-Samsøe, and H. Bliddal. A Synoviocyte Model for Osteoarthritis and Rheumatoid Arthritis: Response to Ibuprofen, Betamethasone, and Ginger Extract—A Cross-Sectional In Vitro Study. *Arthritis*, (505842).
- [42] F. Massicotte, D. Lajeunesse, M. Benderdour, J. P. Pelletier, G. Hilal, N. Duval, and J. Martel-Pelletier. Can altered production of interleukin-1 $\beta$ , interleukin-6, transforming growth factor- $\beta$  and prostaglandin E2 by isolated human subchondral osteoblasts identity two subgroups of osteoarthritic patients. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 10(6):491–500, 2002.
- [43] Melchiorri C, Meliconi R, Frizziero L, Silvestri T, Pulsatelli L, Mazzetti I, Borzì RM, Uguccioni M, and Facchini A. Enhanced and Coordinated in Vivo Expression of Inflammatory Cytokines and Nitric Oxide Synthase by Chondrocytes From Patients With Osteoarthritis. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, 41(12), 1998.

- [44] Piotr Wojdasiewicz, Łukasz A. Poniatowski, and Dariusz Szukiewicz. The Role of Inflammatory and Anti-Inflammatory Cytokines in the Pathogenesis of Osteoarthritis. *Mediators of Inflammation*, 2014, 2014.
- [45] M. B. Sadouk, J. P. Pelletier, G. Tardif, K. Kiansa, J. M. Cloutier, and J. Martel-Pelletier. Human Synovial Fibroblasts Coexpress IL-1 Receptor Type I and Type II mRNA. The Increased Level of the IL-1 Receptor in Osteoarthritic Cells Is Related to an Increased Level of the Type I Receptor - PubMed. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology*, 73(3):347–355, 1995.
- [46] Johanne Martel-Pelletier, Robert Mccollum, John Dibattista, Marie-Pierre -P Faure, Jayne A. Chin, Sylvie Fournier, Marika Sarfati, and Jean-Pierre -P Pelletier. The interleukin-1 receptor in normal and osteoarthritic human articular chondrocytes. Identification as the type I receptor and analysis of binding kinetics and biologic function. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 35(5):530–540, 1992.
- [47] Johannes Stöve, Klaus Huch, Klaus Peter Günther, and Hanns Peter Scharf. Interleukin-1 $\beta$  induces different gene expression of stromelysin, aggrecan and tumor-necrosisfactor-stimulated gene 6 in human osteoarthritic chondrocytes in vitro. *Pathobiology*, 68(3):144–149, 2000.
- [48] Mehdi Shakibaei, Gundula Schulze-Tanzil, Thilo John, and Ali Mobasheri. Curcumin protects human chondrocytes from IL-1 $\beta$ -induced inhibition of collagen type II and  $\beta$ 1-integrin expression and activition of caspase-3: An immunomorphological study. *Annals of Anatomy*, 187(5-6):487–497, 2005.
- [49] Evan Meszaros and Charles J. Malemud. Prospects for treating osteoarthritis: Enzyme–protein interactions regulating matrix metalloproteinase activity. *Therapeutic Advances in Chronic Disease*, 3(5):219–229, 2012.
- [50] Mengshol JA, Vincenti MP, Coon CI, Barchowsky A, and Brinckerhoff CE. Interleukin-1 Induction of Collagenase 3 (Matrix Metalloproteinase 13) Gene Expression in Chondrocytes Requires p38, c-Jun N-terminal Kinase, and Nuclear Factor kappaB: Differential Regulation of Collagenase 1 and Collagenase 3. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, 43(4), 2000.
- [51] Matthew P. Vincenti and Constance E. Brinckerhoff. Transcriptional regulation of collagenase (MMP-1, MMP-13) genes in arthritis: Integration of complex signaling pathways for the recruitment of gene-specific transcription factors. *Arthritis Research*, 4(3):157– 164, 2002.
- [52] Priyanka Verma and Krishna Dalal. ADAMTS-4 and ADAMTS-5: Key enzymes in osteoarthritis. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 112(12):3507–3514, 12 2011.
- [53] Zhiqiang Ye, Yuxian Chen, Rongkai Zhang, Haitao Dai, Chun Zeng, Hua Zeng, Hui Feng, Gengheng Du, Hang Fang, and Daozhang Cai. c-jun N-terminal kinase - c-jun pathway transactivates Bim to promote osteoarthritis. *Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, 92(2):132–139, 2 2014.

- [54] M. J. López-Armada, B. Caramés, M. Lires-Deán, B. Cillero-Pastor, C. Ruiz-Romero, F. Galdo, and F. J. Blanco. Cytokines, tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  and interleukin-1 $\beta$ , differentially regulate apoptosis in osteoarthritis cultured human chondrocytes. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 14(7):660–669, 7 2006.
- [55] F. Heraud, A. Heraud, and M. F. Harmand. Apoptosis in normal and osteoarthritic human articular cartilage. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 59(12):959–965, 2000.
- [56] M Lotz, R Terkeltaub, and PM. Villiger. Cartilage and Joint Inflammation. Regulation of IL-8 Expression by Human Articular Chondrocytes - PubMed. *Journal of immunology* (*Baltimore, Md. : 1950*), 148(2):466–473, 1992.
- [57] L. Pulsatelli, P. Dolzani, A. Piacentini, T. Silvestri, R. Ruggeri, G. Gualtieri, R. Meliconi, and A. Facchini. Chemokine Production by Human Chondrocytes - PubMed. *The Journal of rheumatology*, 26(9):1992–2001, 1999.
- [58] P. A. Guerne, D. A. Carson, and M Lotz. IL-6 Production by Human Articular Chondrocytes. Modulation of Its Synthesis by Cytokines, Growth Factors, and Hormones in Vitro
  - PubMed. *ournal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)*, 144(2):499–505, 1990.
- [59] Thomas Aigner, Louise McKenna, Alexander Zien, Zhiyong Fan, Pia M. Gebhard, and Ralf Zimmer. Gene expression profiling of serum- and interleukin-1 $\beta$ -stimulated primary human adult articular chondrocytes A molecular analysis based on chondrocytes isolated from one donor. *Cytokine*, 31(3):227–240, 8 2005.
- [60] John P. Caron, Julio C. Fernandes, Johanne Martel-Pelletier, Ginette Tardif, François Mineau, Changshan Geng, and Jean Pierre Pelletier. Chondroprotective effect of intraarticular injections of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in experimental osteoarthritis: Suppression of collagenase-1 expression. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 39(9):1535–1544, 1996.
- [61] Jean Pierre Pelletier, John P. Caron, Christopher Evans, Paul D. Robbins, Helga I. Georgescu, Dragan Jovanovic, Julio C. Fernandes, and Johanne Martel-Pelletier. In vivo suppression of early experimental osteoarthritis by interleukin- 1 receptor antagonist using gene therapy. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 40(6):1012–1019, 1997.
- [62] Julio Fernandes, Ginette Tardif, Johanne Martel-Pelletier, Viorica Lascau-Coman, Martine Dupuis, Florina Moldovan, Mike Sheppard, B. Rajendra Krishnan, and Jean Pierre Pelletier. In vivo transfer of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist gene in osteoarthritic rabbit knee joints. Prevention of osteoarthritis progression. *American Journal of Pathology*, 154(4):1159–1169, 1999.
- [63] K. A. Kimmerling, B. D. Furman, D. S. Mangiapani, M. A. Moverman, S. M. Sinclair, J. L. Huebner, A. Chilkoti, V. B. Kraus, L. A. Setton, F. Guilak, and Steven A. Olson. Sustained intra-articular delivery of IL-1Ra from a thermally-responsive elastin-like polypeptide as a therapy for post-traumatic arthritis. *European Cells and Materials*, 29:124–140, 2015.
- [64] X. Chevalier, P. Goupille, A. D. Beaulieu, F. X. Burch, W. G. Bensen, T. Conrozier, D. Loeuille, A. J. Kivitz, D. Silver, and B. E. Appleton. Intraarticular injection of anakinra in osteoarthritis of the knee: A multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Arthritis Care and Research*, 61(3):344–352, 3 2009.

- [65] Steven P. Cohen, Nikolai Bogduk, Anthony Dragovich, Chester C. Buckenmaier, Scott Griffith, Connie Kurihara, Jo Lynne Raymond, Philip J. Richter, Necia Williams, and Tony L. Yaksh. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-response, and preclinical safety study of transforaminal epidural etanercept for the treatment of sciatica. *Anesthesiology*, 110(5):1116–1126, 5 2009.
- [66] Roy M. Fleischmann, Henning Bliddal, Francisco J. Blanco, Thomas J. Schnitzer, Charles Peterfy, Su Chen, Li Wang, Sheng Feng, Philip G. Conaghan, Francis Berenbaum, Jean Pierre Pelletier, Johanne Martel-Pelletier, Ole Vaeterlein, Gurjit S. Kaeley, Wei Liu, Matthew P. Kosloski, Gwen Levy, Lanju Zhang, Jeroen K. Medema, and Marc C. Levesque. A Phase II Trial of Lutikizumab, an Anti–Interleukin- $1\alpha/\beta$  Dual Variable Domain Immunoglobulin, in Knee Osteoarthritis Patients With Synovitis. *Arthritis and Rheumatology*, 71(7):1056–1069, 7 2019.
- [67] Weiya Zhang, M. Doherty, G. Peat, S. M.A. Bierma-Zeinstra, N. K. Arden, B. Bresnihan, G. Herrero-Beaumont, S. Kirschner, B. F. Leeb, L. S. Lohmander, B. Mazières, K. Pavelka, L. Punzi, A. K. So, T. Tuncer, I. Watt, and J. W. Bijlsma. EULAR evidence-based recommendations for the diagnosis of knee osteoarthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 69(3):483–489, 3 2010.
- [68] J. H. Kellgren and J. S. Lawrence. Radiological assessment of osteo-arthrosis. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*, 16(4):494–502, 12 1957.
- [69] D. Hayashi, F. W. Roemer, and A. Guermazi. Imaging for osteoarthritis. *Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*, 59(3):161–169, 6 2016.
- [70] Ali Mobasheri, Simo Saarakkala, Mikko Finnilä, Morten A. Karsdal, Anne Christine Bay-Jensen, and Willem Evert van Spil. Recent advances in understanding the phenotypes of osteoarthritis. *F1000Research*, 8, 2019.
- [71] Sita M.A. Bierma-Zeinstra and Arianne P. Verhagen. Osteoarthritis subpopulations and implications for clinical trial design. *Arthritis Research and Therapy*, 13(2):213, 4 2011.
- [72] J.H. Waarsing, S.M.A. Bierma-Zeinstra, and H. Weinans. Distinct Subtypes of Knee Osteoarthritis: Data From the Osteoarthritis Initiative - PubMed. *Rhmatology (Oxford)*, 54(9):1650–1658, 2015.
- [73] John D. Carter, Michelle Patelli, Scott R. Anderson, Neelesh Prakash, Ernesto J. Rodriquez, Helen Bateman, Ashley Sterrett, Joanne Valeriano, and Louis R. Ricca. An MRI assessment of chronic synovial-based inflammation in gout and its correlation with serum urate levels. *Clinical Rheumatology*, 34(2):345–351, 2015.
- [74] M. S. Harkey, B. A. Luc, Y. M. Golightly, A. C. Thomas, J. B. Driban, A. C. Hackney, and B. Pietrosimone. Osteoarthritis-related biomarkers following anterior cruciate ligament injury and reconstruction: A systematic review. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 23(1):1–12, 1 2015.
- [75] Teralyn E. Carter, Kevin A. Taylor, Charles E. Spritzer, Gangadhar M. Utturkar, Dean C. Taylor, Claude T. Moorman, William E. Garrett, Farshid Guilak, Amy L. McNulty, and Louis E. DeFrate. In vivo cartilage strain increases following medial meniscal tear and

correlates with synovial fluid matrix metalloproteinase activity. *Journal of Biomechanics*, 48(8):1461–1468, 6 2015.

- [76] Mukundan Attur, Ilana Belitskaya-Lévy, Cheongeun Oh, Svetlana Krasnokutsky, Jeffrey Greenberg, Jonathan Samuels, Stephen Smiles, Sicy Lee, Jyoti Patel, Hayf Al-Mussawir, Gary McDaniel, Virginia Byers Kraus, and Steven B. Abramson. Increased interleukin- $1\beta$  gene expression in peripheral blood leukocytes is associated with increased pain and predicts risk for progression of symptomatic knee osteoarthritis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 63(7):1908–1917, 7 2011.
- [77] Robert M. Califf. Biomarker definitions and their applications. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 243(3):213–221, 2 2018.
- [78] F. Saberi Hosnijeh, S. M. Bierma-Zeinstra, and A. C. Bay-Jensen. Osteoarthritis year in review 2018: biomarkers (biochemical markers). *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 27(3):412– 423, 3 2019.
- [79] Yves Henrotin, Raveendhara Bannuru, Michel Malaise, Hang Korng Ea, Cyrille Confavreux, Jacques Bentin, Didier Urbin-Choffray, Thierry Conrozier, Jean Pierre Brasseur, Philippe Thomas, Anne Christine Hick, Alessandro Marinello, Nicola Giordan, and Pascal Richette. Hyaluronan derivative HYMOVIS® increases cartilage volume and type ii collagen turnover in osteoarhritic knee: Data from MOKHA study. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 20(1), 6 2019.
- [80] Ali Mobasheri, Cecile Lambert, and Yves Henrotin. Coll2-1 and Coll2-1NO2 as exemplars of collagen extracellular matrix turnover–biomarkers to facilitate the treatment of osteoarthritis? *Expert Review of Molecular Diagnostics*, 19(9):803–812, 9 2019.
- [81] Linwei Xin, Zhihai Wu, Quanli Qu, Ruiying Wang, Jichun Tang, and Lei Chen. Comparative study of CTX-II, Zn2+, and Ca2+ from the urine for knee osteoarthritis patients and healthy individuals. *Medicine (United States)*, 96(32), 8 2017.
- [82] Piti Arunrukthavon, Danai Heebthamai, Prapasri Benchasiriluck, Supinda Chaluay, Thanainit Chotanaphuti, and Saradej Khuangsirikul. Can urinary CTX-II be a biomarker for knee osteoarthritis? *Arthroplasty*, 2(1):6, 12 2020.
- [83] Ruben Daniel Arellano, Lizette Sarai Aguilar, Rafael Argüello, Fernando Hernadez, Faviel Francisco Gonzalez, and Javier Moran. Cartilage oligomeric matrix protein levels in synovial fluid in patients with primary knee osteoarthritis and healthy controls: A preliminary comparative analysis with serum cartilage oligomeric matrix protein. Archives of Rheumatology, 32(3):189–196, 9 2017.
- [84] Tianwen Ma, Zhiheng Zhang, Xiaopeng Song, Hui Bai, Yue Li, Xinran Li, Jinghua Zhao, Yuanqiang Ma, and Li Gao. Combined detection of COMP and CS846 biomarkers in experimental rat osteoarthritis: A potential approach for assessment and diagnosis of osteoarthritis. *Journal of Orthopaedic Surgery and Research*, 13(1), 9 2018.
- [85] Kenneth P.H. Pritzker, S. Gay, S. A. Jimenez, K. Ostergaard, J. P. Pelletier, K. Revell, D. Salter, and W. B. van den Berg. Osteoarthritis cartilage histopathology: Grading and staging. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 14(1):13–29, 1 2006.

- [86] Frank Echtermeyer, Jessica Bertrand, Rita Dreier, Ingmar Meinecke, Katja Neugebauer, Martin Fuerst, Yun Jong Lee, Yeong Wook Song, Christine Herzog, Gregor Theilmeier, and Thomas Pap. Syndecan-4 regulates ADAMTS-5 activation and cartilage breakdown in osteoarthritis. *Nature medicine*, 15(9):1072–6, 9 2009.
- [87] J E Koda and M Bernfield. Heparan sulfate proteoglycans from mouse mammary epithelial cells. Basal extracellular proteoglycan binds specifically to native type I collagen fibrils. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 259(19):11763–70, 10 1984.
- [88] S. Saunders, M. Jalkanen, S. O'Farrell, and M. Bernfield. Molecular cloning of syndecan, an integrated membrane proteoglycan. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 108(4):1547–1556, 1989.
- [89] Thomas Pap and Jessica Bertrand. Syndecans in cartilage breakdown and synovial inflammation. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*, 9(1):43–55, 1 2013.
- [90] Sarama Sathyaseelan Deepa, Shuhei Yamada, Masahiro Zako, Olga Goldberger, and Kazuyuki Sugahara. Chondroitin sulfate chains on syndecan-1 and syndecan-4 from normal murine mammary gland epithelial cells are structurally and functionally distinct and cooperate with heparan sulfate chains to bind growth factors: A novel function to control binding of midkine, pleiotrophin, and basic fibroblast growth factor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(36):37368–37376, 9 2004.
- [91] J. Bertrand and M. Bollmann. Soluble syndecans: biomarkers for diseases and therapeutic options. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 176(1), 2019.
- [92] Sungmun Choi, Eunjung Lee, Soojin Kwon, Haein Park, Jae Youn Yi, Seungin Kim, Inn Oc Han, Yungdae Yun, and Eok Soo Oh. Transmembrane domain-induced oligomerization is crucial for the functions of syndecan-2 and syndecan-4. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(52):42573–42579, 12 2005.
- [93] D. J. Carey. Syndecans: Multifunctional cell-surface co-receptors. *Biochemical Journal*, 327(1):1–16, 1997.
- [94] C. W. Kim, O. A. Goldberger, R. L. Gallo, and M. Bernfield. Members of the syndecan family of heparan sulfate proteoglycans are expressed in distinct cell-, tissue-, and development-specific patterns. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 5(7):797–805, 1994.
- [95] Ferda Cevikbas, Liliana Schaefer, Philipp Uhlig, Horst Robenek, Gregor Theilmeier, Frank Echtermeyer, and Peter Bruckner. Unilateral nephrectomy leads to up-regulation of syndecan-2- and TGF-beta-mediated glomerulosclerosis in syndecan-4 deficient male mice. *Matrix Biology*, 27(1):42–52, 1 2008.
- [96] Jessica Bertrand, Richard Stange, Heriburg Hidding, Frank Echtermeyer, Giovanna Nalesso, Lars Godmann, Melanie Timmen, Peter Bruckner, Francesco Dell'Accio, Michael J Raschke, Thomas Pap, and Rita Dreier. Syndecan 4 supports bone fracture repair, but not fetal skeletal development, in mice. *Arthritis and rheumatism*, 65(3):743–52, 3 2013.
- [97] Thomas W. Chittenden, Filip Claes, Anthony A. Lanahan, Monica Autiero, Robert T. Palac, Eugene V. Tkachenko, Arye Elfenbein, Carmen Ruiz de Almodovar, Eduard Ded-kov, Robert Tomanek, Weiming Li, Michael Westmore, Jai Pal Singh, Arie Horowitz,

Mary Jo Mulligan-Kehoe, Karen L. Moodie, Zhen W. Zhuang, Peter Carmeliet, and Michael Simons. Selective Regulation of Arterial Branching Morphogenesis by Synectin. *Developmental Cell*, 10(6):783–795, 6 2006.

- [98] Chohreh Partovian, Rong Ju, Zhen W. Zhuang, Kathleen A. Martin, and Michael Simons. Syndecan-4 Regulates Subcellular Localization of mTOR Complex2 and Akt Activation in a PKCα-Dependent Manner in Endothelial Cells. *Molecular Cell*, 32(1):140–149, 10 2008.
- [99] Frank Echtermeyer, Michael Streit, Sarah Wilcox-Adelman, Stefania Saoncella, Fabienne Denhez, Michael Detmar, and Paul F. Goetinck. Delayed wound repair and impaired angiogenesis in mice lacking syndecan-4. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 107(2):R9, 2001.
- [100] Varpu Kainulainen, Huiming Wang, Charles Schick, and Merton Bernfield. Syndecans, heparan sulfate proteoglycans, maintain the proteolytic balance of acute wound fluids. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(19):11563–11569, 5 1998.
- [101] Eok Soo Oh, Anne Woods, and John R. Couchman. Multimerization of the cytoplasmic domain of syndecan-4 is required for its ability to activate protein kinase C. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(18):11805–11811, 5 1997.
- [102] Eugene Tkachenko and Michael Simons. Clustering induces redistribution of syndecan-4 core protein into raft membrane domains. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(22):19946–19951, 5 2002.
- [103] Ngocdiep Le and Michael A. Simon. Disabled Is a Putative Adaptor Protein That Functions during Signaling by the Sevenless Receptor Tyrosine Kinase. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 18(8):4844–4854, 8 1998.
- [104] J. Shin, W. Lee, D. Lee, B. K. Koo, I. Han, Y. Lim, A. Woods, J. R. Couchman, and E. S. Oh. Solution structure of the dimeric cytoplasmic domain of syndecan-4. *Biochemistry*, 40(29):8471–8478, 7 2001.
- [105] Nadja Jastrebova, Maarten Vanwildemeersch, Alan C. Rapraeger, Guillermo Giménez-Gallego, Ulf Lindahl, and Dorothe Spillmann. Heparan sulfate-related oligosaccharides in ternary complex formation with fibroblast growth factors 1 and 2 and their receptors. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(37):26884–26892, 9 2006.
- [106] Jacob Green, Ruth Goldberg, and Gila Maor. PTH ameliorates acidosis-induced adverse effects in skeletal growth centers: The PTH-IGF-I axis. *Kidney International*, 63(2):487– 500, 2003.
- [107] Fabienne Denhez, Sarah A. Wilcox-Adelman, Peter C. Baciu, Stefania Saoncella, Sohyung Lee, Becki French, Wendy Neveu, and Paul F. Goetinck. Syndesmos, a syndecan-4 cytoplasmic domain interactor, binds to the focal adhesion adaptor proteins paxillin and Hic-5. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(14):12270–12274, 4 2002.
- [108] Ssang Taek Lim, Robert L. Longley, John R. Couchman, and Anne Woods. Direct binding of syndecan-4 cytoplasmic domain to the catalytic domain of protein kinase Cα

(PKC $\alpha$ ) increases focal adhesion localization of PKC $\alpha$ . *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(16):13795–13802, 4 2003.

- [109] Mark R. Morgan, Hellyeh Hamidi, Mark D. Bass, Stacey Warwood, Christoph Ballestrem, and Martin J. Humphries. Syndecan-4 Phosphorylation Is a Control Point for Integrin Recycling. *Developmental Cell*, 24(5):472–485, 3 2013.
- [110] Mark D. Bass, Rosalind C. Williamson, Robert D. Nunan, Jonathan D. Humphries, Adam Byron, Mark R. Morgan, Paul Martin, and Martin J. Humphries. A Syndecan-4 Hair Trigger Initiates Wound Healing through Caveolin- and RhoG-Regulated Integrin Endocytosis. *Developmental Cell*, 21(4):681–693, 10 2011.
- [111] Lars Godmann, Miriam Bollmann, Adelheid Korb-Pap, Ulrich König, Joanna Sherwood, Denise Beckmann, Katja Mühlenberg, Frank Echtermeyer, James Whiteford, Giulia De Rossi, Thomas Pap, and Jessica Bertrand. Antibody-mediated inhibition of syndecan-4 dimerisation reduces interleukin (IL)-1 receptor trafficking and signalling. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 79(4):481–489, 4 2020.
- [112] Jianru Wang, Dessislava Markova, D. Greg Anderson, Zhaomin Zheng, Irving M. Shapiro, and Makarand V. Risbud. TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  promote a disintegrin-like and metalloprotease with thrombospondin type I motif-5-mediated aggrecan degradation through syndecan-4 in intervertebral disc. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(46):39738–39749, 11 2011.
- [113] Xin Wang, Hua Wang, Hao Yang, Jun Li, Qiqing Cai, Irving M. Shapiro, and Makarand V. Risbud. Tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  and interleukin-1 $\beta$ -dependent matrix metalloproteinase-3 expression in nucleus pulposus cells requires cooperative signaling via syndecan 4 and mitogen-activated protein kinase-NF- $\kappa$ B axis: Implications in inflammatory disc disease. *American Journal of Pathology*, 184(9):2560–2572, 2014.
- [114] Mari E. Strand, Kate M. Herum, Zaheer A. Rana, Biljana Skrbic, Erik T. Askevold, Christen P. Dahl, Maria Vistnes, Almira Hasic, Heidi Kvaløy, Ivar Sjaastad, Cathrine R. Carlson, Theis Tønnessen, Lars Gullestad, Geir Christensen, and Ida G. Lunde. Innate immune signaling induces expression and shedding of the heparan sulfate proteoglycan syndecan-4 in cardiac fibroblasts and myocytes, affecting inflammation in the pressure-overloaded heart. *FEBS Journal*, 280(10):2228–2247, 5 2013.
- [115] P. E. Barre, F. Redini, K. Boumediene, C. Vielpeau, and J. P. Pujol. Semiquantitative reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction analysis of syndecan-1 and -4 messages in cartilage and cultured chondrocytes from osteoarthritic joints. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 8(1):34–43, 2000.
- [116] Christelle Sanchez, Cécile Lambert, Jean Emile Dubuc, Jessica Bertrand, Thomas Pap, and Yves Henrotin. Syndecan-4 Is Increased in Osteoarthritic Knee, but Not Hip or Shoulder, Articular Hypertrophic Chondrocytes. *Cartilage*, 2019.
- [117] Maria De Santis, Berardo Di Matteo, Emanuele Chisari, Gilberto Cincinelli, Peter Angele, Christian Lattermann, Giuseppe Filardo, Nicolò Danilo Vitale, Carlo Selmi, and Elizaveta Kon. The Role of Wnt Pathway in the Pathogenesis of OA and Its Potential Therapeutic

Implications in the Field of Regenerative Medicine. *BioMed Research International*, 2018, 2018.

- [118] Zhe Xie, Mostafa Khair, Irfan Shaukat, Patrick Netter, Didier Mainard, Lydia Barré, and Mohamed Ouzzine. Non-canonical Wnt induces chondrocyte de-differentiation through Frizzled 6 and DVL-2/B-raf/CaMKIIα/syndecan 4 axis. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 25(8):1442–1456, 8 2018.
- [119] M. A. Birch and T. M. Skerry. Differential regulation of syndecan expression by osteosarcoma cell lines in response to cytokines but not osteotropic hormones. *Bone*, 24(6):571–578, 6 1999.
- [120] Xiahui Tan, Najwa Khalil, Candice Tesarik, Karunasri Vanapalli, Viki Yaputra, Hatem Alkhouri, Brian G. G. Oliver, Carol L. Armour, and J. Margaret Hughes. Th1 cytokineinduced syndecan-4 shedding by airway smooth muscle cells is dependent on mitogenactivated protein kinases. *American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology*, 302(7):L700–L710, 4 2012.
- [121] Adelheid Korb-Pap, Athanasios Stratis, Katja Mühlenberg, Birgit Niederreiter, Silvia Hayer, Frank Echtermeyer, Richard Stange, Jochen Zwerina, Thomas Pap, Hermann Pavenstädt, Georg Schett, Josef S. Smolen, and Kurt Redlich. Early structural changes in cartilage and bone are required for the attachment and invasion of inflamed synovial tissue during destructive inflammatory arthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 71(6):1004–1011, 6 2012.
- [122] Tina Manon-Jensen, Yoshifumi Itoh, and John R. Couchman. Proteoglycans in health and disease: The multiple roles of syndecan shedding. *FEBS Journal*, 277(19):3876–3889, 2010.
- [123] Jessica Pruessmeyer, Christian Martin, Franz M. Hess, Nicole Schwarz, Sven Schmidt, Tanja Kogel, Nicole Hoettecke, Boris Schmidt, Antonio Sechi, Stefan Uhlig, and Andreas Ludwig. A Disintegrin and metalloproteinase 17 (ADAM17) mediates inflammationinduced shedding of syndecan-1 and -4 by lung epithelial cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(1):555–564, 1 2010.
- [124] Severine Brule, Nathalie Charnaux, Angela Sutton, Dominique Ledoux, Thomas Chaigneau, Line Saffar, and Liliane Gattegno. The shedding of syndecan-4 and syndecan-1 from HeLa cells and human primary macrophages is accelerated by SDF-1/CXCL12 and mediated by the matrix metalloproteinase-9. *Glycobiology*, 16(6):488–501, 6 2006.
- [125] Gui Su, Stacy A. Blaine, Dianhua Qiao, and Andreas Friedl. Shedding of syndecan-1 by stromal fibroblasts stimulates human breast cancer cell proliferation via FGF2 activation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(20):14906–14915, 5 2007.
- [126] Qinglang Li, Pyong Woo Park, Carole L. Wilson, and William C. Parks. Matrilysin shedding of syndecan-1 regulates chemokine mobilization and transepithelial efflux of neutrophils in acute lung injury. *Cell*, 111(5):635–646, 11 2002.
- [127] Matheau A. Julien, Peiyi Wang, Carolyn A. Haller, Jing Wen, and Elliot L. Chaikof. Mechanical strain regulates syndecan-4 expression and shedding in smooth muscle cells

through differential activation of MAP kinase signaling pathways. *American Journal of Physiology - Cell Physiology*, 292(1):C517–C525, 1 2007.

- [128] Ofer Reizes, Olga Goldberger, April C. Smith, Zhiqiang Xu, Merton Bernfield, and Perry E. Bickel. Insulin promotes shedding of syndecan ectodomains from 3T3-L1 adipocytes: A proposed mechanism for stabilization of extracellular lipoprotein lipase. *Biochemistry*, 45(18):5703–5711, 5 2006.
- [129] Trine M. Reine, Francesca Lanzalaco, Oddrun Kristiansen, Anne Randi Enget, Simon Satchell, Trond G. Jenssen, and Svein O. Kolset. Matrix metalloproteinase-9 mediated shedding of syndecan-4 in glomerular endothelial cells. *Microcirculation*, 26(4), 5 2019.
- [130] Tina Manon-Jensen, Hinke A. B. Multhaupt, and John R. Couchman. Mapping of matrix metalloproteinase cleavage sites on syndecan-1 and syndecan-4 ectodomains. *FEBS Journal*, 280(10):2320–2331, 5 2013.
- [131] Annette Schmidt, Frank Echtermeyer, Anthony Alozie, Kerstin Brands, and Eckhart Buddecke. Plasmin- and thrombin-accelerated shedding of syndecan-4 ectodomain generates cleavage sites at Lys114-Arg115 and Lys 129-Val130 bonds. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(41):34441–34446, 10 2005.
- [132] Mari E. Strand, Jan Magnus Aronsen, Bjørn Braathen, Ivar Sjaastad, Heidi Kvaløy, Theis Tønnessen, Geir Christensen, and Ida G. Lunde. Shedding of syndecan-4 promotes immune cell recruitment and mitigates cardiac dysfunction after lipopolysaccharide challenge in mice. *Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology*, 88:133–144, 11 2015.
- [133] Tram T. Vuong, Sissel B. Rønning, Tamer A.E. Ahmed, Kristiane Brathagen, Vibeke Høst, Maxwell T. Hincke, Henri Pierre Suso, and Mona E. Pedersen. Processed eggshell membrane powder regulates cellular functions and increase MMP-activity important in early wound healing processes. *PLoS ONE*, 13(8), 8 2018.
- [134] Raina D. Ramnath, Matthew J. Butler, Georgina Newman, Sara Desideri, Amy Russell, Abigail C. Lay, Chris R. Neal, Yan Qiu, Sarah Fawaz, Karen L. Onions, Monica Gamez, Michael Crompton, Chris Michie, Natalie Finch, Richard J. Coward, Gavin I. Welsh, Rebecca R. Foster, and Simon C. Satchell. Blocking matrix metalloproteinase-mediated syndecan-4 shedding restores the endothelial glycocalyx and glomerular filtration barrier function in early diabetic kidney disease. *Kidney International*, 97(5):951–965, 5 2020.
- [135] Takefumi Nikaido, Yoshinori Tanino, Xintao Wang, Suguru Sato, Kenichi Misa, Naoko Fukuhara, Yuki Sato, Atsuro Fukuhara, Manabu Uematsu, Yasuhito Suzuki, Tetsuhito Kojima, Mishie Tanino, Yuichi Endo, Kohsuke Tsuchiya, Ikuo Kawamura, Charles W. Frevert, and Mitsuru Munakata. Serum Syndecan-4 as a Possible Biomarker in Patients With Acute Pneumonia. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 212(9):1500–1508, 11 2015.
- [136] Yuki Sato, Yoshinori Tanino, Xintao Wang, Takefumi Nikaido, Suguru Sato, Kenichi Misa, Ryuichi Togawa, Charles W Frevert, and Mitsuru Munakata. Baseline serum syndecan-4 predicts prognosis after the onset of acute exacerbation of idiopathic interstitial pneumonia. *PloS one*, 12(5):e0176789, 2017.

- [137] Qiongzhen Luo, Pu Ning, Yali Zheng, Ying Shang, Bing Zhou, and Zhancheng Gao. Serum suPAR and syndecan-4 levels predict severity of community-acquired pneumonia: A prospective, multi-centre study. *Critical Care*, 22(1), 1 2018.
- [138] Agata Bielecka-Dabrowa, Anna Gluba-Brzózka, Marta Michalska-Kasiczak, Małgorzata Misztal, Jacek Rysz, and Maciej Banach. The multi-biomarker approach for heart failure in patients with hypertension. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 16(5):10715– 10733, 5 2015.
- [139] Agata Bielecka-Dabrowa, Stephan von Haehling, Wilbert S. Aronow, Mustafa I. Ahmed, Jacek Rysz, and Maciej Banach. Heart failure biomarkers in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy. *International Journal of Cardiology*, 168(3):2404–2410, 10 2013.
- [140] Rieko Takahashi, Kazuaki Negishi, Atai Watanabe, Masashi Arai, Fumio Naganuma, Yoshiaki Ohyama, and Masahiko Kurabayashi. Serum syndecan-4 is a novel biomarker for patients with chronic heart failure. *Journal of Cardiology*, 57(3):325–332, 5 2011.
- [141] Momoko Nakao, Makoto Sugaya, Naomi Takahashi, Sayaka Otobe, Rina Nakajima, Tomonori Oka, Miyoko Kabasawa, Hiraku Suga, Sohshi Morimura, Tomomitsu Miyagaki, Hideki Fujita, Yoshihide Asano, and Shinichi Sato. Increased syndecan-4 expression in sera and skin of patients with atopic dermatitis. *Archives of Dermatological Research*, 308(9):655–660, 11 2016.
- [142] Andrzej J. Jaroszyński, Anna Jaroszyńska, Stanisław Przywara, Tomasz Zaborowski, Andrzej Ksiazek, and Wojciech Dabrowski. Syndecan-4 is an independent predictor of all-cause as well as cardiovascular mortality in hemodialysis patients. *PLoS ONE*, 11(9), 9 2016.
- [143] Yu-Mee Wee, Hae-Won Lee, Monica Young Choi, Hey Rim Jung, Ji Yoon Choi, Hyun Wook Kwon, Joo Hee Jung, Young Hoon Kim, Duck Jong Han, and Sung Shin. A composite of urinary biomarkers for differentiating between tubulointerstitial inflammation and interstitial fibrosis/tubular atrophy in kidney allografts. *Annals of Hepato-Biliary-Pancreatic Surgery*, 22(4):310, 2018.
- [144] Lipari Lipari and A. Gerbino. Expression of gelatinases (MMP-2, MMP-9) in human articular cartilage. *International Journal of Immunopathology and Pharmacology*, 26(3):817– 823, 7 2013.
- [145] Ning Cui, Min Hu, and Raouf A. Khalil. Biochemical and Biological Attributes of Matrix Metalloproteinases. *Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science*, 147:1–73, 2017.
- [146] P. K. Shah. Inflammation, metalloproteinases, and increased proteolysis: An emerging pathophysiological paradigm in aortic aneurysm. *Circulation*, 96(7):2115–2117, 1997.
- [147] Francis G. Spinale. Matrix metalloproteinases: Regulation and dysregulation in the failing heart. *Circulation Research*, 90(5):520–530, 3 2002.
- [148] Andrew C. Newby. Dual role of matrix metalloproteinases (matrixins) in intimal thickening and atherosclerotic plaque rupture. *Physiological Reviews*, 85(1):1–31, 1 2005.

- [149] H. Nagase, J. J. Enghild, K. Suzuki, and G. Salvesen. Stepwise activation mechanisms of the precursor of the matrix metalloproteinase 3 (stromelysin) by proteinases and (4-aminophenyl)mercuric acetate. *Biochemistry*, 29(24):5783–5789, 1990.
- [150] Yutaka Ogata, Yoshifumi Itoh, and Hideaki Nagase. Steps involved in activation of the pro-matrix metalloproteinase 9 (progelatinase B)-tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 complex by 4-aminophenylmercuric acetate and proteinases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 270(31):18506–18511, 8 1995.
- [151] S. D. Shapiro, C. J. Fliszar, T. J. Broekelmann, R. P. Mecham, R. M. Senior, and H. G. Welgus. Activation of the 92-kDa gelatinase by stromelysin and 4- aminophenylmercuric acetate. Differential processing and stabilization of the carboxyl-terminal domain by tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 270(11):6351– 6356, 3 1995.
- [152] Eiro Kubota, Hideo Imamura, Takao Kubota, Takanori Shibata, and Ken Ichiro Murakami. Interleukin 1 $\beta$  and stromelysin (MMP3) activity of synovial fluid as possible markers of osteoarthritis in the temporomandibular joint. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 55(1):20–27, 1997.
- [153] Brandon J. Rose and David L. Kooyman. A Tale of Two Joints: The Role of Matrix Metalloproteases in Cartilage Biology. *Disease Markers*, 2016, 2016.
- [154] K Huang and L D Wu. Aggrecanase and aggrecan degradation in osteoarthritis: a review. *The Journal of international medical research*, 36(6):1149–60, 12 2008.
- [155] Albert Remacle, Gillian Murphy, and Christian Roghi. Membrane type I-matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP) is internalised by two different pathways and is recycled to the cell surface. *Journal of Cell Science*, 116(19):3905–3916, 10 2003.
- [156] J. Flannelly, M. G. Chambers, J. Dudhia, R. M. Hembry, G. Murphy, R. M. Mason, and M. T. Bayliss. Metalloproteinase and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase expression in the murine STR/ort model of osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 10(9):722–733, 2002.
- [157] Elena V Tchetina, John A Di Battista, David J Zukor, John Antoniou, and A Robin Poole. Prostaglandin PGE2 at very low concentrations suppresses collagen cleavage in cultured human osteoarthritic articular cartilage: this involves a decrease in expression of proinflammatory genes, collagenases and COL10A1, a gene linked to chondrocyte hypertrophy. *Arthritis research & therapy*, 9(4):R75, 8 2007.
- [158] Duanqing Pei and Stephen J. Weiss. Transmembrane-deletion mutants of the membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase-1 process progelatinase A and express intrinsic matrix-degrading activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(15):9135–9140, 4 1996.
- [159] Rita Dreier, Susanne Grässel, Susanne Fuchs, Jens Schaumburger, and Peter Bruckner. Pro-MMP-9 is a specific macrophage product and is activated by osteoarthritic chondrocytes via MMP-3 or a MT1-MMP/MMP-13 cascade. *Experimental Cell Research*, 297(2):303–312, 7 2004.

- [160] Marta Toth, Irina Chvyrkova, M. Margarida Bernardo, Sonia Hernandez-Barrantes, and Rafael Fridman. Pro-MMP-9 activation by the MT1-MMP/MMP-2 axis and MMP-3: Role of TIMP-2 and plasma membranes. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 308(2):386–395, 8 2003.
- [161] Noemi Ramos-DeSimone, Elizabeth Hahn-Dantona, John Sipley, Hideaki Nagase, Deborah L. French, and James P. Quigley. Activation of matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) via a converging plasmin/stromelysin-1 cascade enhances tumor cell invasion. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 274(19):13066–13076, 5 1999.
- [162] Hideaki Nagaset and J. Frederick Woessner. Matrix metalloproteinases. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 274(31):21491–21494, 7 1999.
- [163] Mark D. Sternlicht and Zena Werb. How Matrix Metalloproteinases Regulate Cell Behavior. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology*, 17(1):463–516, 11 2001.
- [164] Hiroshi Sato and Takahisa Takino. Coordinate action of membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase-1 (MT1-MMP) and MMP-2 enhances pericellular proteolysis and invasion. *Cancer Science*, 101(4):843–847, 4 2010.
- [165] S. Oehler B. Bau J. Haag T. Aigner S. Söder, H.I. Roach. MMP-9/gelatinase B Is a Gene Product of Human Adult Articular Chondrocytes and Increased in Osteoarthritic Cartilage - PubMed. *Clinical and experimental rheumatology*, 24(3):302–304, 2006.
- [166] Chunhong Yan and Douglas D. Boyd. Regulation of matrix metalloproteinase expression expression. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 211(1):19–26, 4 2007.
- [167] Charles B. Jones, David C. Sane, and David M. Herrington. Matrix metalloproteinases: A review of their structure and role in acute coronary syndrome. *Cardiovascular Research*, 59(4):812–823, 10 2003.
- [168] Kyoung Soo Kim, Yeon Ah Lee, Hyun Mi Choi, Myung Chul Yoo, and Hyung In Yang. Implication of MMP-9 and urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) in the activation of pro-matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-13. *Rheumatology International*, 32(10):3069– 3075, 10 2012.
- [169] I. Tchetverikov, H. K. Ronday, B. Van El, G. H. Kiers, N. Verzijl, J. M. TeKoppele, T. W.J. Huizinga, J. DeGroot, and R. Hanemaaijer. MMP profile in paired serum and synovial fluid samples of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 63(7):881–883, 7 2004.
- [170] Vasileios Christos Fotopoulos, Athina Tzinia, Matthew Tzurbakis, Vasiliki Kalfakakou, Stamatina Levidiotou-Stefanou, and Anastasios Georgoulis. Expression levels of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-9 and its specific inhibitor TIMP-1, in septic and aseptic arthritis of the knee. *Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy*, 20(6):1159–1167, 6 2012.
- [171] Shu Chen Chu, Shun Fa Yang, Ko Huang Lue, Yih Shou Hsieh, Tang Yan Hsiao, and Ko Hsiu Lu. Urokinase-type plasminogen activator, receptor, and inhibitor correlating with gelatinase-B (MMP-9) contribute to inflammation in gouty arthritis of the knee. *Journal of Rheumatology*, 33(2):311–317, 2 2006.

- [172] S Iwaki-Egawa, WatanabeY, and H Matsuno. Correlations between matrix metalloproteinase-9 and adenosine deaminase isozymes in synovial fluid from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *The Journal of rheumatology*, 28(3):485–9, 3 2001.
- [173] René Rbenhagen, Jan Philipp Schttrumpf, Klaus Michael Strmer, and Karl Heinz Frosch. Interleukin-7 levels in synovial fluid increase with age and MMP-1 levels decrease with progression of osteoarthritis. *Acta Orthopaedica*, 83(1):59–64, 2 2012.
- [174] C. Lianxu, J. Hongti, and Y. Changlong. NF- $\kappa$ Bp65-specific siRNA inhibits expression of genes of COX-2, NOS-2 and MMP-9 in rat IL-1 $\beta$ -induced and TNF- $\alpha$ -induced chondrocytes. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 14(4):367–376, 4 2006.
- [175] Sudhakar Tummala, Dieuwke Schiphof, Inger Byrjalsen, and Erik B. Dam. Gender Differences in Knee Joint Congruity Quantified from MRI: A Validation Study with Data from Center for Clinical and Basic Research and Osteoarthritis Initiative. *Cartilage*, 9(1):38–45, 1 2018.
- [176] Jun An, Ying Xue, Meijun Long, Ge Zhang, Junhang Zhang, and Hang Su. Targeting CCR2 with its antagonist suppresses viability, motility and invasion by downregulating MMP-9 expression in non-small cell lung cancer cells. *Oncotarget*, 8(24):39230–39240, 2017.
- [177] Sukanya V. Subramanian, Marilyn L. Fitzgerald, and Merton Bernfield. Regulated shedding of syndecan-1 and -4 ectodomains by thrombin and growth factor receptor activation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(23):14713–14720, 6 1997.
- [178] Velandai K. Srikanth, Jayne L. Fryer, Guangju Zhai, Tania M. Winzenberg, David Hosmer, and Graeme Jones. A meta-analysis of sex differences prevalence, incidence and severity of osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 13(9):769–781, 9 2005.
- [179] Marit D. Solbu, Svein O. Kolset, Trond G. Jenssen, Tom Wilsgaard, Maja Lisa Løchen, Ellisiv B. Mathiesen, Toralf Melsom, Bjørn O. Eriksen, and Trine M. Reine. Gender differences in the association of syndecan-4 with myocardial infarction: The populationbased Tromsø Study. *Atherosclerosis*, 278:166–173, 11 2018.
- [180] David T. Felson, Yuqing Zhang, Marian T. Hannan, Allan Naimark, Barbara N. Weissman, Piran Aliabadi, and Daniel Levy. The incidence and natural history of knee osteoarthritis in the elderly, the framingham osteoarthritis study. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 38(10):1500– 1505, 1995.
- [181] Yuqing Zhang and Joanne M. Jordan. Epidemiology of osteoarthritis. *Clinics in Geriatric Medicine*, 26(3):355–369, 8 2010.
- [182] Sharon L. Hame and Reginald A. Alexander. Knee osteoarthritis in women. *Current Reviews in Musculoskeletal Medicine*, 6(2):182–187, 6 2013.
- [183] Cornelia M. Borkhoff, Gillian A. Hawker, Hans J. Kreder, Richard H. Glazier, Nizar N. Mahomed, and James G. Wright. The effect of patients' sex on physicians' recommendations for total knee arthroplasty. *CMAJ*, 178(6):681–687, 3 2008.

- [184] Yuki Sato, Yoshinori Tanino, Xintao Wang, Takefumi Nikaido, Suguru Sato, Kenichi Misa, Ryuichi Togawa, Charles W. Frevert, and Mitsuru Munakata. Baseline serum syndecan-4 predicts prognosis after the onset of acute exacerbation of idiopathic interstitial pneumonia. *PLOS ONE*, 12(5):e0176789, 5 2017.
- [185] M. Jung, S. Christgau, M. Lukoschek, D. Henriksen, and W. Richter. Increased urinary concentration of collagen type II C-telopeptide fragments in patients with osteoarthritis. *Pathobiology*, 71(2):70–76, 2004.
- [186] Nobuchika Tanishi, Hiroshi Yamagiwa, Tadashi Hayami, Hisashi Mera, Yoshio Koga, Go Omori, and Naoto Endo. Usefulness of urinary CTX-II and NTX-I in evaluating radiological knee osteoarthritis:the Matsudai knee osteoarthritis survey. *Journal of Orthopaedic Science*, 19(3):429–436, 5 2014.
- [187] Pengkun Wang, Jinlong Song, and Dongyang Qian. CTX-II and YKL-40 in early diagnosis and treatment evaluation of osteoarthritis. *Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine*, 17(1):423–431, 1 2019.
- [188] Yasumori Sobue, Toshihisa Kojima, Kazutoshi Kurokouchi, Shigeo Takahashi, Hiroaki Yoshida, Robin Poole, and Naoki Ishiguro. Prediction of progression of damage to articular cartilage 2 years after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: Use of aggrecan and type II collagen biomarkers in a retrospective observational study. *Arthritis Research and Therapy*, 19(1):1–9, 12 2017.
- [189] Fangyuan Yu, Congqin Xie, Jitong Sun, Huicheng Feng, and Xunwu Huang. Circular RNA expression profiles in synovial fluid: a promising new class of diagnostic biomarkers for osteoarthritis. *International journal of clinical and experimental pathology*, 11(3):1338– 1346, 2018.
- [190] Sindre Lee, Svein O. Kolset, Kåre I. Birkeland, Christian A. Drevon, and Trine M. Reine. Acute exercise increases syndecan-1 and -4 serum concentrations. *Glycoconjugate Journal*, 36(2):113–125, 4 2019.
- [191] Anastasios Chanalaris, Hannah Clarke, Scott E. Guimond, Tonia L. Vincent, Jeremy E. Turnbull, and Linda Troeberg. Heparan Sulfate Proteoglycan Synthesis Is Dysregulated in Human Osteoarthritic Cartilage. *American Journal of Pathology*, 189(3):632–647, 3 2019.
- [192] H Sato, T Takino, Y Okada, J Cao, A Shinagawa, E Yamamoto, and M Seiki. A matrix metalloproteinase expressed on the surface of invasive tumour cells. *Nature*, 370(6484):61–5, 7 1994.
- [193] Raina Ramnath, Rebecca R. Foster, Yan Qiu, George Cope, Matthew J. Butler, Andrew H. Salmon, Peter W. Mathieson, Richard J. Coward, Gavin I. Welsh, and Simon C. Satchell. Matrix metalloproteinase 9-mediated shedding of syndecan 4 in response to tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$ : A contributor to endothelial cell glycocalyx dysfunction. *FASEB Journal*, 28(11):4686–4699, 11 2014.
- [194] Kyoung Soo Kim, Hyun Mi Choi, Yeon Ah Lee, In Ah Choi, Sang Hoon Lee, Seung Jae Hong, Hyung In Yang, and Myung Chul Yoo. Expression levels and association of

gelatinases MMP-2 and MMP-9 and collagenases MMP-1 and MMP-13 with VEGF in synovial fluid of patients with arthritis. *Rheumatology International*, 31(4):543–547, 4 2011.

- [195] Gregory S. Makowski and Melinda L. Ramsby. Zymographic analysis of latent and activated forms of matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9 in synovial fluid: Correlation to polymorphonuclear leukocyte infiltration and in response to infection. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 329(1-2):77–81, 2003.
- [196] Ming Shium Hsieh, Hsin Chiu Ho, Der Tsay Chou, Shiann Pan, Yu Chih Liang, Tsu Yi Hsieh, Joung Liang Lan, and Shu Huei Tsai. Expression of matrix metalloproteinase-9 (gelatinase B) in gouty arthritis and stimulation of MMP-9 by urate crystals in macrophages. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 89(4):791–799, 7 2003.
- [197] Meenakshi Sachdeva, Aditya Aggarwal, Ravi Sharma, Arpan Randhawa, Daisy Sahni, Justin Jacob, Vinit Sharma, and Anjali Aggarwal. Chronic inflammation during osteoarthritis is associated with an increased expression of CD161 during advanced stage. *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology*, 90(1), 7 2019.
- [198] K. Tsuchiya, W. J. Maloney, T. Vu, A. R. Hoffman, D. J. Schurman, and R. L. Smith. RT-PCR analysis of MMP-9 expression in human articular cartilage chondrocytes and synovial fluid cells. *Biotechnic and Histochemistry*, 71(4):208–213, 1996.
- [199] A. J. Freemont, V. Hampson, R. Tilman, P. Goupille, Y. Taiwo, and J. A. Hoyland. Gene expression of matrix metalloproteinases 1, 3, and 9 by chondrocytes in osteoarthritic human knee articular cartilage is zone and grade specific. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 56(9):542–549, 9 1997.
- [200] Weidong Zhang, Sergei Likhodii, Yuhua Zhang, Erfan Aref-Eshghi, Patricia E. Harper, Edward Randell, Roger Green, Glynn Martin, Andrew Furey, Guang Sun, Proton Rahman, and Guangju Zhai. Classification of osteoarthritis phenotypes by metabolomics analysis. *BMJ Open*, 4(11):e006286, 11 2014.
- [201] Marc Marty, Pascal Hilliquin, Sylvie Rozenberg, Jean Pierre Valat, Eric Vignon, Philippe Coste, Bernard Savarieau, and François André Allaert. Validation of the KOFUS (Knee Osteoarthritis Flare-Ups Score). *Joint Bone Spine*, 76(3):268–272, 5 2009.
- [202] ECN Paris March 5-6 2020.
- [203] Yilun Wang, Jie Wei, Chao Zeng, Dongxing Xie, Hui Li, Tuo Yang, Xiang Ding, Yang Cui, Yilin Xiong, Jiatian Li, and Guanghua Lei. Association between chondrocalcinosis and osteoarthritis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Rheumatic Diseases*, 22(7):1175–1182, 7 2019.
- [204] Chun-Ping Huang, Chao-Min Cheng, Hong-Lin Su, and Yi-Wen Lin. Syndecan-4 Promotes Epithelial Tumor Cells Spreading and Regulates the Turnover of PKCα Activity under Mechanical Stimulation on the Elastomeric Substrates. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry*, 36(4):1291–1304, 2015.

- [205] Yoko Toba Ichihashi, Toshimitsu Yamaoka, Tohru Ohmori, and Motoi Ohba. Upregulation of Syndecan-4 contributes to TGF- $\beta$ 1-induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition in lung adenocarcinoma A549 cells. *Biochemistry and Biophysics Reports*, 5:1–7, 3 2016.
- [206] Kate M. Herum, Andreas Romaine, Ariel Wang, Arne Olav Melleby, Mari E. Strand, Julian Pacheco, Bjørn Braathen, Pontus Dunér, Theis Tønnessen, Ida G. Lunde, Ivar Sjaastad, Cord Brakebusch, Andrew D. McCulloch, Maria F. Gomez, Cathrine R. Carlson, and Geir Christensen. Syndecan-4 Protects the Heart From the Profibrotic Effects of Thrombin-Cleaved Osteopontin. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 9(3), 2 2020.
- [207] Lei Zhang, Shiyun Ma, Hang Su, and Jiaxiang Cheng. Isoliquiritigenin Inhibits IL-1β-Induced Production of Matrix Metalloproteinase in Articular Chondrocytes. *Molecular Therapy - Methods and Clinical Development*, 9:153–159, 6 2018.
- [208] Eiko Ohuchi, Kazushi Imai, Yutaka Fujii, Hiroshi Sato, Motoharu Seiki, and Yasunori Okada. Membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase digests interstitial collagens and other extracellular matrix macromolecules. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(4):2446– 2451, 1997.
- [209] Liane E. Tellier, Elda A. Treviño, Alexandra L. Brimeyer, David S. Reece, Nick J. Willett, Robert E. Guldberg, and Johnna S. Temenoff. Intra-articular TSG-6 delivery from heparin-based microparticles reduces cartilage damage in a rat model of osteoarthritis. *Biomaterials Science*, 6(5):1159–1167, 5 2018.
- [210] Jean-Pierre Pelletier, FrançOis Mineau, Marie-Pierre Faure, and Johanne Martel-Pelletier. Imbalance between the mechanisms of activation and inhibition of metalloproteases in the early lesions of experimental osteoarthritis. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 33(10):1466– 1476, 10 1990.
- [211] Carolyn Belcher, Fiona Fawthrop, Rowena Bunning, and Michael Doherty. Plasminogen activators and their inhibitors in synovial fluids from normal, osteoarthritis, and rheumatoid arthritis knees. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 55(4):230–236, 1996.
- [212] R. Mazzieri, L. Maiero, L. Zanetta, S. Monea, M. Onisto, S. Garbisa, and P. Mignatti. Control of Type IV Collagenase Activity by Components of the Urokinase-Plasmin System: A Regulatory Mechanism With Cell-Bound Reactants - PubMed. *The EMBO journal*, 16(9):2319–2332, 1997.
- [213] Emilia Furmaniak-Kazmierczak, T. Derek V. Cooke, Reg Manuel, Allan Scudamore, Hugh Hoogendorn, Alan R. Giles, and Michael Nesheim. Studies of thrombin-induced proteoglycan release in the degradation of human and bovine cartilage. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 94(2):472–480, 1994.
- [214] C.Y. Huang, Lin H.J., H.S. Chen, H.C. Hsu, and C.H. Tang. Thrombin Promotes Matrix metalloproteinase-13 Expression Through the PKCδ c-Src/EGFR/PI3K/Akt/AP-1 Signaling Pathway in Human Chondrocytes - PubMed. *Mediators of Inflammation*, 2013(2013):326041, 2013.

# Publikationen

#### Publikationen

**Bollmann, M.**, Pinno, K., Ehnold, L.I., Märtens, N., Märtson, A., Pap, T., Stärke, C., Lohmann, C.H., & Bertrand, J. (2020) MMP-9 mediated Syndecan-4 shedding correlates with osteoarthritis severity. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage* (In Press)

Bertrand, J., Kräft, T., Gronau, T., Sherwood, J., Rutsch, F., Lioté, F., Dell'Accio, F., Lohmann, C. H., **Bollmann, M.**, Held, A., & Pap, T. (2020). BCP crystals promote chondrocyte hypertrophic differentiation in OA cartilage by sequestering Wnt3a. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*, 79(7), 975–984.

Godmann, L., **Bollmann, M.**, Korb-Pap, A., König, U., Sherwood, J., Beckmann, D., Mühlenberg, K., Echtermeyer, F., Whiteford, J., De Rossi, G., Pap, T., & Bertrand, J. (2020). Antibodymediated inhibition of syndecan-4 dimerisation reduces interleukin (IL)-1 receptor trafficking and signalling. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*, 79(4), 481–489.

Ivanisenko, N. V., Buchbinder, J. H., Espe, J., Richter, M., **Bollmann, M.**, Hillert, L. K., Ivanisenko, V. A., & Lavrik, I. N. (2019). Delineating the role of c-FLIP/NEMO interaction in the CD95 network via rational design of molecular probes. *BMC genomics*, 20(Suppl 3), 293.

Bertrand, J., & **Bollmann, M.** (2019). Soluble syndecans: biomarkers for diseases and therapeutic options. *British journal of pharmacology*, 176(1), 67–81.

Held, A., Glas, A., Dietrich, L., **Bollmann, M.**, Brandstädter, K., Grossmann, T. N., Lohmann, C. H., Pap, T., & Bertrand, J. (2018). Targeting */beta*-catenin dependent Wnt signaling via peptidomimetic inhibitors in murine chondrocytes and OA cartilage. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage*, 26(6), 818–823.
## Ehrenerklärung

## Ehrenerklärung

"Ich versichere hiermit, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit ohne unzulässige Hilfe Dritter und ohne Benutzung anderer als der angegebenen Hilfsmittel angefertigt habe; verwendete fremde und eigene Quellen sind als solche kenntlich gemacht. Ich habe insbesondere nicht wissentlich:

- Ergebnisse erfunden oder widersprüchlich Ergebnisse verschwiegen,
- statistische Verfahren absichtlich missbraucht, um Daten in ungerechtfertigter Weise zu interpretieren,
- fremde Ergebnisse oder Veröffentlichungen plagiiert,
- fremde Forschungsergebnisse verzerrt wiedergegeben.

Mir ist bekannt, dass Verstöße gegen das Urheberrecht Unterlassungs- und Schadensersatzansprüche des Urhebers sowie eine strafrechtliche Ahndung durch die Strafverfolgungsbehörden begründen kann. Ich erkläre mich damit einverstanden, dass die Arbeit ggf. mit Mitteln der elektronischen Datenverarbeitung auf Plagiate überprüft werden kann. Die Arbeit wurde bisher weder im Inland noch im Ausland in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form als Dissertation eingereicht und ist als Ganzes auch noch nicht veröffentlicht.

(Ort, Datum)

(Unterschrift)